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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM (“"GEM") OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies
and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this
report misleading.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

QAFEH
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FREHS

Dear shareholders,

| present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “"Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2021
on behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors.

2021 was a year of rejuvenation for the Group, with the
termination of the business cooperation between the Group and
P2P organizations, the Group's business continued to be driven by
the smart retail business.

During the past year, the demand for domestic cloud services and
cross-border overseas business had been growing rapidly, the
market extended from Mainland China to overseas. The Group
received fixed income from system development and sales of
software and hardware, and also received fees that are based on
customer of usage such as transaction payment amount, cloud
service usage and SMS traffic. At present, the Group has achieved
certain results in the smart retail business.

In 2021, under the backdrop of stringent regulatory requirements
in the PRC for Internet financial technology companies,
uncertainties existed in the Group’s financial technology services
business and such business did not generate any revenue. The
Group may consider to terminate this business.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my
appreciation to our employees and the management team, clients,
shareholders and business partners for their support over the
years. The Group will continually promote its steady business
growth to bring greater returns to the shareholders.

Sun Haitao
Chairman and Executive Director

30 March 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFmR A

BUSINESS REVIEW

Smart Retail Business

The Group’s smart retail business is operated under its subsidiary,
Hangzhou Zhongtuo Netcom Technology Limited (“Zhongtuo
Netcom”), which positions itself as an integrated smart retail
provider. 1ts main business is to provide new retail digital
transformation solutions and new retail integrated software
service platform to chain enterprises and merchants, and
extended services such as cloud services (cloud storage and
cloud computing), omni-channel payment services and SMS
marketing services, etc. During the business development over
the past year or so, the demand for domestic cloud services and
cross-border overseas business has been growing rapidly, the
market extends from Mainland China to overseas, cloud services
business is expected to become the focal point of development.
The Group receives fixed income from the system development
and the sales of software and hardware, and also receives agency
fees that are based on customer’s volume of usage such as
transaction payment amount, cloud service usage and SMS traffic.
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s smart retail
business generated revenue of approximately HK$34,393,000 (for
the period from 27 February 2020 (being the date of incorporation
of Zhongtuo Netcom) to 31 December 2020: approximately
HK$32,971,000) and an operating loss of approximately
HK$7,945,000 (2020: operating profit of approximately
HK$9,490,000).

Financial Technology Services Business

Under the backdrop of stringent regulatory requirements in the
PRC for Internet financial technology companies, uncertainties
remained in the development of the Group’s financial technology
services business in 2021. For the year ended 31 December
2021, the Group's financial technology services business did not
generate any revenue (2020: approximately HK$138,000) and
recorded an operating loss of approximately HK$1,454,000 (2020:
approximately HK$8,682,000). The Group may consider to cease
this business if the current unfavorable business environment
persists.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE SRR D

Sports Training Business

The Group operates Hui So Hung Table Tennis Training Centre in
Hong Kong to provide table tennis training services to students
with different ages and levels. The continuous outbreak of
conronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19") had directly affected
the Group’'s sports training business operation and revenue for
2021. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the sports training
business of the Group recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$1,938,000 (2020: approximately HK$1,320,000) and an
operating loss of approximately HK$432,000 (2020: approximately
HK$2,203,000).

Lottery Business

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group's lottery
business did not generate any revenue (2020: approximately
HK$197,000) and recorded an operating loss of approximately
HK$540,000 (2020: approximately HK$1,356,000). The Group is
closely monitoring the performance of the lottery business and is
downsizing this business, as it keeps recording an operating loss.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
FINANCIAL RESULTS

The consolidated revenue of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 amounted to approximately HK$36,331,000
as compared with approximately HK$34,626,000 last year,
representing an increase of approximately 5% as compared with
that in 2020. The revenue of the Group was derived from its (i)
smart retail business and (ii) sports training business.

The Group's discontinued operation, being its apartment leasing
business, had incurred a loss of approximately HK$6,588,000
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: approximately
HK$2,003,000), which was mainly attributable to the loss
recognised upon deregistration of companies engaged in the
apartment leasing business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFmR A

Loss attributable to owners of the Company amounted
to approximately HK$19,195,000 (2020: approximately
HK$17,315,000). The loss attributable to owners of the Company
for the year was mainly attributable to the loss arising from the
continuing and discontinued operations of the Group.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

LIQUIDITY AND GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2021, the Group recorded total assets
of approximately HK$90,941,000 (2020: approximately
HK$66,395,000), total liabilities of approximately HK$50,582,000
(2020: approximately HK$11,581,000) and cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$48,961,000 (2020: approximately
HK$57,467,000). The current ratio of the Group as at 31 December
2021 was approximately 1.76 (2020: approximately 5.99).

As at 31 December 2021, the gearing ratio of the Group was 12%
(2020: zero).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2021, the capital structure of the Group
consisted of equity attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$38,681,000 (2020: approximately HK$56,552,000)
comprising issued share capital and reserves. As at 31 December
2021, the Company's total number of issued shares (the “Shares”)
of HK$0.005 each was 4,686,048,381 (31 December 2020:
4,686,048,381 Shares). Details of the movement in the Company’s
share capital during the year were set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE SRR D

CHARGES ON THE GROUP'S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no asset that was pledged
(2020: nil).

CAPITAL INVESTMENT AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENT OR CAPITAL ASSET
PURCHASE

During the year, the Group paid approximately HK$38,000 (2020:
approximately HK$31,000) for the purchase of property, plant and
equipment.

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group had no other specific
plan for material investment or acquisition of capital assets as at
31 December 2021.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE
RATES

The Group’s sales and purchases for the year were mostly
denominated in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$") and Renminbi (“RMB").

RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Future exchange rates
of RMB could vary significantly from the current or historical
exchange rates as a result of controls that could be imposed by
the government of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The
exchange rates may also be affected by economic developments
and political changes domestically and internationally, and the
demand and supply of RMB. The appreciation or devaluation of
RMB against HK$ may have impact on the operation results of the
Group.

The Group monitors its foreign currency risks and will consider
hedging significant currency exposures should the need arises.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (2020: nil).

FEBEERF

2021 12B31H  AEBUEE KR ZEE
(20204 : #®) ©

BETrREREAREABAETFEEZ
KRt E

RAEAFEERN > AEEBSX(I#938,00078 7t (2020
F 1 #931,000870) ARBEYE -MEKRRFE-

PRAREFTIEIN > 1R2021F 128318 A& E
THEAMARERKEABABLEEZ AR5t

Bl
BEE =R 0% B /B B

FERRETFENHERKBITEZUET (TR
) RARE CAR®)) BB

ARBDIAEBATRNER  HRREXA]H
thEE ARHAME (TREL) B PR A0 R & H
REFHNBENERKBRS - ERT IR A K
BlRQEERKRBUABE R ARENHKME
Z NRERBRTAEIARE OIXELER
GES R

FERERASERAR TRARERE BT
EREWER -
ARG R

2021128310 AEB T BEAE AR ASE
(20204 : #) o

8 CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2021 ANNUAL REPORT



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEREH Rk

PROSPECTS

The Group will continue to take a conservative stand for its
financial technology services business against the backdrop of
tightening industrial regulations and the impact of the COVID-19.
Looking forward, the Group’s business growth will continue to be
propelled by its smart retail business. At the same time, the Group
will closely monitor and may downsize or cease certain continuous
loss-making business(es) in order to focus its resources on profit-
making businesses.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2021,
employees (2020: 88) in total.

the Group had approximately 70

The salaries and benefits of the Group’s employees are kept at a
competitive level and employees are rewarded on a performance-
related basis within the general framework of the Group’s salary
and bonus system, which is reviewed annually.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021 have been audited by Baker Tilly
Hong Kong Limited. A resolution for the re-appointment of Baker
Tilly Hong Kong Limited as the auditor of the Company for the
subsequent year is to be proposed at the annual general meeting
(the "AGM") of the Company. The Company has not changed its
auditor in any of the preceding three years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFREREREREXRS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao, aged 41, has been appointed as the chairman of
the Board and an executive Director since August 2017. Currently,
Mr. Sun also serves as the chairman of the board, chief executive
officer and an executive director of 51 Credit Card Inc. ("51 Credit
Card”) (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2051) and a
director of various subsidiaries of its group including, among
others, Hangzhou Enniu Network Technology Co., Ltd.

Mr. Sun is an entrepreneur and obtained a Bachelor’s degree in
business administration from Hangzhou Institute of Electronic
Industry (now known as the Hangzhou Dianzi University) in the
PRC in June 2002. He has been engaging in Internet businesses
since 2004, and founded several Internet companies from 2004 to
2012. In May 2012, Mr. Sun led the team to create the credit card
management mobile application named “51 Credit Card Manager”
under 51 Credit Card.

Mr. Zzhu Jianfei, aged 39, has been appointed as an executive
Director, an authorised representative, a compliance officer and a
director of various subsidiaries of the Company since September
2021. Mr. Zhu has considerable experience in management
consultancy, human resources practices and business
management, as well as ample experience in and insightful
views on different aspects such as organizational planning and
management, business innovation and operations, etc. in each
development stage of enterprises. Currently, Mr. Zhu also serves
as an executive director, a vice-president and an authorised
representative of 51 Credit Card and a general manager of
Hangzhou Panniu Financing and Guarantee Co., Ltd.* (1 iN&& 4
B EERAR AT, which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of 51 Credit Card. From May 2015 to present, Mr. Zhu served in
a number of positions in 51 Credit Card, including the director
of the human resources and administration department of 51
Credit Card, etc. From June 2010 to April 2013, Mr. Zhu served in a
number of positions at Cloudary Corporation* (B 5 BT (£
78) BIRAE], also known as A 2), and subsequently served
as the managing director of DataYes Inc.* GE¥:EUERMD AT
from April 2013 to April 2015.

Mr. Zhu obtained a Bachelor's degree in human resources
management from Peking University in the PRC in July 2006 and
obtained a Master’s degree in accounting from Shanghai University
of Finance and Economics in the PRC in June 2012.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EREREREREREAR

Mr. Zhao Ke, aged 38, was appointed as an executive Director
and a director of various subsidiaries of the Company in
August 2017. From July 2006 to October 2015, Mr. Zhao served
in a number of positions, including as a senior manager of
the capital markets services group at Hong Kong Firm of
PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Mr. Zhao graduated from Xi‘an Jiaotong University in the PRC
in July 2005 with a Bachelor's degree in finance and obtained
a Master’'s degree in economics from University of Ottawa
in Canada in October 2006. He was accredited as a certified
public accountant by The Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in May 2011 and by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in May 2015. Mr. Zhao has resigned
as an executive Director, an authorised representative and a
compliance officer of the Company on 3 September 2021.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Song Ke, aged 56, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director since August 2017. Mr. Song has over
twenty years’ experience in the entertainment and media industry.
Mr. Song founded “Maitian Music” in 1996 and had served as its
general manager for four years since 1996, and then served as
the executive vice-president and production director for Warner
Music (China) from 2000 to 2004. Mr. Song founded Beijing Taihe
Rye Music Co., Ltd. in 2004 and had served as the chief executive
officer and also the president of Taihe Media Investment Co.,
Ltd. for eight years. He joined Evergrande Music as the chairman
of the board from 2012 to 2015, worked for Beijing Alibaba
Music Technology Co., Ltd. as the chief executive officer and
the chairman of the board from 2015 to 2018; and served as the
chairman in the China region of Live Nation Entertainment, Inc.
(listed on the New York Stock Exchange, ticker: LYV) from 2019
to 2020. Mr. Song graduated from the Tsinghua University in
the PRC in July 1988 with a Bachelor's degree in environmental
engineering.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFREREREREXRS

Mr. Wu Bo, aged 56, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since August 2017. Mr. Wu is the founder and
chief executive officer of meiaoju.com, a serial entrepreneur in
Internet sharing economy, artificial intelligence and deep learning.
Mr. Wu obtained his Bachelor’s degree in automation engineering
from the Tsinghua University in the PRC and his Master’'s degree in
computer science from Western Michigan University in the United
States of America (the “United States”). Mr. Wu has founded
focus.cn (a leading Chinese real estate portal), lashou.com (a
Chinese top group-buying site) and meiaoju.com (an Internet
service company which brings Chinese investments into the real
estate development market of the United States).

Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael, aged 57, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since August 2017. Mr. Yu
obtained a Bachelor of commerce degree from University of
New South Wales in Australia. He is a fellow member of the CPA
Australia and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He had held senior management positions
in several listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Yu is currently an
independent non-executive director of each of Golden Resources
Development International Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 677), Applied Development Holdings Limited (listed
on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 519), Lerado Financial Group
Company Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1225),
Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited (formerly known as:. Unity
Investments Holdings Limited) (listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 913) and WT Group Holdings Limited (listed on
Stock Exchange, stock code: 8422), respectively. Mr. Yu was an
independent non-executive director of EVOC Intelligent Technology
Company Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2308)
from May 2016 to May 2021.

Mr. Yu is also a founding member of The Hong Kong Independent
Non-Executive Director Association. He is currently a licensed
person to carry out type 4 (advising on securities), type 6 (advising
on corporate finance) and type 9 (asset management) regulated
activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance. Mr. Yu has
many years of experience in accounting, corporate finance and
asset management.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFEHRS

The Directors hereby present the report of the Directors and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out
in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis
of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 December
2021 by business segments information is set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the
state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 93 to
203.

In order to ensure the Board maintains an appropriate procedure
on declaring and recommending the dividend payment of
the Company, a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) was
adopted by the Board which aims to allow the shareholders (the
“Shareholders”) of the Company to participate in the Company’s
profits whilst preserving the Company’s liquidity to capture future
growth opportunities.

The declaration of dividends is subject to the Company's ability
to pay dividends, which will depend upon, including but not
limited to, the financial performance and position of the Company,
Shareholders’ interests, business conditions and strategies, and
any other factors that the Board may deem relevant. The Board
may consider declaring special dividends from time to time, in
addition to the interim and/or annual dividends. The Board reviews
the Dividend Policy and its effectiveness on a regular basis or as
required to ensure the benefit of the Shareholders as a whole is
taken into consideration from time to time during recommendation
and declaration of dividends.

The Board does not recommend to pay dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).
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EFTHRE

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group's business, a description of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing by the Group, and an indication of
likely future development in the Group’s business, are set out in
the sections headed "CHAIRMAN’'S STATEMENT"”, “"MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” and “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT" of this report. These discussions form part
of this “REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS".

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group’s commitment to protecting the environment is well
reflected by the continuous efforts in promoting green measures
and awareness in its daily business operations. The Group
encourages environmental protection and promotes awareness
towards environmental protection to the employees. The Group
also implements green office practices such as promoting the use
of recycled papers and reducing energy consumption by switching
off idle lighting and electrical appliances.

The Group reviews its environmental practices from time to time
and will consider implementing further eco-friendly measures
and practices in the operation of the Group’s businesses and
enhancing environmental sustainability.

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that had a significant impact on the
businesses and operations of the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee has reviewed the financial statements,
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group,
and financial reporting matters including a review of the annual
consolidated results for the year ended 31 December 2021 prior to
recommending them to the Board for approval.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFEHRS

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that employees are its valuable assets.
Thus, the Group provides competitive remuneration package to
attract and motivate its employees. The Group regularly reviews
the remuneration package of its employees and makes necessary
adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with its business partners to achieve its long-term
goals. Accordingly, the Directors have kept good communication,
promptly exchanged ideas and shared business updates with them
when appropriate. During the year, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its business partners.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company'’s share capital during
the year are set out in notes 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements and the consolidated statement of changes in
equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the laws of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account is distributable to the Shareholders provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. As at 31
December 2021, the Company did not have any reserves available
for distribution (2020: nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BEnEZRE
KrRFERE BETVEHEESEE AL AEE R
HEBRFHZHWNETBEUARSILHEBEES - &
EETHRTHEEEZHFNGE LEARTS
SEMIFHMNERHE -

AEBTHB BEAEBHRFTREBFRTE
REREERMEBEFHEZ WL - EFEHE
BERRATAREETREER BRIAEX

REAEZEENEBERE -FR FAEERHEBER
Tﬂﬁ#&tékﬁ‘ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁzﬂéﬁo
Az 7

FR> ARBIRAZEBFBFHNESTBRRE
MFEE31 0

fit
Py AATRAEBEBRDEED RN
AMBRRMEITRGARERDHR -

A 5k
REMBHEES NEMRERHEABEA
SRAEENEELREEBBRT NHES

R EEARER 2K T ARE - 122021412831
H> AAB L EERAIH DIk ZE#EHEH (20204 :

®) o

ME BB K=
Epy AEEYE BERRERRBERNE
AMBRRME7 -

hEARBIERARAR « 2021 FERS 15



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFTHRE

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

Under the Company'’s articles of association (the “Articles”) or the
laws of the Cayman Islands, there is no provision for pre-emptive
rights which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares to its
existing Shareholders first on a pro-rata basis.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years as extracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out
on page 204 of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or legal liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which
judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. During
the year, there was appropriate directors’ and senior officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and senior officers of
the Group.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement schemes
for its employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. For its Hong Kong
employees, the Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The MPF Scheme
is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the MPF
Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the
MPF Scheme vest immediately.
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EFEHRS

Regarding the employees in the PRC, pursuant to the relevant
labour laws, rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group
participates in defined contribution retirement benefit scheme
(the “"Retirement Benefit Scheme”) organised by the relevant
local government authorities in the PRC whereby the Group is
required to make contributions to the Retirement Benefit Scheme
at a certain rate of the standard wages determined by the relevant
authorities in the PRC during the year. Contributions to the
Retirement Benefit Scheme vest immediately.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no forfeited
contribution under the MPF Scheme and Retirement Benefit
Scheme which may be used by the Group to reduce the existing
level of contributions (2020: nil).

Details of the Group’s contributions to the retirement schemes are
shown in notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

There was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the
Company, or existed during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than the employment contracts, concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Group were entered into or
existed during the year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the percentages of sales and purchases from the
major customers and suppliers of the Group, respectively, are set
out below:

(1) Sales
HE
— the largest customer
-RARKER
— the five largest customers (combined)
-RAREE (B

(2) Purchases
A
— the largest supplier
- RAMHER
— the five largest suppliers (combined)
- AREER (G6)

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors or any of
their close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules), or any
Shareholders (that, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more
than 5% of the issued Shares) had any beneficial interest in the
Group'’s five largest customers and suppliers during the year.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao (Chairman)
Mr. Zhu Jianfei (appointed on 3 September 2021)
Mr. Zhao Ke (resigned on 3 September 2021)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Song Ke
Mr. Wu Bo
Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael

Pursuant to article 87 of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director, including those appointed for a specific term,
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years.

Pursuant to article 86(3) of the Articles, any Director newly
appointed shall hold office until the next following general meeting
of the Company (in the case of filling a casual vacancy) or until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company (in the case
of an addition to the existing Board), and shall then be eligible for
re-election at such meeting. For details of the Directors proposed
for re-election at the AGM, please refer to the general mandate
circular to be issued by the Company for the AGM.

DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 10 to 12
of this report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee considers and recommends to the
Board the remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company
to the Directors. The remuneration of all Directors is subject to
regular monitoring by the Remuneration Committee to ensure
that the levels of their remuneration and compensation are
appropriate. References to the remuneration standards of the
industry as well as the business development of the Company are
made to ensure the level of remuneration should be sufficient to
attract and retain the Directors, and the Company should avoid
paying more than necessary for this purpose.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the Group's businesses to which any of the Company’s
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during
the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No contract of significance has been entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and controlling Shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries during at any time during the year. In
addition, no contract of significance for the provision of services
was entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries
and a controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES

OF THE COMPANY IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2021, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) (Cap. 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong)), which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in
the register of the Company referred to therein, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
required standard of dealings in securities by directors of listed
issuers (the “Required Standard of Dealings”) as referred to in
Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long position in shares of associated
corporation
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Notes:

(1 The calculations were based on the number of shares as a percentage of the
total number of issued shares of 51 Credit Card (i.e. 1,358,320,188 shares) as
at 31 December 2021.

2) Rising Sun Limited (the sole shareholder of which is Wukong Ltd., which is
beneficially owned by a discretionary trust, Wukong Trust, founded by Mr.
Sun), (i) beneficially holds 108,159,464 shares in 51 Credit Card among which
20,000,000 shares were charged in favour of a lender other than a qualified
lender; (ii) acts as a general partner and controls 51 Xinhu L.P, which in turn
holds 50,355,000 shares in 51 Credit Card; and (iii) holds 142,708,272 shares in
51 Credit Card through various voting proxies.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, no other
Director or chief executive of the Company had or was deemed
to have any interest or short position in any shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Required Standard of Dealings.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSON IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING

EFEHRS

SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE

COMPANY

As at 31 December 2021, so far as was known to the Directors, the
persons or entities, other than the Directors or chief executives
of the Company, who had or was deemed to have an interest or
a short position in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures
of the Company which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of

Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO were as follows:

Number of
Shares directly

FERRKEEMATIREQFNAR
B HEARDRESFPEENERR

RPN
/QE

PR2021F128318 MEFEAA UM T ALTHERE

(BEFHAFTRFIBRSTHRAERIN RERQF R
M HEERDRESTHEEARESERRER
FRAEHRAIEBEIBHEEARNAREAFE
zEMzBmIE KRB > WIREE ST RPEFRD
SEXVERE 2R EIN B Z MERM A AT HKE 2 1#

N
MO KA

Approximate

Capacity and or indirectly held percentage of
Names nature of interests and category”  issued Shares”
ERSHE
FENKRKE HEBTRGHZ
L8 B RiEGME HERERH RSN Juil
Substantial Shareholders
TERE
51 Credit Card® Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%
S1ERRY RREFEE B
51 Credit Card (China) Limited? Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%
SI1ERF (FE) BRARY RREFEE B
Hangzhou Zhenniu Information Technology Co., Ltd.* Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%
("Hangzhou Zhenniu")?
MMIRFEEREBRAR (MHMEREF)? RREFEE B
Hangzhou Jiahao Technology Co., Ltd.* Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%
("Hangzhou Jiahao")?
MMNEFREERAE (MMELF)? RREFEEZ B
Shanghai Wuniu Network Technology Co., Ltd.* Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%
(“Shanghai Wuniu")?
EEBHREHEBRAR (TLBEF)? RREFEEZ B
5TRENPIN.COM INC.@ Beneficial owner 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%
ERBEBA
Mr. Wang Yonghua (“Mr. Wang")® Interest in controlled corporation 2,199,963,213(L) 46.95%

EXERE (ERENC

REEGEE 2T
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EFTHRE

Number of
Shares directly

Approximate

Capacity and or indirectly held percentage of

Names nature of interests and category® issued Shares”

BiEHME
HENRKR (HEERTROZ

k2t ] S RERME EN-EhIR BAF 7

Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd.* (“Tian Tu Capital”)® Interest in controlled corporation 2,199,963,213 (L) 46.95%

FImREREEERMBRAR (REKRE) RREHEE ER

Tiantu Advisory Company Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%

KEFZAGRATY RREGEE 2 B

Tiantu Investments Limited® Person having a security interest in shares 1,834,963,213(L) 39.16%

HROFEREEZHA

Other persons

HthAL

Tiantu Investments International Limited® Beneficial owner 365,000,000(L) 7.79%

XEHERKEERATC BEREBA

Mr. Zuo Lei Beneficial owner 333,690,000(L) 7.12%

ik BEREBA

Notes: Bt

(1) The calculations were based on the number of Shares which each party (1) BEHFEAE#DN2021E128318 (BEERBEEES
is interested in (whether directly or indirectly interested or deemed to WRAFEENER NROCHEEGEBTRMES (B
be interested) as a percentage of the total number of issued Shares (i.e. 4,686,048,38 18R 17) B D EEstE o
4,686,048,381 Shares) as at 31 December 2021.

) 51RENPIN.COM INC. is wholly owned by Shanghai Wuniu, which is in turn (2 51RENPIN.COM INC.H b4+ 2& %A > L /EIBFR
wholly owned by Hangzhou Jiahao. Further, contractual arrangements have HMMNEEF2ERER L MRS (BH51EA R (R
been entered into between Hangzhou Zhenniu (a company wholly owned by 51 BE) ERABZEES MZATIHSEAEEEER)
Credit Card (China) Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by 51 Credit Card) BN EGF BT & AT HE B N R 5 BE 2 &I TN
and Hangzhou Jiahao so that Hangzhou Zhenniu can control Hangzhou Jiahao. R -REBEEFFRBERA LM RATDANRELAES
By virtue of the SFO, the above companies are deemed to be interested in 51RENPIN.COM INC.FRIF B & E K01 2 #a o
those Shares held by 51RENPIN. COM INC., respectively.

(3) Tiantu Investments Limited is wholly owned by Tiantu Advisory Company  (3) Tiantu Investments LimitedXEBHBR AT E
Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by Tian Tu Capital which is owned as EHER XESZHAERAGNHRERE (EREH
to approximately 40.35% by Mr. Wang. Mr. Wang is deemed to be interested BHOLI0.35%KE) 2EEF - TRERBARTES
in an aggregate of 2,199,963,213 Shares, of which 1,834,963,213 Shares held $#2,199,963,213 M IR w > H41,834,963,213
by 51RENPIN.COM INC. is charged in favour of Tiantu Investments Limited and BEBZ {5 FASTRENPIN.COM INC.FR#5 A I 3K #8 FTiantu
365,000,000 Shares are held by Tiantu Investments International Limited, a Investments Limited » 365,000,0008% §& {7 B A K [Bl3& &
company wholly owned by Tian Tu Capital. ERERAR (—HEHEXERELE®EZ AR FH -

(@) (L) - Long Position, (S) — Short Position. @  (O—FA S)—%KA-
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EFEHRS

Save as disclosed above, so far as was known to the Directors, as
at 31 December 2021, there was no person (not being a Director
or a chief executive of the Company) who had or was deemed to
have an interest or short position in the Shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year and at the end of the year was the
Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other subsidiaries.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS PURCHASE

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any
material investments (2020: nil). The Group had no other specific
plan for material investment or acquisition of capital assets as at
31 December 2021.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2021, there were no material
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
of the Company which require compliance with any of the
reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Details of
material related party transactions undertaken in the usual course
of business of the Group are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements. However, these transactions were either
exempt from reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules, or did not fall under the definition of connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

PR EXPrIRBEE SN UEFPTA > 1020215128
BNE BEAL (EFAETATRSTHRAER
5N MARB R - BREARMN REFTHER HRE
BB RIEZE ST R E R E336F R E A ik
RAXRBAFEZECMzB@mENA > HR
BEFRAEHROIEXVEE2REINDMZRER
MAANEREZ RS IKE -

BERMNESFNEH

REREARFERARER ZABRSHEEFER
RE B RAXBARMBABMES T
R RZHE > IEEF A REB AR QS IR E M
BABRIR M S EE R MG

BAKRERBABERBEEZRKET
2

HE2021F1283 1B ELEFEE  AEBITEEAE
KIEE (20204 © ) cR2021F12831H  ~EE
TWEAMERMEAKREABABEAEEZ 85T

2o
FEKRESL X7

B E2021F12831HIEFE » KA B I E KR
BEXSRFBRAETZBEFGEMLEMREEF
THETHRBR - AENEILRERIENIRE
RAEBEREERBREFETHERBAELR
SHBHENEEST BRI - AM ZER
SR G ETGEMEMREE _+EBE TR
W NERBIUREHERTE I ARBCGEM TR
E -+ EMATNHERSRISERER S -
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COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

During the year, none of the Directors or controlling Shareholders
or any of their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) has any interest in a business which causes or may
cause any significant competition with the business of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the total
issued Shares was at all times held by the public during the year
and up to the date of this report. The Company has maintained a
sufficient public float in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A detailed report on corporate governance is set out on pages 27
to 43 of this report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021 have been audited by Baker Tilly Hong
Kong Limited. A resolution will be proposed to the forthcoming
AGM to re-appoint Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as the auditor of
the Company of the subsequent year.

By order of the Board

China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited
Sun Haitao

Chairman and Executive Director

30 March 2022

* The English name(s) has/have been transliterated from its/their respective
Chinese name(s) and is/are for identification only.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in order to uphold the transparency of the Group and
safeguard the interests of the Shareholders.

The Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules has been amended with
effect from 1 January 2022. As this corporate governance report
covers the year ended 31 December 2021, all the corporate
governance principles and code provisions mentioned herein refer
to those stated in the CG Code before the amendments, not the
revised CG Code.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company had applied
and complied with all the code provisions in the CG Code except
for the following:

CODE PROVISION A.2.1

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual.

Currently, the role of the chairman of the Board is performed by
Mr. Sun. While this constitutes a deviation from code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code, the Board believes that this arrangement
will not impair the balance of power and authority between the
management of the Board and the day-to-day management of
the Group’s business, given that: (i) decisions to be made by the
Board require approval by at least a majority of the Directors
and since the Board comprises three independent non-executive
Directors out of five Directors, which is more than the GEM Listing
Rules requirement of one-third, as such the Board believes there
is sufficient check and balances in the Board; (ii) Mr. Sun and the
other Directors are aware of and undertake to fulfill their fiduciary
duties as Directors, which require, among other things, that he
acts for the benefit and in the best interests of the Company and
will make decisions for the Group accordingly; (iii) the balance of
power and authority is ensured by the operations of the Board
which comprises experienced and high calibre individuals who
meet regularly to discuss issues relating to the operations of the
Company, and (iv) the effective execution of strategic initiatives
could be promoted and the flow of information between the
Directors could be facilitated under the role of chairman of the
Board performed by Mr. Sun.

EXELER
EEARNNEBBRENLEENL UES
EENERERRERERS -

RESTHGEMEHRAIM SR+ A E 2 EEER
STR (TREEERTA) KI2022F 18 1HEN -
AR AEEERRESREBHE2021F12A31H L
FE FAEEEABRSRERANAMALEELRR
MTRNEXBIERETANEEERTR M
IREEET R TEEE R TR

HE2021FE12831BLEEE - ARG EERKE
FEEEATUNZFAAESTINES  ETFE R
Gh

TFHENXEA.2.1F
SEEATH T FEEXEA IR T ERT
B> B a RN ES  FRERE — AT Eo

B EXgXF HERLCERT - BEEY
REEEEARTNTRIEEA21MF EES
ERR/EZHRAIEEREEFTEEEREAERR
EEFEENENONBEZTE REAS VES
EAFPREEVREARZHESFM A BESFE
PN ELEFAE=-RBIUIFRTES  BBGEM
EHRABEN =Nz EFTIAREFIN
BERHMNGIEIER (NVREEREMEEEH
N AEBITESENHEEE BEXK (HPE
1B BEARRBNERURABRENRITE I
RAEFE 7 A B IE L RTE (i) DB T4
DUEFESEFMURE MEFTHERES
NEFSABER ZFNEEHRRITRELRD
AREBHNER RIVABRLTLERTIESSIE
—BA R ERBREZNAEVNRTLREESZH
NEREE-
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Although the appointment of the chief executive officer of the
Company remains outstanding, the overall management of the
Company is performed by Mr. Sun and Mr. Zhu Jianfei, and their
respective areas of profession spearheaded the Group’s overall
development and business strategies.

The Company is still looking for a suitable candidate to fill the
vacancy of the chief executive officer of the Company in order to
comply with the CG Code.

CODE PROVISION E.1.2

Code provision E.1.2 of the CG code stipulates that the chairman
of the Board shall attend the annual general meeting. Mr. Sun, the
chairman of the Board, was unable to attend the AGM held in 2021
due to unexpected business engagements.

However, Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael, the chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of each of the Remuneration and
Nomination Committee, took the chair of that AGM and Mr. Zhao
Ke, the former executive Director, together with the representatives
of the auditor of the Company, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, were
also present to answer questions from the Shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors (the “Code Of Conduct”) which is on
terms no less exacting than the Required Standard of Dealings
against which issuers and their directors must measure their
conduct regarding transactions in securities of their issuers. The
Company has made specific enquiry with all Directors and has not
been notified of any non-compliance with the Required Standard of
Dealings and the Code Of Conduct by any of the Directors during
the year.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND MEETINGS

The Board comprised the following Directors during the year and
up to the date of this report:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao (Chairman)
Mr. Zhu Jianfei (appointed on 3 September 2021)
Mr. Zhao Ke (resigned on 3 September 2021)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Song Ke
Mr. Wu Bo
Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael
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The biographical details of the Directors are set out under the
section headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT" of this report.

The Board meets regularly (at least four times a year at quarterly
intervals) for reviewing and approving the financial and operating
performance, considering and approving the overall strategies and
policies of the Company. Additional meetings are convened as and
when the Board considers necessary. The Directors attended those
meetings in person, by phone or through other electronic means
of communication. The attendance record of the meetings of the

Directors in 2021 is set out below:

EXEREFRHUNEIBREE
FEFIBI—&

EhEHREEER

.

EXEEHEORNEF R (BERFTEAR
EOMOAR) UBRAMERRBZUHBREER
EE’%F&?&x&zﬁﬁjikﬁgﬁ%%&ﬁ%ﬁOTE%
Euh%M\EﬁEEF‘aﬁ%@?I\ EBEWRS B
ERNHEMBEFEASALEZSTERE - gu%
ER202NF2 R HFECEREIT ¢

Attendance/Number of meetings entitled to attend
HERY, ARUEEEAHE

Audit Remuneration Nomination

Board Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

Exg BEREEY HINEEE RLZEY
ERENTE kS 2k kS 2k RERAE
Executive Directors
HITEF
Mr. Sun Haitao 3/4 S 0/1 0/1 0710
BBERE
Mr. Zhu Jianfei@ Al - - - -
KBIRSTED
Mr. Zhao Ke® 2/3 2/2 = = 171
HE T
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUIEHTEE
Mr. Song Ke 4/4 5/5 11 11 0M
Rims 4
Mr. Wu Bo 3/4 4/5 11 11 0M
SRS E
Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael 4/4 5/5 171 11 171
RESRE
Notes: Vol

M Details of and reason for Mr. Sun’s absence from the AGM are set out under

the section headed “CODE PROVISION E.1.2" of this report.

@ Appointed on 3 September 2021.

@ Resigned on 3 September 2021.

& BEERERREBEREZ
BIESCEBE 216 —H o

HBERREBNARE 1T

&) 120215983 & E -

@ 2021569 83H BH(E -
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RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BOARD AND
DELEGATION OF MANAGEMENT FUNCTION

The Board has the overall responsibility for the stewardship of the
Group, including the responsibilities for the adoption of long-term
strategies and appointment and supervision of management to
ensure that the operation of the Group is conducted in accordance
with the objective of the Group. Execution of daily operational
matters is delegated to the management.

Currently, Mr. Song Ke, Mr. Wu Bo and Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael are
the independent non-executive Directors (“INEDS”). All of them
are under a term of service of three years commencing from the
date of their respective appointments or the date of entering into
their respective letter of appointments. All Directors, including
the INEDs, are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the AGM in accordance with the Articles, provided that the
appointment may be terminated by the Company or the Director
concerned with a written notice pursuant to their respective
service contracts and letter of appointments.

Save as otherwise disclosed under the section headed
“"BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT" of this report, there is no other relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships) among members of the Board. All of them are free
to exercise their independent judgement during the year. The
Company has received annual written confirmations from the
INEDs in respect of their independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of
the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers the INEDs to be
independent in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in the GEM Listing Rules.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF THE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each member of
the Board received training on corporate governance, regulatory
developments or other relevant topics during the year, and the
Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory
and regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities. The Company Secretary
has also prepared an induction training package for the newly
appointed Director.
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Details of trainings attended by each Director in continuous ®BUESHNEAZBDLEIFEFELERENFS
professional development during the year are set out below: FqHWMT

Scope of Training
1 g EE

Legal and

Directors’ regulatory Business Corporate
Name of Directors duties updates updates governance
EELTE EERE ZEAEEEM EZEMN TEER
Executive Directors
HITEE
Mr. Sun Yes Yes Yes Yes
oY = B =] =
Mr. Zhu Jianfei® Yes Yes Yes Yes
KB ED B B B B
Mr. Zhao Ke®@ Yes Yes Yes Yes
HE S e =) B B =)
INEDS
BB ITESE
Mr. Song Ke Yes Yes Yes Yes
PN e = B B =
Mr. Wu Bo Yes Yes Yes Yes
BREEE B B B B
Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael Yes Yes Yes Yes
RELERE = B B =
Notes: Kzt -
o Appointed on 3 September 2021. o R2021F9 B3R EE T -
@ Resigned on 3 September 2021. @ 20219 B30 B ©
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE FRERITERARR

The role of the chief executive of the Company is currently jointly — ZAATTEAEZR Z B S BRIH RS E KRR EIREL
taken up by Mr. Sun and Mr. Zhu Jianfei. The roles of the chairman A HRFEAIE - BB G £ E R4 A B 1TEARE 2 B
of the Board and the chief executive of the Company are not ST EESD > BN HEGEERBBEEMKT
separate, and are respectively exercised by Mr. Sun and by Mr. Sun ~ R&EEHRFBET - ELHIBHERARSE ISFAIEX
and Mr. Zhu Jianfei jointly. For further details, please refer to the  SFA.2.1&1—&-

section headed “CODE PROVISION A.2.1" of this report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee (collectively,
the “Board Committees”) in order to maintain a high level of
corporate governance standard of the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND ACCOUNTABILITY

The Audit Committee comprised three members and all members
are INEDs. The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Yu Tat Chi
Michael, with Mr. Song Ke and Mr. Wu Bo as members.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor
and assessing their independence and performance; review the
Group's financial information and compliance; and review the
Group's financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems.

Summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee during
the year:

- reviewed the audited consolidated financial statement,
annual results announcement and the annual report for the
year ended 31 December 2020;

- reviewed the unaudited consolidated financial statements
for the three months, six months and nine months ended 31
March, 30 June and 30 September 2021, respectively;

= reviewed the financial reporting system, the risk management
and internal control systems, and the effectiveness of the
internal audit function;,

- made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment
of the auditor of the Company; and

- discussed with the auditor of the Company the audit matters
before the commencement of the audit work.

The Audit Committee held five meetings during the year. Individual

attendance records of each member of the Audit Committee are
set out on page 29 of this report.

32

EXZEY
EFRCRURLEEE FHESERERE
BE (#EEEEAE)  URFAADBKF
PACE S

REECH-REZEMEN NTEZEHNRBIL
TEF - BEZEECETFARESKE &
BRERMEERRRITE-

BERZEEZIBREREENINBREMNNE
T ENEERERCDESTSTRMHERE HIEIN
HE 1% SR BT B9 i B Rz B R A R DU 5 B AL 1 e
=R BRAERNYHFENREGRER, &
M.ﬂ‘$$lﬁﬁ’z|:$§% e ERRE R R N BRI

FRNBENZEGHTFME

-  BRE&HZE2020F12831HIEFEZKE&ZLKR
BMBBRER FERBERAETRER;

- BEDBIEZE2021FE3B31H 68300 &9
B30HLIE=EA -NMEBKRNEA ZXKEE
ZERE M ERE ;

- ZRVYTERZS BEREERABEER
Mt TR N ER B IZTNBERY AL

- PMENZAELRFAZBENAESFSREE

e
- BB IFRAGREERQT LB mE
StEIE-

FRN BEREECEETLREZ -BENEEY
BEEZEANFECHEIINAREFE298A -

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2021 ANNUAL REPORT



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELRHRS

The Board Committees have adopted specific terms of reference
clearly defining their respective powers and responsibilities.
These committees are required by their terms of reference to
report to the Board in relation to their decisions, findings or
recommendations, and in certain specific situations, to seek the
Board's approval before taking any actions. The Board reviews, on
an annual basis, all delegations by the Board to each of the Board
Committees to ensure that such delegations are appropriate and
continue to be beneficial to the Group as a whole.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For year ended 31 December 2021, the remuneration payable
in respect of the audit and non-audit services rendered by the
auditor of the Company are as follows:

EXLEGERMBREEDEBNRBEZIERE
BELE BELERCZFEZEIRHERE
ERNEEERROEFERE UEETHER
N ARBREATHRSRESTGIME-E
FEEFRNEFENREFTZEEIMAR
B LURRZSEES BT EEN AEEER
B

Z S EM N =

BE2021F12B31HIEFE > AR EZHENR
M B RIFEARBEAZMENT ¢

Approximate

Type of services amount
FRFEEE Y B &5
(HK$'000)

(F#E7T)

Audit services BETRT 1,000
Non-audit services B RS 690

NATURE OF NON-AUDIT SERVICES

The non-audit services provided by the auditor of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2021 include reviews of the
company’s annual results announcement for the year ended 31
December 2021 and unaudited consolidated financial statements
for the three months, six months and nine months ended 31
March, 30 June and 30 September 2021, respectively.

DIRECTORS' AND AUDITOR'S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group. In preparing such financial statements, it is
fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected and
applied consistently. The statement of the auditor of the Company
about its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the section headed “INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT" of this report on pages 85 to 92.

FFEFRFBEE

B E2021F 128318 L FE > A2 B Z B AN E (#
2B RBEEIEBRAALTEHE2021F12831
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprised four members and a
majority of the members are INEDs. The Nomination Committee
is chaired by Mr. Sun, the chairman of the Board and executive
Director, with Mr. Song Ke, Mr. Wu Bo and Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael as
members.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board at least annually;
identify individuals suitably qualified to become members of
the Board, to assess the independence of the INEDs and make
recommendation to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-election of Directors.

Summary of the work performed by the Nomination Committee
during the year:

- reviewed the structure, size and composition and diversity
of the Board, and the board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”);

- reviewed the nomination policy and procedures for
directorship during the year,

- assessed the independence of the INEDs;

- made recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the re-election of Directors; and

- considered and made recommendations to the Board on the
appointment of Mr. Zhu Jianfei as an executive Director.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year.
Individual attendance records of each member of the Nomination
Committee are set out on page 29 of this report.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”).
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Summary of the Nomination Policy

The Company embraced high transparency in the Board member
selection process. The Nomination Policy is aimed to ensure the
Board maintains a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The Nomination Committee utilizes various methods
for identifying director candidates, including recommendations
from Board members, management and professional search firms.
In addition, the Nomination Committee will consider director
candidates properly submitted by the Shareholders. All director
candidates are evaluated by the Nomination Committee based
upon the director's qualifications, as stated in the Nomination
Policy. While director candidates will be evaluated on the same
criteria, the Nomination Committee retains the discretion to
establish the relative weighting of such criteria, which may vary
based on the composition, skill sets and experiences of the
collective Board rather than on the individual candidate. The
Nomination Committee has been delegated to identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships. The Board is ultimately responsible for
selection and appointment of new Directors.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy and measurable
objectives which are set for the purpose of implementing the
Board Diversity Policy.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognised and embraced the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance quality of its performance. The Board
Diversity Policy aimed to set out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board. Selection of candidates for members of the Board
will be based on a number of measurable objectives, including
but not limited to skills, experience, knowledge, expertise, culture,
independence, age and gender, and will take into full consideration
of the Company’s business scale and specific requirements from
time to time. Currently, members of the Board have different
business and professional backgrounds. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for supervising the implementation
of this policy and reviewing it, as appropriate, to ensure its
effectiveness.

The Board and Nomination Committee have reviewed the Board
Diversity Policy during the year to ensure its effectiveness and
resolved that the diversity in the Board composition was in the
interest of the Company.

FEB KR E
ARBEREFEREREBRRRASERE-
RABREERFRETEERE KRNELS
BEELERBTPEUBRAATDNERRBR-ES
ZEERARELEZRBHNEFHEEAN BFER
BEFENE - BEEENEXRBEARTNEZE-
IS B EEGRERARREEMIRRINE
FREN-FTANESREAN HHARREES
REBERBDBERFIAZ EFTERETH G -BARE
ERBEARZBERNREETTG BRRZE
EERENBERER  UREILERENBLE R
E-EEREAETREERESTINMAM &
FEMERmMASEIGEEAMEM AR REZE
BEEEEZRUAABEBEEBNAERTIMN
ENAL IMEBRIEREETIETHUNALE
TREANEFTRIEZ -EFTTREEER
EMEMES-

EFCHEZTIEHE
EFCERMNESFEHEZ TIEBRER BT
EFgHESTIEHERMAEZAIFEE R

EFEHEZTILHERLE
FRBEADBLREEFEMESTIEHEART

ZREEZREDRZ -EFEMESTIEHRE
IR ERNESTEHESTIEMEBMZ S # o
REEFENEZEEAGUZENGFELRRES
EE > QREEFRIKE-ER - NH -FEF X
BB FRRMER TRDEBEATRE
BRENTBHNARTEEZ - BRESTEMERE
TREHBREXETR RLEETEEREZN
RHOATER TEBERFBEEEZER U
REZEBERITZBEM

EFERRAZEEENEARNESTENES
TIEERUERENMARBAESTEREEES
TTERUERB M m (FARITE

hEARBIERARAR « 2021 FERS 35



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRS

As the board is currently composite with the single-gender. The
Nomination Committee endeavor to look for different gender to
join the Board in order to comply latest update of the GEM Listing
Rules.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprised four members and a
majority of the members are INEDS. The Remuneration Committee
is chaired by Mr. Song Ke, with Mr. Sun, the chairman of the Board
and an executive Director, Mr. Wu Bo and Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael as
members.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management
remuneration, make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management, which include benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment; consider
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the
Group.

Summary of the work performed by the Remuneration Committee
during the year:

- reviewed the remuneration of the Directors;

- reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors;

- assessed performance of the executive Directors and approve
the terms of the executive Directors’ service contracts;

- reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors,
INEDS and senior management; and

- considered and made recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration package for Mr. Zhu lJianfei upon his
appointment as an executive Director.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the

year. Individual attendance records of each member of the
Remuneration Committee are set out on page 29 of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board recognises that the Directors are collectively
responsible for the corporate governance duties. Pursuant to the
code provision of D.3.1 of the CG Code, such duties include but are
not limited to:

- developing and reviewing the Company’'s policies
and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board;

- reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

- reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

- developing, reviewing and monitoring the Code Of Conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
the Directors; and

- reviewing the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
the disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the year, the Board has reviewed and performed the
abovementioned corporate governance functions.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Risks arise during the Group's pursuance of its long-term strategy
and it is the Board’s responsibility to evaluate and determine
the nature and extent of risks that it is willing to take. The
Board acknowledged it is responsible for the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group including the task of
reviewing such systems and ensuring their effectiveness. The Audit
Committee assists the Board in carrying out its responsibilities and
is also responsible for reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness
of the Group's internal audit function.

The Group adopts the “three lines of defence” framework
for effective risk management and follows The Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
("COS0") Internal Control - Integrated Framework for the design,
implementation and review of internal controls.

The Group’'s risk management and internal control systems
are, however, designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or oss.

With respect to the handling and dissemination of inside
information, the Company has formulated its guidelines including
dissemination of information to state purpose and on a need-to-
know basis, with an aim to ensure that the insiders abide by the
confidentiality requirement and fulfill the disclosure obligation of
the inside information.

The Board had performed an annual review on the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems for
the year ended 31 December 2021. The Board was of the view
that throughout the year ended 31 December 2021, the financial
reporting system and the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group were adequate and effective.

The Board’s annual review for the year ended 31 December
2021 also assessed the adequacy of the Group's resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.
For this aspect, the Board was satisfactory. The Board was also not
aware of any material internal control failings or weaknesses.

38

JE\ B2z ' T T P9 P B 4
AEBRBERAERMRBRFEEAFARR &5
CEERAFEREEEREAREZAREER
RBE-EFgRINFEEZAREERABE
EREE L& BREES ARG ERERELN
M- BREZECGAEWPHESTERTERS I
BERS MERAEERNIBEZBAE Z M

FEBBTIZENEIERUEERRR
EIE > WEFThe Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(FCcOoSsO ) WEREEIE — RO EZRMUBIE BT
Rt et REp B 1% o

A AEBEZREBREERNESEZRRETE
EMIEHRAEEMEFBRNAR  LENYH
EXERRANBRIEHRSEEBLIFEH 2R

=2
ig °

BRABERZEERER XA EH EAERM
B35 BEERCHERIBEENKRUAEZTEMN
BZEENFER LERABALTEREREE
KREBITARHEEZIRERR-

BEETEAREREE2021FE12B31HIEEEN
BREEBMAREERACENMETFEER
N BEERAHE2021F128310 L FEEME
HERAG BRREERABEERARERE

2 o

EFERNEE2021F12B83ALFERNZFER
ST EFEAEET T BB R R BER
BEFTENER BETEEREER HIIREN
BEZREM MIESEH EFEHERMRE -
EFgUAANERBEEFAERNERKNIASS
A

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2021 ANNUAL REPORT



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERERS

Risk Management

The “three lines of defence” is the Group’s official organizational
structure for carrying out its risk management activities, which
includes the identification, assessment, monitoring and mitigation
of risks.

The First Line of Defence - Daily Operation

The first line of defence is represented by all functional
departments responsible for the day-to-day operation and
management of the Group. They are the risk owners that
constantly encounter risks during their operation and mitigate
them by following the Group’s policies and procedures. Risk
owners are also responsible for designing and implementing
internal controls related to their risks.

The Second Line of Defence - Risk Monitoring

The second line of defence is mainly represented by the internal
control team of the Group which takes up the role of risk
management and monitoring. They holistically assess and identify
the risks of the Group and evaluate the impact, formulate policies
and procedures to mitigate those risks, and are also responsible
for supervising the first line of defence in the improvement of
internal controls.

The Third Line of Defence - Independent Assurance

The third line of defence is represented by the Group’s internal
audit team which performs regular internal audit. The internal
audit team is highly independent and reports to both the Board
and the Audit Committee directly. The primary task is to perform
independent evaluation on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

Outside the organization’s structure, the external auditor and other
regulatory bodies supplement the three lines of defence to further
strengthen the Group’s governance and controls.
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During the year, the Board had re-assessed the risks faced by the ER ZBEEZGEEHFEAEBFMEHRBALAERKR
Group for which the Board considered to be significant. Below is Z @ T AEFES 2 = B A & IERHE
a summary of the key risks of the Group to date along with the JRESEBZ¥ISE o

applicable risk mitigation responses.

1. Market Competition Risk 1.

The Group's businesses face fierce market competition.
China’s technology industry is very dynamic and highly
competitive. To ensure continual growth, the Group must
constantly remain innovative, assess changing consumers’
needs and provide in-demand services over its competitors.
There is the risk that the Group is unable to maintain its edge
and lose its market share. The Group has mitigated this risk
by carrying out competitor analysis and benchmarking, and
also by monitoring the market behavior constantly to timely
react to market changes and disruption. Continuous devotion
to product innovation and marketing enables the Group to
meet customers’ needs and scale up its businesses.

2. Government Policies and Regulations Risk 2.

The Group’s smart retail business, financial technology
services business and lottery business belong to industries
that are highly regulated by the PRC government. Participants
in these industries have to adhere to strict regulations. As
these industries grow and the regulatory landscape keeps
on evolving, the PRC government often promulgates new
measures and restrictions with which all participants have
to cope. Failure to comply with these rules and regulations
will lead to serious consequences including possibility of
business termination. To mitigate this risk, the Group has
maintained a strong team of lawyers to ensure the full
compliance of laws and regulations. The Group also fosters
close communication with the PRC government and remains
vigilant in the latest regulatory updates.
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3. Information Security Risk

The Group's smart retail business, financial technology
services business and lottery business serve the mass
population and hence collect a lot of user’s confidential
information and sensitive data. These data and information
must be well-secured and protected from theft, leakage and
damage. Failure to do so will cause the Group to impair its
reputation, lose businesses and even be prosecuted. The
Group places a strong emphasis on information security
and has a team of information security experts. A series
of measures is implemented to ensure customers’ data is
secured, including regular testing of the Group’s data system
to eliminate any breaching loopholes, implementing content
segregation and access authorization controls for sensitive
data.

Internal Control

The Group follows the principles and guidelines of COSO Internal
Ccontrol - Integrated Framework in implementing its internal
control system. The Group’s internal control system includes
a defined management structure with limits of authority, and
standardized workflow procedures designed to help the Group
to achieve its business objectives, protect its assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of
proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication, and ensure
compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group's internal audit
team has carried out independent internal audit activities on the
Group’s major businesses. The Board and the Audit Committee
have reviewed and monitored the Group’s internal audit function
and consider it to be effective.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Yu Hon is the company secretary of the Company. Mr.
Lam has over 15 years of auditing and finance experiences
from various international accounting firms and Hong Kong
listed companies. He obtained a Master of Science degree
in Professional Accounting and Corporate Governance and a
Bachelor of Applied Science degree in Computer Engineering. He
is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accounts, a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants
of British Columbia Canada, a Certified Internal Auditor and a
Certified Treasury Professional. Mr. Lam is also the chief financial
officer and the company secretary of 51 Credit Card.
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Mr. Lam is a full-time employee of the Group, and has day-to-
day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. For the year ended 31
December 2021, Mr. Lam took no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training as required by the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING (“EGM")

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles, any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board to convene
such meeting shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
company.

PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
THEIR ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular
communication and reasonable disclosure of information to the
Shareholders. The Company delivers quarterly, interim and annual
reports and publication of the quarterly, interim and annual results
announcements and other required disclosures of information on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company to all the
Shareholders.

The Company endeavours to maintain two-way communications
with the Shareholders through various channels. The Shareholders
are encouraged to put their enquiries about the Group through the
company’s email at 8071IR@u51.com or by mail to the address of
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Office
2401A on 24th Floor, Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway,
Hong Kong. All the enquiries will be dealt with in a timely manner.
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The Shareholders are also encouraged to attend the AGM and EGM
and to put their enquiries to the Board directly. Notices are duly
circulated to the Shareholders in order to ensure each Shareholder
is informed to attend the AGM and EGM. The Shareholders’
enquiries will be responded in a prompt manner at the aforesaid
meetings. Pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules, voting by poll is
mandatory at all general meetings.

The detailed procedures for conducting a poll are set out in the
proxy forms and will be explained by the chairman of each of the
AGM and EGM orally at the beginning of the aforesaid meetings.
The poll results will be posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company after the AGM and EGM.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS' MEETINGS

Shareholders who wish to make proposals or move a resolution
are encouraged to convene an EGM in accordance with the section
headed "“PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING (“EGM") " above.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of
transparency is a key to enhancing investor relations. It is
committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of corporate
information to the Shareholders and public investors.

The Company regularly updates the Shareholders on its latest
business developments and financial performance through its
annual, interim and quarterly reports. The website of the Company
(www.irasia.com/listco/hk/chinanetcom) provides an effective
communication platform to the public and the Shareholders.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, there is no significant
change in the Company’s memorandum of association and the
Articles.

The Company has in place the shareholders’ communication policy
which sets out the policies in relation to communication with the
Shareholders. Such policy which is published on the website of
the Company shall be reviewed by the Board on a regular basis to
ensure its effectiveness.
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APPROACH

The Group is committed to promoting the transparency of
operations and creating positive impacts on the environment and
society in which it operates, and maintaining good communication
with the stakeholders.

The results of the Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG")
review shown in this ESG Report (the “ESG Report”) demonstrate
the importance of environmental protection that the Group places
on top of its business development targets, and explain how the
Group seeks to continually improve its ESG strategy. The ESG
Report also illustrates the focus of the Group's resources utilized
for its core operations, which allows the Company to continuously
create value for the stakeholders.

ABOUT THIS REPORT
Report Profile

The ESG Report focuses on the Group’s main operations in the
PRC and Hong Kong and covers the period from 1 January to
31 December 2021 (the “Reporting Period”), which is consistent
with the financial year covered by the 2021 annual report of
the Group. It describes the Group’s progress towards the goal
of creating sustainable value for the Shareholders and other
stakeholders. During the process of preparing the ESG Report,
the Group has conducted thorough review and evaluation of
the existing ESG practices with the aim of achieving better
performance results in the future.
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Reporting Boundary

The ESG Report contains information that is material which
allows the readers to understand the Group’s ESG practices and
performance in its daily operations in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The scope of the ESG Report covers all subsidiaries listed in the
financial statements during the Reporting Period, which include
four business segments in the PRC and Hong Kong:Mote)

. Smart Retail Business
Engages in the provision of new retail digital transformation
solutions and new retail integrated software service platform,
and extended services

o Financial Technology Services Business
Engages in the provision of financial technology services,
such as credit facilitation and post-origination services

. Sports Training Business
Engages in the provision of sports training services

. Lottery Business
Engages in the development of computer systems and
provision of technical consultancy services

Note. Apartment Leasing Business was ceased at the end of 2020, and thus the
report scope has changed from five business segments to four business
segments during the Reporting Period.
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Preparation Basis of the ESG Report

The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide (the "Guide”) as set out in Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing
Rules has complied with all provisions of “Mandatory Disclosure
Requirements” and “Comply or Explain”, as well as the reporting
principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency. In
preparing the ESG Report, the Group has adopted the international
standards and emission factors specified in the guidance materials
on ESG issued by the Stock Exchange for computing the relevant
key performance indicators (“KPIs"), and there is no change from
previous year in the way the ESG Report has been prepared.
The application of materiality is detailed in the section headed
“Materiality Assessment” of this ESG report.

In order to comply with the disclosure obligations of “comply
or explain” provisions, this ESG Report has outlined the overall
Group’s performance in environmental protection, human
resources, operating practice and community involvement during
the Reporting Period. The Guide for the ESG Report from page 72
to 84 is provided for cross-referencing purpose.

Source of Data and Reliability Statement

The information disclosed in the ESG Report are from the Group’s
internal documents, statistical reports and relevant public
materials. The Group undertakes that the ESG Report does not
contain any false information, misleading statement or material
omission, and takes responsibilities for the contents hereof as to
the authenticity, accuracy and completeness.

Contact Us

The Group attaches great importance to readers’ valuable
opinions. Should you have any questions or suggestions about the
ESG Report, please contact the Group via:
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E-mail: 8071IR@uU51.com BES : 8071IR@u51.com

Address: Office 2401A on 24th Floor, Tower One, Lippo Centre, it : R TEEIRANBE P L1248
89 Queensway, Hong Kong 2401AZE
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STAKEHOLDERS OF THE GROUP

The Group is actively looking for every opportunity to understand
and engage the stakeholders to ensure that improvement of the
products and services can be implemented. The Group strongly
believes that the stakeholders play a crucial role in sustaining the
success of business.

Stakeholders
FinE

Areas of concern
e E & B

TEBZFHE
AEEBRESREERE UTRRABHEE
B REINEERRRE AEEREHNE
HEBRFERNERDYMSAEEEAE.

Communication and responses
B8 R [ElfE

Stock Exchange

Bt 22 PRT

Government
and regulatory
authorities

B REEHE

Suppliers
HEER

Investors

REHE

Compliant with GEM Listing Rules, and timely and
accurate disclosures.
BEFGEM ETR A MU R B R EEFEE B IR EE o

Compliant with laws and regulations, prevention of
tax evasion and social welfare.

BT ERRER - BRARRRALGER

Payment schedule and stable demand.
TREEREBERK

Corporate governance, business strategies and
performance, and investment returns.

EEER EHFRERRFURKRERDR -

Meetings, training, workshops, website updates
and announcements.
R BIEE - WIEER kRS

Interaction and visits, government inspections,
tax returns and other information.

B REFS BAEE RERREMER -

Site visits.
RigBE o

Interviews, Shareholders’ meetings, financial
reports and operational reports for investors,
media and analysts.

A BRERAG AREERERBRDITER
HYBRE RS ERS
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Stakeholders
BHnE

Areas of concern
B EE B

Communication and responses
& iE KB

Media and Public

RERAR

Customers

Employees

’&

community

Zant)
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Corporate governance, environmental protection
and human rights.
TPEEB - RERRARE

Product and service quality, delivery schedule,
reasonable prices, service value and personal data
protection.

EmkRHFIAE-XMEER - SEER -RBE
BEREAERRE-

Rights and benefits, employees’ compensation,
training and development, working hours, working
environment, labour protection and work safety.
R RRMEEHE  BIIRER TR TR
B S I RERIIEZE

community environment, employment and
community development, and social welfare.

HERE -ERRTEERUKRMEEAm

Announcements, quarterly, interim and annual
reports of the Company.
KRB ZRE - FTEBRG -PHRERFEER

=l
= °

After-sales services.

=3
=

& IRFS -

=S\

Training, interviews with employees, internal
memoranda and employees’ suggestion boxes.

I EEEEN ABBETHNEEERM

Community activities, employee voluntary
activities, and community welfare subsidies
and donations.

HEES - EEXLEHUAMELTERRK

1B -
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ESG MANAGEMENT

The Group looks at issues that may have a reputational impact
on, or that may pose a risk to, the Group in short-, medium- or
long-term. Issues that are important to the stakeholders, including
but not limited to, customers and employees, as well as non-
governmental organizations, are also crucial to the Group. All
potential issues are covered and evaluated in the annual risk
assessment. The Group is positive in developing opportunities with
a focus on work ethics to ensure that the success in business
development is sustainable with the benefits to be passed on to
the employees, the customers and the environment.

Integration of sustainability into the business strategies as well as
daily operations of the Company is a must to pursue the business
model. To deal with the ESG issues effectively, understanding
of, and interaction with, the employees, customers and other
stakeholders are of the highest priority. The Group believes that
effective management of the ESG issues is important to long-
term success in the rapidly changing world. With a thorough
understanding of the ESG risks and opportunities, the Group will
be better positioned in allocating resources to reduce and recycle
different kinds of waste, and responding to the increasing demand
for higher standards of waste treatment by the regulators.

The Group is confident that as part of the business decision-
making process, by involving all relevant stakeholders in the ESG
management process, the ESG issues will be monitored closely,
and the long-term success of the Group will be assured.
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The sustainability strategy of the Group in the following aspects
applies to all the work streams:

o to promote environmental sustainability;

o to attract, retain and support employees;

o to engage with stakeholders;

o to promote sustainability of local communities;
o to strengthen community relations; and

. to grow suppliers’ commitment.

ESG Governance Structure

To facilitate an effective management of the ESG issues, the
Group has established a governance structure. The Board has
an overall responsibility for overseeing the Group’s ESG-related
risks and opportunities, establishing and adopting the ESG-related
strategies and targets of the Group including setting KPI for
environmental-related issues, setting higher standards of energy
efficient measures and waste treatment, reviewing the Group's
performance annually against the ESG-related targets, and revising
the ESG-related strategies as appropriate if significant variance
from the ESG-related target is identified. The Group has set up
an ESG working group which includes the Director, the financial
controller and the senior manager of the Group to support the
Board in implementing ESG-related strategies and targets, and
promoting the implementation of measures in relation to the ESG
issues identified.
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Based on the set goals and targets, the Board will continue to ZEEZGH#HEREFARTNENKEEZEEEARE
review the Group’s progress in relation to ESG issues in order to BEREB - EAEAEBEENERE UITET
build a more sustainable business and bring greater benefits for FEE¥EBW AR BELTERESH IS

the society as a whole.

Board &g

The Board is responsible for the overall decision making process and overseeing the formulation,
administration, and assessment of the ESG system.

EFTEEERRAR BERR HERELRZANGE EEKRTG

ESG Working Group IBiE & R A TIEH

The ESG working group is responsible for assisting the Board in managing and monitoring the ESG matters on
a daily basis.

R - HEREATFEEERMESESHEEAERRE HERELREHE.

e Functional departments are responsible for the execution of measures to achieve the preset ESG related
strategies and targets.

o  HWAEHFIEENTHER UBERERNIRRE HERELGEMAREBRER-
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Materiality Assessment

The Group has identified ESG issues that have potential or actual
impact on its sustainable development from various sources,
such as issues identified in previous ESG reports, internal policies,
industry trends and the Sustainability Accounting Standards
Board's Materiality Map™°®. The ESG issues have been analysed
with reference to an array of factors, including the Group's overall
strategy, development, and goals and targets. The Group has
conducted a materiality assessment to rate the identified ESG
issues that are pertinent to its business and stakeholders, and
their respective levels of impact.

The table below summarises the results of the materiality
assessment on the identified ESG issues:

EEMMG
AEECHNKRESBEMHEHIFRERRE
ARERZENRE - HERELGSEE AWK
EAMRE HERELGRSETHENETE R
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RE -ERUKRBNKER & BETHIRE
?i%&%i‘a%ﬁﬂ@ﬁ*ﬁoK%@%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ‘“&%
NEAFANERRRE HERELAFEDE
ERMHERRESBZEEKTETHRC

TREEHEAINRE HERELAFTEET

BEEMTEINER !

Identified ESG
issues

B 5 E'J

RIE-HHE R

n%ﬂ

Product
Responsibility

EmEE

The material ESG issues are considered as those which have or
may have a significant impact on:

o the various branches of the Group in the PRC and Hong Kong;
o the current and future environment and/or society;
o the Group's financial and/or operational performance; and

o the stakeholders’ assessments, decisions and actions.

Note. Sustainability Accounting Standards Board's Materiality Map, httos.//materiality.sasb.org/
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ENVIRONMENTAL
overview

Sustainable environment is the foundation for long-term
economic and social prosperity. The Group believes that
sustainability represents not just an ethical obligation, but
also a gateway to the business success. Therefore, the Group
prioritizes environmental protection, strives to mitigate any
undesirable impact on the environment and continues to
contribute to sustainable development.

In order to achieve this, the Group closely monitors the rates
of emissions, waste generation and resources consumption
to achieve the environmental goals of the Group. To present
a comprehensive emission overview, we compared the
emission figures and relevant intensities of the Reporting
Period to the year ended 31 December 2020.

compliance and Grievance

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with
all relevant environmental laws and regulations that
have significant impacts, including but not limited to,
the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), Environmental Protection Law of the
People's Republic of China ((F#E AR LM EIRIE(FE
7£)) and Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of
the People’s Republic of China ((FRZE AR EME KT
Ze[5545%)) . During the Reporting Period, there were no
non-compliance incidents or grievances noted by the Group
in relation to environmental issues.
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A1. Emissions

Air Emissions

Due to the nature of the Group’s core business
activities, it does not own or control any stationary or
mobile source that involve fuel consumption. Thus, no
air emission was generated during the course of its
daily operations.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

During the Reporting Period, the Group produced
approximately 76.23 tonnes of Carbon Dioxide (2020:
approximately 51.15 tonnes) and approximately
1.12 tonnes of Carbon Dioxide per capita (2020:
approximately 0.58 tonnes per capita). The emission
of greenhouse gas results principally from the
consumption of electricity, which is considered as
Scope 2 indirect emission. As aforementioned, the
Group does not own or control any stationary or
mobile source that involve fuel consumption. Hence,
there is no Scope 1 direct greenhouse gas emission
generated by the Group. The increase is mainly due
to the PRC office for smart retail business was in
full operation during the Reporting Period. To uphold
the principles of sustainable development, the
Group is committed to reducing or maintaining the
total greenhouse gas emission intensity between
90% to 120% of the level of baseline year ended
31 December 2021 in the next reporting period.

Although the greenhouse gas emission is immaterial
which is from normal consumption of electricity
as mentioned above, the Group strives to achieve
environment sustainability and has implemented
various mitigating measures stated in the section
headed “Energy and Water Consumption”.
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Details of the emissions are shown in the following

il E T N

table:
KPI' A1.2
RRENIERAL2
Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions
BEREEHNE
Emission
Emission Indicators Source 2021 2020 Type 2021 2020
13,617 KB 20215 2020E HesER) 20215 2020E
(approximately)  (approximately) (approximately)  (approximately)
(#) (#) (#) (#)
Scope 2: Energy Indirect Emissions
A BN
Unit of electricity 119,040.49 kwh 63,906.88 kWh  Carbon Dioxide 76.23 tonnes 51.15 tonnes
consumed
HEENENM 119,000.49F BB 63906.88F R gtk 76.23M 51,150
Total amount of carbon dioxide produced during the Reporting Period: 76.23 tonnes 51.15 tonnes
RESHRMELZZabKEE: 76.2318 51,150
Total amount of carbon dioxide produced per capita during the Reporting Period: 1.12 tonnes 0.58 tonnes
per capita per capita
RBREHHMEEZAH_GLREE . A391.120 350,58
Notes: Wzt

AS the data of paper waste disposed is considered as immaterial, it has
not been included in the KPI since the financial year of 2020.

The Group accounts for Scope 2 carbon emission (indirect emission
from consumption of purchased electricity) only. The latest national
emission factor for the Mainland China issued by Ministry of Ecology
and Environment of the PRC, and the latest emission factor of HK
Electric as published in the HK Electric Sustainability Report 2020 are

adopted.
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes
The Group did not produce any hazardous waste during
the course of its daily operations.

Office general refuse including waste paper, and other
general disposal of food packaging and beverage cans
and bottles are the main source of non-hazardous
waste which are handled properly on a daily basis
to maintain hygiene in workplace. The said waste is
minimal in quantity and therefore no relevant data is
collected. Nevertheless, the Group has implemented
various waste-reduction measures to further reduce
the waste generated from day-to-day work activities
and advocates the idea of green and sustainable
working environment and adopted the “4R" principle
— reduce, reuse, recycle and recover, to minimise the
generation of wastes. The measures include encourage
the employees to divide the wastes into recyclable
and non-recyclable, adopt double-sided printing, reuse
single-sided paper for photocopying or printing of draft
documents, recycle paper after checking there is no
confidential or sensitive information, and use online
communication over paper where appropriate.

A2 & A3. Use of Resources, and
Environment and Natural Resources

Energy and Water Consumption

Environmental sustainability is the key to the long-
term development of the Group. Thus, the Group
always aspires to promote sustainability and strives to
minimize resources wastage. The Group has established
the “Smart Usage of Electricity, Water and Paper Rules”
to promote efficient resources consumption. The
aforementioned rules have set out clear guidelines on
adopting green practices, including but not limited the
guidelines of energy saving, water saving and paper
saving.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group consumed
approximately 119,040.49 kwh of electricity (2020:
approximately 63,906.88 kWh), representing an increase
of approximately 86%, and consumed approximately
943.81 cubic metres of water (2020: approximately
591.55 cubic metres), representing an increase of
approximately 60% when compared with last reporting
period. The increase is mainly due to the PRC office

REBEEHBE Z"EEBHEEY
119,040.49F ELBF & /3 (20204 © 4
63,906.88 F ELEf) > 8 F— S HIME
BEA86%; HFEL943.811L FH K K2
(20204 : #9591.551L /5 3K) » & E—
REHREIEEN0% - EEZ TERKE
ARRERB SESEEXEBEZHH
MAEEEERAER - FEBEERFE

for smart retail business was in full operation during KEREERTREY .
the Reporting Period. The electricity and water
consumption intensities are detailed in the following
table:
KPI A2.1&2.2
A BB SIS AR A2.15%2.2
Use of Resources Indicators Source 2021 2020
BRERER KR 20214 20204
(approximately) (approximately)
(#9) (#9)
Consumption per capita Electricity 1,750.60 kwh 726.21 kWh
per capita per capita
ANB#EE B A$91,750.60FRE  A39726 21F BB
Water 13.88 cubic 6.72 cubic
metres metres
per capita per capita
X A3913.88iL K AN$56.7231 /5 K

Notes:

(1) For the Hong Kong office located in Admiralty, relevant water
consumption fees are included in the rental fees, therefore the
figures disclosed have excluded water consumption at the Hong
Kong office.

2) AS the Hong Kong office of the Company located in Admiralty
Shares the office with 51 Credit Card and there is no separate
meter for individual office unit, the electricity data are equally
borne. Only the relevant electricity data related to the Company
are taken account in the ESG report.

3) Reasonable assumption was made for incomplete records (i.e.
using consumption average of other months).

mat -

() ARCRZENEEWAE  AIERKH
EEFESHEHEA  AREHUZEELG
BBMAZEZAOHFE

2) AR EAFUREENEBERLAEASE
B RREWARE > LR 05 5 17K BB 8
BIIE P 175 77 BB 77 B 75 o (£ 4275 2 B 16
BB B IRE  HHBREBRETE
o
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The Group will make continues efforts in working
towards the target of maintaining or reducing the total
electricity consumption between 90% to 120% of the
level of baseline year ended 31 December 2021 in
the next reporting period. As the water consumption
is based on reasonable assumption, no water
consumption target is set by the Group.

The Group has implemented the following measures to
reduce the usage of electricity:

o turn off air-conditioners and lights during
non-office hours and/or in idle rooms;

o turn off unused lighting and appliances to reduce
energy consumption;

o regularly maintain office equipment such as
air-conditioners, computers and lights, etc.; and

o educate employees on energy saving.

The Group does not have any issue in sourcing
water, and the existing supply of water meets the
daily operational needs. Water consumption by the
Group is minimal, which mainly serves the purpose
of basic cleaning and sanitation. In order to reduce
water wastage, the Group actively promotes water
conservation awareness among the employees. For
instance, staff members are reminded to tightly turn off
the faucets after use.

Packaging Materials

As the Group's core business activities do not involve
the use of packaging materials, no data in this respect
is available.

FEBSUES N FRET—EAR
SHBARREEEBER TR LE
B E2021F12B31B 2 B EFEKFE
Z90%ZE120% 2 fE - I AKEHER
BEZBR SEBTRREAKE
BiReo
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A4. Climate Change

The Group reviews and identifies the climate-related
risk annually while conducting the risk assessment.
We have considered the potential climate-related risks
in respect of the recommendations of the Task Force
on Climate-related Financial Disclosure®™o®, which are
the physical risks such as extreme weather conditions
and transition risks such as regulatory change on
environmental matters, and summarised as below:

Ad. mIREE

AEBRETRRIGNER  8F
BEUHHEREAERER - ZME
LR ARABRE R 5B TAF/N4E O By
ERETtREEBEEREARER HhE
EERRRER (FUBmXRBER ki#
ERRE GIMRIEEENEEZL) 1

BT -

Short-term
Potential (current Medium-term Long-term
Financial reporting (one to (four to Mitigation
Risk Type Risks Impact period) three years) tenyears)  Strategy
E (85 R
BUIRER ERHBYE REHH) (—E=F) (mE+E) HHRR
Physical Extreme weather o Reduced revenue from v v ¢+ Located our offices in top
Risks conditions such as business and supply tier cities
flooding and typhoon chain disruptions o Established adverse
Sustained elevated o Increased cost related weather condition policy
temperature to the rising need for o Adopted energy
cooling conservation measures
BRRER BRARED MEKK o EZBEREEHEGHER v v o REMBAZRE-—R
g WA D i
RESR o ERREREAEEN o HEEHRRENEY
Sl Bk
o FEEAERR
Transition Changes in environmental- o Higher operating costs v v +  Continues to monitor the
Risks related regulations to adopt new practices regulatory environment
to ensure that the Group
meets the expectations
of regulatory authority
and complied with the
environmental-related law
and regulations.
B R ARBERNEREL o FRANOFHENEEN v v o BEEZEERE MUE
NS REEBRAEERER

BT RRREBNE
BERe

et mIRIGEER B E L F) A EHBEEZE T 2015%F
P » BHIE —ZEIRENEL  (RA BT (7 E K ER
1R IEFTRT 75 B %

Note: Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosure was created in 2015
by the Financial Stability Board, which developed a consistent reporting
framework for use by companies in disclosing climate-related financial risks to
Stakeholders.
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SOCIAL
overview

The key to the Group's success depends on a strong team
of committed and innovative talents. The Group focuses
on building a harmonious working environment for all
employees and providing various training opportunities in
order to attract, motivate and retain talents.

Compliance and Grievance

As a responsible employer, the Group has complied with
all relevant employment laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on it, including but not limited to
the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Minimum Wage
Ordinance (Cap. 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Sex
Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 480 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Employees” Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), Labor Law of the People’'s Republic
of China ({ZEARHMEZH)E)) and Labor Contract Law
of the People’s Republic of China ((FRFZEARELNHSEHE
[E5%)) and Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of
China (RPEARENELZ2EEZE)).

B1. Employment

The Group has established internal policies in
accordance with the relevant labour laws and
regulations related to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, holidays,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and
other benefits and welfare, employment development
and training, child and forced labour.

To ensure that the Group’s key policies are clearly
and consistently communicated to the employees, the
Group has established an “Employees’ Handbook”,
which details the rights of the employees, such as
working hours, leave entitlements and other benefits
and welfare. “Employees’ Handbook” is available to all
employee upon request.

A

]
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our Team

The Group believes that a diversified and cohesive team
is indispensable to the success of business. The Group
strives to ensure that the recruitment process is fair
and without any discrimination.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of 70
employees (2020: 88 employees).

The breakdowns of the Group’s workforce by gender,
age group and region are as follows:

BY GENDER
R
64%
O
O
36%
o— Male B4 o— Female &4t

BY AGE GROUP

B AE R

1% 43%
O

O
56%

&= <30 @ 30-50
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AEBEERGE ZRCEERENZHE
BENEBRD A HER AER S
KREERBEBREA T REEAER-

R2021%12831H » AEBEEHEF70%

BE (20204 : 88 1EE)

AEBZE TR Fhe i Kt
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64%
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BY REGION

i &
3% 979 2% 98%
o. oo
o— Hong Kong &8 &= The PRC F1E

BY EMPLOYMENT TYPE
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During the Reporting Period, the employee turnover
rates are as follows:

KPI B1.2
FA SR AR 35 1RB1.2

REBESHBERZEERRFNT !

Employee Turnover Rates ESEE
By Gender LR
Male B
Female Zt
By Age HEH?
<30 <30
30-50 30-50
> 50 > 50
By Region HiE
Hong Kong 5%
The PRC s

Welfare and Benefits

The Group has established a fair and reasonable
remuneration policy, adhering to the principles of
fairness, incentive and legality. For effective human
resources management, the Group offers rewards (e.g.
promotion) and inflicts punishments (e.g. warning and
dismissal) according to the employees’ performance
and conduct.

Employees are entitled to all statutory holidays, leave
and welfare as stipulated in the national and local
laws and regulations, including but not limited to paid
maternity leave, marriage leave, compassionate leave
and annual leave.

In addition, the Group believes that maintaining a good
work-life balance is vital to the employees’ physical
and mental health. Thus, employees are never forced to
work overtime.

53%
36%

73%
28%
0%

0%
49%

187 R Il it
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Equal Opportunity, Diversity and
Anti-discrimination

The Group always endeavours to provide a fair working
environment where employees are treated equally
and respectfully. All employees are assessed and
remunerated based on their skills and competencies
irrespective of their race, religion, gender, age and
disability. Through the enforcement of the policy of
prohibiting discrimination and harassment, the Group
strives to create a workplace free of bullying, belittling
and sexual harassment.

Health and Safety

The Group is dedicated to providing a safe working
environment for all employees. Occupational health and
safety of employees are always the Group's top priority.
The Group makes every effort to minimize potential
occupational hazards.

In the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group
has implemented all practicable preventive and
protective measures to minimize occupational risk,
including but not limited to employees’ and visitors’
health declaration, daily temperature checks, wearing
of surgical mask, social distancing requirements
and provision of sanitizers. The Group will pay close
attention to the latest development and regularly
reviews the measures implemented to ensure the
measures are effective.

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with
the relevant laws and regulations in regard to health
and safety, including but not limited to the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and Law of the People’s Republic of China
on the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases ((FRZE A\ EHFE B 2= HBEHEED).

During the last three reporting periods, no work-
related fatalities and lost days due to work injury were
recorded by the Group.

B2.
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The Group has implemented the following practices to
create and maintain a comfortable, safe and healthy
working environment for the employees:

o provide sufficient lightings at workplace;

o ensure the proper use of personal protective
equipment at work;

o prohibit smoking in the workplace; and

conduct regular safety inspections.

In case any employee encounters any work-related
injuries, the Group will take all necessary measures to
make sure that proper medical care is offered to the
relevant employees.

Development and Training

The Group regards employees as its most valuable
asset. Thus, the Group places emphasis on personal
development of the employees. The Group believes
that investing in employees through training will help
promote job satisfaction and staff loyalty. Different
types of training were provided to the employees to
enhance their knowledge and capabilities.

Orientation training sessions were provided to newly
recruited staff members. The training covered the
introduction of the Group, their own department
structure, responsibilities, required skills and working
instructions. Moreover, on-the-job-training was provided
to make sure that all staff members possess sufficient
knowledge and skills to provide quality services to the
customers. As the said trainings were provided on a
regular basis, no records were collected. Trainings were
also provided to the Directors, which covered their
duties, legal and regulatory updates, business updates,
and corporate governance. For the development and
training records of the Directors, the approximate
average hours of training per Director was 6, which
was also the average hours of training by male Director
since the Board was comprised of male Directors.

B3.
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In addition, employees are encouraged to attend
external training courses and seminars in order to
strengthen their knowledge and expertise in relation
to their work. The training seminars and courses
include, but not limited to, updates on GEM Listing
Rules, corporate governance, as well as changes and
developments of relevant laws and regulations. Fees
incurred for the courses or seminars are reimbursed by
the Group upon approval.

Labour Standards

The Group strictly complies with the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Labor
Law of the People’'s Republic of China ((FZE AR
MEE 8% )), Labor Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China ((FZEAREMEE B SRFAE)) and
other related labour laws and regulations in Hong Kong
and the PRC to prohibit employment of any child and
forced labour.

Recruitment process of the Group is subject to a
stringent internal review process that includes verifying
personal information of applicants. For instance, the
recruitment department collects the identity proof from
candidates to ensure their age fulfil the requirements as
stipulated by the law.

The employment of forced and child labour is strictly
prohibited. During the Reporting Period, all employees
were over the age of 18, and had been properly
employed in accordance with the requirements of all
applicable laws and regulations. No confirmed non-
compliance incidents or grievances were noted by the
Group.

B4.
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B5. Supply Chain Management

The Group places emphasis on its supply chain
management. In addition to improving cost
competitiveness, the Group also values the
sustainability of its supply chain. The Group supports
the purchase of environmentally-friendly products
to minimize the environmental impact caused by its
business operations. The Group also closely cooperates
with the suppliers to maintain the quality of products
and services provided to the customers.

The Group’'s “Technology Outsourcing Services
Management Policy” clearly sets out guidelines on
the performance of competitive bidding and vendor
appraisals. Under the policy, quotations from more than
one supplier are required to be sought for comparisons
to ensure the fairness of supplier vetting. The Group
strives to adhere to the policy of engaging responsible
outsourcers that minimize the total emission of
greenhouse gases, waste generated and resources
consumed.

Moreover, the Group closely monitors the performance
of the existing suppliers and selects new vendors based
on defined criteria, such as qualification, company
scales, and reputation, etc. Approved suppliers
are evaluated on a regular basis by the respective
purchasing departments to ensure that the quality of
products and services that the Group purchases are up
to standard. Suppliers who are not up to standard for a
prolonged period of time will be disqualified.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not engage
any critical suppliers due to the nature of the Group’'s
core business activities.
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B6. Product Responsibility B6. EmEE

68

The Group strictly complies with the relevant laws and
regulations relating to product responsibility that have
significant impacts, including but not limited to the
Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Cap. 362 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and the Sale of Goods Ordinance (Cap. 26
of the Laws of Hong Kong), and Product Quality Law of
the People’s Republic of China ((ZEARHEMEE
mES5%)), Law of the People’'s Republic of China on
Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests ({drZE A
REMBEEEE#ZREL)) and Civil Code of the
People’s Republic of China ((FP#E AR HFE R AH)).

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware
of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations related to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to the products
and services provided.

Quality Assurance

The Group aspires to improve its brand reputation
by ensuring the quality of products and services. In
order to minimize product liability risk, the Group has
established the “Product Quality Assurance Process”
to ensure that the products strictly adhere to internal
quality standards. In the event of product failure not
caused by improper use, the Group would recall the
products and provide refund to customers. Moreover,
customers are offered with other value-added services,
including product warranty and after-sales services.

During the Reporting Period, there were no products
sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety or health
reasons.

complaints Handling Procedures

Customers’ opinions and feedback help to drive
continuous improvement of the Group and are vital
to its pursuit of excellence. Various communication
channels (e.g. via website and customer service hotline)
have been established, aiming to better address
customers’ concerns.
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The Group makes every effort to promptly investigate
and resolve all disputes and complaints lodged by the
customers. “Relevant System in Relation to the Handling
of Customer Complaints” has been established to
ensure that all customer complaints can be properly
handled. All complaints received are handled by
the customer service team. Upon the receipt of a
complaint, the responsible personnel will investigate
into the matter and appropriate action will be taken in a
timely manner.

During the Reporting Period, there were no material
complaints received by the Group.

Personal Data Privacy

In order to build customer trust and loyalty, the
Group has established measures to reduce the risk of
employees leaking confidential information to outsiders.

The Group strictly prohibits the use of customers’
personal data for any purposes other than what
have been stated in the customer contracts. If any
employee who has been discovered of misappropriating
customers’ private data, the Group will take disciplinary
action against the employee concerned and reserve its
right to legal action.

Moreover, non-disclosure agreements are signed by
all employees of the Group to ensure that they are
aware of their legally binding obligations of protecting
confidential information of the Group.

Furthermore, the Group maintains information
technology systems with high level of security
to prevent unauthorized access to confidential
information. Operating systems, security programs
and hardware are updated on a regular basis so as to
protect customer information from hackers.
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Intellectual Property Rights

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with
all laws and regulations related to intellectual property
rights in Hong Kong and the PRC that have a significant
impact on it, including but not limited to the Copyright
Ordinance (Cap. 528 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and
Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China (/&
EARHEMBEA®EIZL)) and Copyright Law of the
People’s Republic of China ((FhZE A RHFEZE (E#
EN.

The Group acts proactively to enforce intellectual
property rights against third-party infringers. The Group
has established the “Trademark Management Policy”
and the “Intellectual Property Management Policy” to
ensure that its intellectual property is closely monitored
and adequately protected. The legal department is
responsible for identifying any unauthorized use of its
trademarks by third-parties. Legal actions will be taken
in due course upon identification of any trademark
infringements.

Anti-corruption

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with
all relevant laws and regulations relating to prevention
of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering,
including but not limited to, the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Drug Trafficking (Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinance (Cap.
405 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Organized and
Serious Crimes Ordinance (Cap. 455 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), and Criminal Law of the People’s Republic
of China ((FZEAREMEA L)) and Anti-Money
Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China
(REARSEME L)) .

The Group does not support, nor does it tolerate any
corrupt practice and payment or receipt of bribes
for any purpose. All employees are strictly prohibited
to abuse their power and/or take advantage of their
position for personal gain.

B7.

MHERE

RSB *EBBTHHEAEEKN
FEAREBRTENBER A
ERBER BEEARREAZEHA
B528B (RRERA ) ~ (PEARHEM
BERE) R(REARKMEE (FR
E)e

FEEBBHE =S REEERFINT
MBEREN XEBEEHE HR
BEFIE RTNHSEREESE] - U
BRANBEEEZEERTD MR
o ABHMEBHNERMB=ZTER
MERRETERABR - MHHEMER
=R HMARNEERERRBUERT
o

R&E5

RSB ~EBBTERB LA
BBR AEFRORERZFTAERER
KER BREENRREREMNFE201
E (B LR A) - ERBEPIFBI05E
(% CEsdRm) IRA) - ERBEME
ASS5E (BB RBEFTHRAD) ~ (F
EANRHEMBEIRZE) R(REARHEM
B R ERE )

FEBFAXFHIARBERETAEN
WERMESTAUARTHERRHE -2
REEERZFARNOR, B AL
BAF &t

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2021 ANNUAL REPORT



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI HERELRES

The “Employees’ Handbook” of the Group clearly sets
out guidelines for the acceptance of gifts. As stipulated
by the "Employees’ Handbook”, all employees are
required to exercise caution and judgment when
accepting gifts. Gifts should not be accepted if they are
of a value higher than RMB300 (or equivalent).

Moreover, the Group has established “Anti-corruption
Management Policies” that clearly sets out the
procedures for reporting corruption and fraud cases.
As stipulated in the policies, all employees should
immediately report any suspected fraud cases. After
a potential fraud case is being reported, investigation
is to be conducted with due care. An investigation
report is to be prepared and submitted to the Board.
For any proven fraud case, punishment will be inflicted
pursuant to the policies.

During the Reporting Period, no corruption and money
laundering cases against the Group or its employees
were noted or reported. The Group arranged regular
trainings for all Directors to enhance their alertness
to corruption, conflict of interests and integrity issues,
and provided induction trainings for all new employees
which includes training on basic ethics such as
anti-corruption. The Group closely monitors the
regulatory development and will arrange relevant
trainings for the Directors and its staff, where
necessary.

AEBEZTET FMI B HAEZMER
BriEsl- TETFMIRE 28R
EREVRERASETERFELH
B TEREZMEEBBHEAFNARE

3007z BEAE o

o xEBEHE REREES
B EMEINNBRESRNFERZ
BF ZHRRE FIAEEEIIAE
AE ]S R AR B 56 o BB TE ARG
BER AEERBRETHE LK
MEBAERERERTEFG I
AR —KRBE  RREBEHRETU

FE & °

RBRSHE AEREETASNE
HERHHEERNHEEZE SR
HRER - AEEREREFLHE
HEI MRS EEHE S MaER
RHEHENEH TRAEERHET
REAREI ERESEXRER
REMFI - cEBEYFAEIEES
BTN PERSEETRE T LA

Rl
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B8. Community Investment

The Group understands the importance of giving
back to the society. In order to contribute to a more

BS. tEIRE
FEBRACBLEEEE AL
EsBEESHMERY  UERT

sustainable and harmonious society, the Group FE Mkt Eo
encourages the employees to take part in community

services.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not
organized any community and charity activities due
to the COVID-19 pandemic. The Group will explore
volunteer opportunities and organise relevant activities
in the future after the COVID-19 situation are improved

and restrictions are lifted.

HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX

Part A: Environmental

RIREHAR > AR COVID-19&Z 1B &
Z, REFUREBRTATERES
EB) o R AEEKTICOVID-19% 15
BRANERBRFHBHEEER BEE
PERR TS g AR B RE RS o

BRZFIRIE LG RERKRSIESA
A&

FRER : IRIR

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
RIE-HERERER TERA = & st
A1. Emissions

Al HEHEY

Information on the policies and compliance with Overview, Compliance

relevant laws and regulations that have a significant and Grievance, Emissions,

impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse Hazardous and Non-

gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and hazardous Wastes

generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

BRBREAERBHN RAKREIHBNES -BE BB ~ SR A B A ~ BEI

EEEBEEYNELESHNBERETHETABEKX M-BEREEEEY

EENEREAREERRANER -

KPI'A1.1

RAREMIEIRA1]

The types of emissions and respective emissions data. N/A No air emission is
generated during the
course of the Group’s
operations.

BER Y B LR R AR R HE I EUIR © iE A KEFBEERETHEE
EEARBEHR
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT

INDEX (Continued)

ESG Aspects
RE-#HEgRELAEE

BRFRIRIE - L B R ERBEIESIA

FE3| (#)

Related Section(s)
18 R &

Remarks
Bt

A1. Emissions (Continueq)
Al BEHY (&)

KPI A1.2

RA SR AE RIEIRA.2

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emission in total (in tonnes)

and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

Hix EEN) kieREE EE2) RERBHNES
(UMET8) & (ER) BE MUSESEEN 518
Mt E) ©

KPI'A1.3

RARAAMIEIRA13

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

FREEASERYEE CIESE) k NER) BE
MU EEEEN SERKRME) o

KPIA1.4

R R A NIEIRA1.4

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
FrEEEEEEYEE UBEE) &k MER) BE
MU EEEEM SERMIE) o

Greenhouse Gas
Emissions

N/A

Hazardous and Non-
hazardous Wastes

B

IH

REEBRTEY

No hazardous waste is
generated during the
course of the Group’s
operations.
rEEESEBETHEE
FEMBESEEY -
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INDEX (Continued)

BRFRIRIE - B R ERBEIESIA
A&R5l (&)

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
RIE-#HERERER 1 A 2= & -3
A1. Emissions (Continued)
Al Y (&
KPI'A1.5
R SR AE RIS IRA1S
Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken Emissions, Use of
to achieve them. Resources, and
Environment and Natural
Resources
PR U NBER E B R A EDEEEZEARImN F BER ~ BR R BRIRIR
B o RRIRER
KPI'A1.6
R SR A NI IRA1.6
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous Hazardous and Non-
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction hazardous Wastes
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HMEEEERBEEEYN G 7 RFAFTETIIH EEREEEEY
BEERERAEDNGEEEMEIMNY o
A2. Use of Resources
A2. EREH
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including Use of Resources, and
energy, water and other raw materials. Environment and Natural
Resources
BENEAER (BIEER KEREMEME) BB BREARIRIERRAR
BR
KPI'A2.1
R R A IEIRA2.1
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type Use of Resources, and
(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kwh in ‘000s) and Environment and Natural
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per Resources
facility).
REREDNEERHEIZER (S fIUH) 48 BREARIRIERRA
HE UTETRESE REBE MUSESEA BR
THHMETE) o
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INDEX (Continued)

ESG Aspects
RE-#HEgRELAEE

BRFRIRIE - L B R ERBEIESIA
B&R5l (&)

Related Section(s) Remarks
tERAE & Bt

A2. Use of Resources (Continued)
A2, BEEERE (&)

KPI'A2.2

RARAAEMIEIRA2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit
of production volume, per facility).

BEXKERTE WUSEEEN SERKEFE) -

KPI'A2.3

R A NIEIRA2.3

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

HIFrE] I ERER N E B R R A ERELER R
PRERHY S BR o

KPI'A2.4

R ENIEIRA2.4

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s)
set and steps taken to achieve them.

3t SR BN GE AR 7K R =Rl B E R P RE ~ BT 32 B F K 3R
HmEBKRAEINEEE RIS

KPI A2.5

RSB IEIRA2.5

Total packaging material used for finished products (in
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.

S MEPTAEEMENEE (UEEE) & WER)
SEBAhLE-

Use of Resources, and
Environment and Natural
Resources
BRERRIRIE KRR
BR

Use of Resources, and
Environment and Natural
Resources
BRERARIRIERRAR
BR

Use of Resources, and
Environment and Natural

Resources

BERERRIRIE KRR

BR

Packaging Materials No packaging material is
used during the course of
the Group’s operations.

BEEM KL AERESEBEPHRES

RERaEME -
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INDEX (Continued)

BRFRIRIE - B R ERBEIESIA
A&R5l (&)

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
RIE-#HERERER 1 A 2= & -3
A3. The Environment and Natural
Resources
A3. IRIFRAXAER
Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impacts Use of Resources, and
on the environment and natural resources. Environment and Natural
Resources
BEZEITAHIBRERRAE RGN ERTENRE - BREARIRIERRA
BR
KPI' A3.1
B R A IEIRA3.1
Description of the significant impacts of activities Use of Resources, and
on the environment and natural resources and the Environment and Natural
actions taken to manage them. Resources
B EFR THHIRIER KRB RNE KT E KRB R BERERRIRIERKA
BIEARTENTH BR
A4. Climate Change
Ad. miRE1E
Policies on identification and mitigation of significant Climate Change
climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer.
A REHERRAEEHETAEEFZENEARR RIEEE
EAERI S TR SR o
KPI'A4.1
R A& e 1RAL
Description of the significant climate-related issues Climate Change
which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
WM E R RAIEEH BT AELERENERTIEERH RIEE1E
FE REHRITH-C
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Part B: Social

ESG Aspects
RIE-HERERER

BRFRIRIE - B R ERBSIESIA

A& #E)
ZE e

Related Section(s) Remarks
ERAE &R Bt

B1. Employment
B1. fE1§

Information on the policies and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
BRI REE - BREREA  TIERE - RA-FE
e 2l RIERUREMEB KRB AEE K
BTHETABEAREZENEMEERRANER -

KPI B1.1

fA R AE NG 1EB1.1

Total workforce by gender, employment type

(for example, full- or part-time), age group and
geographical region.

R BEEE (N2 FRE) « FiER Rt E
oM EEESH -

KPI B1.2

R SRR IE1RB1.2

Employment turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

MR FRAN R EE DHEESMALLE

Overview, Compliance
and Grievance,
Employment

BE - aRRBFH ERE

Employment — Our Team

EBE-ZMAZEEK

Employment — Our Team

BE-HMzEEK
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ESG Aspects
RIE-HERERER

BRFRIRIE - B R ERBEIESIA
A&R5l (&)

Related Section(s) Remarks
tHRAE &R Bt

B2. Health and Safety

B2. BFEHZE
Information on the policies and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
ERREHEZ2TFRERREEERRHEMBEN
BERRETHRETABEAZENERZEERROIN

KPI B2.1

B R AN IE1EB2.1

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred

in each of the past three years including the reporting
year.

RBE=F (BIEERFE) SFR T THMAZ KL

KPI B2.2

RA A M 1518B2.2

Lost days due to work injury.
ATEERXTIEHE-

KPI B2.3

fA SR AE XN HE12B2.3

Description of occupational health and safety
measures adopted, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

Wt PR ER AN B B 2= (R R S 2 2 FE > U R ABRA BT &
Bk

Health and Safety

Health and Safety

BERAZZ

Health and Safety
REALSE

Health and Safety

BEEZE
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT BMRFrRIE - E R EARKREIESIA
INDEX (Continued) BE3| #E)

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks

EBE - HEREAEE ARAEEn ot

B3. Development and Training
B3. ZRRIE
Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and Development and Training
skills for discharging duties at work. Description of
training activities.
BRRAERERITILEBENA S AR E R RIE
HEEFISES) o

KPI B3.1

B R A W5 1EB3.1

The percentage of employees trained by gender and Development and Training
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle

management).

B REESER WEhEERE -PREEES 2 R
PHZIEREB DL

KPI B3.2

FA R AN IE1EB3.2

The average training hours completed per employee Development and Training
by gender and employee category.

BN REERNE D SR EETMZINN TR ERERE

o

B4. Labour Standards
B4. ZT 24
Information on the policies and compliance with Labour Standards
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and
forced labour.
B LEETRAETSE THNRRRETHEITARTE & T 28
FENWBERERERENNER -
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BRFRIRIE - B R ERBEIESIA
A&R5l (&)

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
B -HERERER BRI =& Hax
B4. Labour Standards (Continued)

B4. TR (#&)

BS5.
BS5.

80

KPI B4.1

R R AW IE1EB4.1

Description of measures to review employment
practices to avoid child and forced labour.

Ml iR SR EE 1B IR FE HE LA SR B8 T Re sl 85 T o

KPI B4.2

R M I51EB4.2

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices
when discovered.

M S IRB R B RN E R A BB AT IR AN & B o

Supply Chain Management

HEH EE

Policies on managing environmental and social risks
of the supply chain.
BIEMERNIRIE M BRI

KPI B5.1
B R AR B 1EB5.1
Number of suppliers by geographical region.

rt e o HEBEE -

KPI B5.2
R4 A F51EB5.2

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,

number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, how they are implemented and
monitored.

AR AEEFINES > mENITERIEGNH
FEFS B B ~ U BEAMIT RER G &

Labour Standards

5T A8

Labour Standards

5T A8

Supply Chain
Management
g B 12

Supply Chain
Management
g B 12

Supply Chain
Management

HAEREEE
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BRFRIRIE - L B R ERBEIESIA
B&R5l (&)

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
RIE-HERERER MR E &R fasE
B5. Supply Chain Management (Continued)
B5. MEHREIE (&)

KPI B5.3

BB AE M 151%B5.3

Description of practices used to identify Supply Chain

environmental and social risks along the supply chain, Management

and how they are implemented and monitored.

HABRAFHERSERONIRERTERENIE HEEEE

B> LU IT REEER G &

KPI B5.4

R R AN IE1EB5.4

Description of practices used to promote Supply Chain

environmentally preferable products and services Management

when selecting suppliers, and how they are

implemented and monitored.

HMERERERNFECLHRRERRIRBEHNIE gt E IR

B LU ABRAIT RER & -

Bé6. Product Responsibility

B6. EmEIE
Information on the policies and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and method of
redress.
ERMREERNBEFNIRERAZEZ " ES B8
MEEEUREH G EZNEERETHETABEX
FEENMERERRRFNER -

Product Responsibility

mt
2o
il
0
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Hﬁ""ﬁﬁiaiﬂ HERERKEIESR

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
RIE-HERERER HH A = B fEsE
Bé6. Product Responsibility (Continued)
Bé6. ZE g &£ (Continued)
KPI B6.1
B R A W5 1EB6.1
Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject Product Responsibility —
to recalls for safety and health reasons. Quality Assurance
EENEEEEM@HTELT2 B REERMAD EREX-—E=2RE
B
KPI B6.2
fA SR AE XN TE18B6.2
Number of products and service related complaints Product Responsibility
received and how they are dealt with. — Complaints Handling
Procedures
BERRERMIRBNRFEE U REE G- EmEE-—RFEERR
KPI B6.3
RA AR X 151%B6.3
Description of practices relating to observing and Product Responsibility
protecting intellectual property rights. — Intellectual Property
Rights
o B3 B R R R 8 E RE B REBYIB A o EmEE—H#ERE
KPI B6.4
R R AN IE1EB6.4
Description of quality assurance process and recall Product Responsibility —
procedures. Quality Assurance
HnESRERERERBIWEZER- EREX-—E=2RE
KPI B6.5
B R A W5 1EB6.5
Description of consumer data protection and Product Responsibility —
privacy policies, and how they are implemented and Personal Data Privacy
monitored.
08 B B B RHRIE R FARRECR ) MR ABR BT 8 EmBE—EABERLRE
Bk
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ESG Aspects
RIE-HERERER

Hﬁ""ﬁﬁﬁaiﬂ HERERKSEIESA

Related Section(s) Remarks
HERAE &R Bt

B7. Anti-corruption

B7. RE5
Information on the policies and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.
BB LR MR BERERBENBRRETYH
BITANBEAXENERZEERROINER

KPI B7.1

A SR AE RN HE1RB7 .1

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.

RERPAHZETAIHEEBERH T ESENESH
AERMNEE MIFEAER

KPI B7.2

fA SR AE W5 1RB7 .2

Description of preventive measures and whistle-
blowing procedures, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

W Fh ERE i e B ERAR T > U R HBARIT RERS
P

KPI B7.3

RS AE M 1512B7.3

Description of anti-corruption training provided to
directors and staff.
WMEEERETHRESEN-

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

k&=
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BRFRIRIE - B R ERBEIESIA
A&R5l (&)

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
RIF-HEREARER HHRAE & ik
B8. Ccommunity investment

B8. HERE

84

Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates
and to ensure that its activities take into consideration
the communities’ interests.
BRUME2ERTRETAEEMEHLEEEZNME
REEB TGS EBELEF EmAEBE-

KPI B8.1

A SR AE RN HE12B8.1

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).

HIEREE WHE REEE - FIER - EE X
1E~88H) -

KPI B8.2

B R AW IE1EB8.2

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the
focus area.

EHIHEMBAER WEEHFFRE) o

community Investment

HEeRE

community Investment

HERE

community Investment

HEeRE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB EMRS

@ pakertilly
R i 8 P

Independent auditor’'s report to the members of
China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 93 to 203, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2021, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

HNPREEERERATDRRZBIZBEMES
(RHEEFSEMALZBEIRAE)

BER

AIZEEN (TR TR EERSEINEI3E
03B EPBERERAR (EAF)) kHE
MEAR RETEEE) NEaMBERER 2%
REMBRROENR2021F12B831BNGREMH
AREREHEZHEFENGGEa REMNE2E
WAR - GEEaERRGEEGREMNER U
RREGHMHRENNE BEETESHHARME-

HARD REUBFRECREZESHMAE
(TEBEFMAE)) BHRNEBMBREER
(IEBMBREER) AEMAAMKIR &
EEN2021F12A31BNGREMHBRRUAREE
EZRLEFENGEMBRERGARERE
WEBREBAGRANKEERZAER -

ERNER

RPRBEEBEEAMAEEMNEBEEL
(TEBESER)) ETEZ -EXFERT &
MNEEELARSA B BEZEEHTHR
RAKENEE —NE-—TBEAL - REFEGS
MAgR TEEEEERTRL (TSFR) > 3
BUR EEER TEBRTABTHEMERS
FoHFEE RFAMESHNERRELETRER
BEMRHEFANELEREMER
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

FEERSEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional RIERMNEXLAE  BESZEEAKMEZ
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the RAHBNGEHFRETREEMEIE - FH M
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These TERZEBGAGVFREIAMILERERFTERE
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the IHEEBE MAGHILZTEEEBERER
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Revenue recognition on provision of smart retail services

PR T R A W 3 AT

The Key audit matter
MREZEER

We identified revenue recognition from the provision
of smart retail services as a key audit matter due to
the significance of revenue generated from provision
of services and revenue is one of the key performance
indicators of the Group.
KMBRHESEZERBRIEDAMBEZXEIE T
ERREBRBAEERENEEM R EA AEENE
BEWIEREZ—o

As disclosed in note 5, revenue from the provision
of smart retail services amounted to approximately
HK$34,393,000 and accounted for approximately 95%
of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31
December 2021.

AN SESFR IR EE - B E2021E 1283 1H EEE » 25
ETERF SN EEAA34,393,0008 0 15 BSEE4LE
U i 4995% o

Details of revenue recognition from the provision
of smart retail services and its accounting policies
are set out in note 5 and note 2, respectively, to the
consolidated financial statements.
RUHBRTERBEI N ERE G ERFED
AR E TSR AR MY SRS A M FE2

How the matter was addressed in our audit
EMESZPhRIEMAREZEENS L

Our audit procedures to assess the revenue recognition on
provision of smart retail services include the following:
BT ERESEZERFRARTINEZZFEHE

. Understanding the business process of the smart
retail business;
EREETEEBENEREER;

. Assessing the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls relating to
revenue recognition;

ST B U 3 HE 50 A RA BV BRI SR U BR4E HI BV 52 51 ~ B &
EERNA M

o Inspecting the key terms and conditions of contracts
with customers and major business partners to
assess if there were any terms and conditions that
may have affected the accounting treatment of the
related revenue; and
BEARPARNBEREFBHSONETERRKREG
MR B F T EERN G N g sTEIENER
Rt 5 ke

. Inspecting, on a sample basis, the customer
acceptance documents, the contracts and invoices
evidencing that the performance obligations of
services were satisfied and the related control was
transferred.

MRS RPRERE 2 EBOEBEUIEBETT REE
ZEFIEEEENERBRN Xt - aRKREE-
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BB EMRS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Assessing loss allowance of trade receivables
TG B 5 MR TR B 15 1

The Key audit matter
FEEZER

At 31 December 2021, the Group’'s gross trade
receivables amounted to approximately HK$17,886,000
against which a total loss allowance of approximately
HK$2,424,000 was recorded.

2021%F12831H> EXENEZERUWARIBRENS
17,886,000/ 7t > #2185 B ARV E5 18 85 5 & £ 492,424,000

JT ©

Management measured loss allowance at an amount
equal to expected credit losses (“ECLsS"). ECLs are a
probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit
losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between
the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive). The ECLs take into account the ageing of
trade receivables balances, the repayment history of the
Group’s debtors of different risk characteristics, current
market conditions, debtor-specific conditions, and the
Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected
lives of the trade receivables.

CEERBHREESE ((BHEEHB) sTEHEBE
H-TRAGEEEEREEBRANMEMEMLS EFEEK
HERARREE AREBESNEN ES£EMNERER
28 SEEBPRIINRSRECBENER WIRAES
E-TEHEEBREZTE T BERRWIBEARNIRR . B
SEAEBTRARBEENEFANEREL RED
RoERTERGNERERR E£ENESEINIE
TEHAHAR BRI BRI E £ ©

FEERSEIE (&

How the matter was addressed in our audit
BRAEEZTREEMBERZERENSG X

Our audit procedures to assess the loss allowance for trade
receivables include the following:
BT EE S EWRIEEEBERENSEZERSE

. Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the
design and implementation of management's key
internal controls relating to credit control, debt
collection and estimation of ECLS;
BReuThEEEEREERS WEKEMREES
B TR A EREFIN R ST R BTE ;

. Assessing, on a sample basis, whether items in the
trade receivables’ ageing report were classified
within the appropriate ageing bracket by comparing
individual items in the report with underlying
documentation;

PP R E Z EWRIERE RS P 8VE R 1E B 48R
X HETESRETHNEERET D ABEERKRE ;

. Obtaining an understanding of the key parameters
and assumptions of the ECLs model adopted by the
management, including historical default data and
management’s estimated loss rates;
EREEEMRATERCEERBERENBAR2EKRE
% BEELENMBREEEMGHFHNEER;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Assessing loss allowance of trade receivables (Continued)

G E S R BRI RS IR (4

The Key audit matter
MREZEE

We identified loss allowance for trade receivables as
a key audit matter because determining the level of
loss allowance requires the exercise of significant
management judgement which is inherently subjective.
KMBESERRIEGEEEREDAMBEEZEE T
EREEHEREN K TIREEEEEEES HHEH
MHETAE ERFEHRE

Details of loss allowance of trade receivables are set out
in note 25 and note 3(a)(ii) to the consolidated financial
statements, and its accounting policies are set out in
note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

B RWHRIEGEEENFBEHNEE M BRI FE2S
K bdzE3(@)ii) HEstBERAIE N R e BRI 20

FEERSEE (&

How the matter was addressed in our audit
EMESZPhREMAREZEENS L

With the assistance of internal valuation specialists,
assessing the reasonableness of management’s loss
allowance estimates by examining the information
used by management to form such judgements,
including testing the accuracy of the historical default
data and evaluating whether the historical loss
rates are appropriately adjusted based on current
economic conditions and forward-looking information;
ERETHEXRNBEI T BREEEEEENE M
FEERNER S EELEOEBENER SR
FEEFBAXEEREBEEANKER I RAIRSEE
EMEHBEERE M EEEGEEEGTNGIEY;

Reperforming the calculation of the loss allowance
based on the Group's credit loss allowance policies;
and

RiE EEENEEFEEBERRENTEBIER
&

Inspecting, on a sample basis, receipts from
counterparties subsequent to the financial year end
relating to receivables balances with bank statements
and relevant remittance documentation.
RRIRTTH AR B MABRAE X M i E R M B E
EHEBBHFWENREEWRIBAGBERNIRE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB EMRS

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon
(“Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information and,
in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

HithEwl

ERAREFAHHAMENAEEE HthEHE
EHNERNE ETEEREMHTEREKRHK
PR EEm RS (THMER) o

RAEREVBRRFENERIBREAME
B A &R Hth S K 8 REAT N RE
#ham o

MEMABEZREMBREMS  AANEERE
HEMBERN EtMEERAMENESHGEEHH
BERABRFEBZERETEENENEFEERT
I HAUFEFEEAERRL - HERMAERES
ETHNITFRAHEMEN HREAERMERL &
PARSEBEE st HABRFHRS -

EENBRZEEMGEMBERER
AERENTE

EAREFAEEREETAGIMLAEEMINE
BUMBREERRBTABRBFRIINKEENR MR
HEBMATMRBBERNGEEMBRE RE
FEEHRRGEUFRRBLOENERANE
B UEZRFEEM BRI EFEHNREFR
B SR T B 20 AY BB K B8 SR R4

ERUGEAVMBRRG EFHAENE &5
EFEEENE ) TINERREEEARNEER
MER) ~FRIFEFEHRK BEEBBRJELE
B YRIEZ b EEMBRAI TR SR
ARBUFECEFR S ER-

BZZEEHY BE/ARNEFETHEE 85
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AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control,

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control;

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors;
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%ML B AR & M B R BRI
HNEE @)

RPNERACERELSEFRSMBRERERM
ENEFEHRNMFFNERMERNERERR
ot HFARMABROZBERE - LIRS
EREERRRS  TEEMARE - HAMTHM
ABEESHATHEMNEMATEENAEEAE
o

GEREBSBRNZE  BREBESBESER
ETHNEZTETERSBEREMFENERXN
HEERPRA - $ESRPR AL P R ERFF SRR E A > 6 B
HHERECERABR TR EEREREZ
SREVHFBRRFENEERER IRREAE
RERERBRAL o

ERBEBESERETESNBRD RMHE
BEXEHE REFEXIRREE - FFITF

o B KFFEANRMFRERMER GG Y
BRERFEEREZRMRAN AR Rt R
TESEFUBHZERR  LUARERTEE
MBEENEFER FLAMASRNER-
MARREEA S RER - RE - BEEER
RE R R S E B BB B R B 0 R oR BE
HRRMFMERMNE X FHRER 0 &
BRAEFEREERMERNEREBRMR
A

e  THREBSERBNANEE URFEEN
Bt iRF HLIFEEY SEERNEEE
MAMMERER

e HEEFRAGHHRNGERERFSR
SEHESNAERRENGIEN
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BB EMRS

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern;

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation; and

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

BN B 124 & M B SRR BRI
HWEE #&)

e HNEFRARFBKEGHERNNEMRE
LS LRBFIENNESRE BEE
CEAERFENBREBNEAEENX
RMAEERY BSEENFECERED
EEBARBE HEAMAIAEFEERTETE
MR EREEZBMBREPRFERE L
ERGMBREDPVERKE - HARKE
TR RMESTRMARR - HAGEHDENE
ERHENHRE B LEFESHIE STRE - 24
M RARERFENBERAIEER BSHEEEZX

g2 g K
FHgEE

o FMEREMBRENEERZEESIN -EBR
RNE BREHNKRE UREGEEUHBRERE
BREMRRERRZNEER ; &

e T BEEEANBEIAEFITNUHTENE
Nt ERBENES R UERGEEGHE
BREXRBR - HMEEEEFFHNLA
EENRT -HMPAABERRREXELREE
£

HMBEEZZEgH0 (HPEE) BsTHt 88
B RERBSFERBEE REEERE
BERMESSHBRETHINNABEZENENEKR
ERSK

HATHEZZEGFHER  FHAMETE
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AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Sai Ho.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2022

Chan Sai Ho
Practising certificate number PO7705
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FefmREMEERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z202112831H IEEE WU B THIR)

2021 2020
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5 FHAT TFHET
Continuing operations FEREETR
Revenue = 5 36,331 34,626
Cost of sales and services HHE MRS A A (32,307) (22,873)
Gross profit EH 4,024 11,753
Other income Han A 7 1,249 2,291
Other losses, net HihEs18 » 358 8 (1,939) (8,201)
Administrative expenses THER (20,789) (13,601)
Finance costs E DN 12 (170) (1,814)
Loss before tax PRIR AR5 18E (17,625) (9,572)
Income tax credit/(charge) Friginikse  (FI) 13 2,116 (3,914)
Loss for the year from REFESEE£HEZ
continuing operations KEEEE (15,509) (13,486)
Loss for the year from discontinued operation  REBKRILEEEFF
KREERIE 14 (6,588) (2,003)
Loss for the year KEEEE (22,097) (15,489)
Oother comprehensive income/(expense) Hth2Emk A~ (%)
Items that may be reclassified BENNEEN T EE R G
subsequently to profit or loss: ZHEE:
Exchange differences on translating foreign MEBINER ZERERE
operations, net of nil tax NBRERIE 1,026 3,798
Reclassification of cumulative translation reserve HE&EBINEFBEHHIE
upon disposal of a foreign operation, net of KRB REE
nil tax O ZTIIE 367 (723)
Changes in the fair value of debt instruments at ##A A EBET AEMEE
fair value through other comprehensive income, WAKEHITAEZ
net of nil tax NABEES
MpRZRIE - (30)
Other comprehensive income for the year REEHMEEIA 1,393 3,045
Total comprehensive expense for the year ZEEZ2ERAZ AT (20,704) (12,444)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
malAmkEMEEBAR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE2021E128318 LEEE B THIR)

2021 2020
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FAT T
(Loss)/profit attributable to: THIALEM
(&518) ia#l -
Oowners of the Company KABER A
- Continuing operations —RHEREER (12,607) (16,297)
- Discontinued operation —BARIEREEK (6,588) (1,018)
(19,195) (17,315)
Non-controlling interests R TR
- Continuing operations —RHEREER (2,902) 2,811
— Discontinued operation —BARIEREEK - (985)
(2,902) 1,826
(22,097) (15,489)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income THALEEZE (FS)
attributable to: V4 oON i
Owners of the Company KABEB A
- Continuing operations —FEREE (11,647) (13,614)
- Discontinued operation —BRIEKEER (6,224) (897)
(17,871) (14,511)
Non-controlling interests JEE RS
- Continuing operations —FEREE (2,833) 2,953
- Discontinued operation —BRIEREEE - (886)
(2,833) 2,067
(20,704) (12,444)
Loss per share from continuing and REFEKSEERREK
discontinued operations RS EREE 15
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) EAREE (B (0.41) (0.37)
Loss per share from continuing operations REFERSEFE >
SKEE 15
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) EARKEE (8RB (0.27) (0.35)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

BEMt Z MY sE AR B BT Z AR BR D
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
LEMBRRAR

As at 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

R20216E12831H B TSIR)

2021 2020
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHAT TFATT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Mz BB NZRE 17 56 75
Right-of-use assets FHREEE 18 1,936 2,591
Financial asset at fair value through BRARBESAEMEZE
other comprehensive income WANESREE 20 330 330
2,322 2,996
Current assets MBEE
Inventories E5 22 49 93
Trade and other receivables B 5 kHEMEKREIE 25 21,262 5,837
Amount due from an intermediate FEWR—MEAPEZERARZ
holding company IB 26 18,346 -
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary ER—ERRNBARZ
IE 26 1 2
Cash and bank balances RERIBITHER 27 48,961 57,467
88,619 63,399
Current liabilities Bk R=Ni=
Trade and other payables B 5 K M =RIE 28 19,531 5,804
Contract liabilities BHaE 24 1,102 750
Lease liabilities GEN-S=NE 18 1,458 1,492
Amount due to ultimate holding company R RLIERAB 2B 26 18,965 -
Amount due to an intermediate holding A —REPEERARZ
company IE 26 4,290 2,103
Loan from an intermediate holding company RE—EPREERATZ
a™ 26 4,946 -
Current tax liabilities BIEARIEAE - 431
50,292 10,580
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMER IR

As at 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #2021€128318 CUBTHR)

2021 2020
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET TR
Net current assets MENEERE 38,327 52,819
Total assets less current liabilities HEERTHBHAR 40,649 55,815
Non-current liability ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEaR 18 290 1,001
Net assets BEEE 40,359 54,814
Capital and reserves BEXRKk#E
Share capital (&N 31 23,430 23,430
Reserves =HE 15,251 33,122
Equity attributable to owners of the Company  Z&/AE#EE AEIE# % 38,681 56,552
Non-controlling interests JEERE R 1,678 (1,738)
Total equity RETR4EER 40,359 54,814
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors and SKESZFFHEREETIELAHTINESAAE
are signed on its behalf by: e
Sun Haitao Zhu Jianfei
®%iEE KRB
Director Director
EE EE

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated  BEM Z i 5= A4 & M MRER Z 4B ZH o
financial statements.
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Atributable to owners of the Company

FRREEARL
1] (i) 0] U] U] U] i (vi
Financial
assetat
Share fair value Foreign
capital- Capital Capital Convertible through other currency Non-
orinary Share contribution redemption  bonds equity Warrant  comprehensive translation Other ~ Accumulated controling
shares premium Tesenve resenve Tesene Tesene  income resenve Teserve Teserve losses Subtotal interests Total
RAABEHA
TiEkES Afh2ERAR
Rx-2ER [0 HEHE  EARDRER EifE IRENGH DHAENME  JVGEEEE AftE FibA Nt FERER it
HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000
TET TET TER TET TET TET TR TR TR TET TET TER TER
Balance at 1 January 2020 RONEIR1RZ &R 335 3443597 sm 1 393 - u5 13725 9 (3,543310) 51,216 881) 3033%5
(Loss)proftfor the year 2K (B8 /EH - - - - - - - - - (17315) (17,315) 180 (15,489)
Other comprehensive fexpense)/income FEERMRE () /WA
for the year - - - - - - 30 283 - - 2804 il 3045
Total comprehensive (expense)income KEERE (B /WALE
for the year - - - - - - (30 2834 - (17,315 (1451 2067 (12449
Issue of unlisted warrants net of expense FTELORRER IR - - - - - o6 - - - - 66 - o6
Capital contribution by a non-controling -BREAT - 2FRRREZ AR
shareholder of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - 547 547
Reduction of non-controlling interest arisiig R L EEZHELNFERREH)
from discontinued operation o o o S S S S o o o o (5962) (5962)
Shares issued upon conversion of BRTRRRARETZRY
convertible bonds 7 204 o = (3935) S o o o o 19,181 o 19,181
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-RHHBAT - - - - - - - - - - - 2091 2091
Balance at 31 December 2020 RONENANAZEE 240 3,466,638 9m 1 & 666 n5 116,559 (9 (3,960,685) 56,552 (1,738) 54814
Attributable to owners of the Company
LI
1] (i) (i) ) ) ) (v (i)
Financial
asset at
Share fair value Foreign
capital- Capital Capital  Convertible through other currency Non-
ordinary Share  contribution  redemption  bonds equity Warrant -~ comprehensive translation Other  Accumulated controlling
shares premium resene resene reserve Teserve  income reserve feserve reserve losses Subtotal interests Total
RARREHA
BEL Aft2ERAH
RE-28R &R HEEE  ESHEME ERHE  DREEGE SHEENRE  BANER AftER BiBR Nt FERER &3t
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000
TER TER TR iz i i TR TR TR TER TER TR TR
Balance at 1 January 2021 RAONEIR1RZ &8 23430 3,466,638 9,711 1 = 666 25 116,559 (49) (3,560,685) 56,552 (1,738) 54,814
Loss for the year FEERR = = = = = = = = = (19,195) (19,195) (2.902) (22,097)
Other comprehensive income for the year FEERMAENA - - - - - - - 132 - - 132 69 139
Totel comprenensiv ncome/(expense) FEERENA/ () B8
for the year = = = = = = = 1324 = (19,195) (17.871) (2833) (20,704)
Lapse of warrant options DRERHREN - - - = = (666) - - - 666 - - -
Deregistration of subsidiaries HEHEAT - - - - - - - - - - - 6,249 6,249
Balance at 31 December 2021 RONENANAZER 23,430 3,466,638 9,111 1 - - 25 17,883 (49) (3,579,214) 38,681 1,678 40,359
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Notes:

(i)

(iif)

(vii)

(viii)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEmEBR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

The share premium of the Company arises on shares issued at a premium.
In accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account is distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to
be distributed, the Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due in
the ordinary course of business. The share premium account may also be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

The capital contribution reserve represents capital contribution from an
intermediate holding company.

The capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the share
capital of the Company repurchased and cancelled.

The convertible bonds equity reserve comprises the value of the unexercised
equity component of convertible bonds issued by the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for convertible bonds in note
2(aa).

The warrant reserve represents the net proceeds received from the issue of
unlisted warrants of the Company. This reserve will be transferred to the share
capital and the share premium account upon exercise of the unlisted warrants,
where the unlisted warrants remain unexercised at the expiry date, the amount
recognised in the warrant reserve will be released to the accumulated losses.

The Group has certain debt instrument measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income. For this instrument, changes in fair value are
accumulated within financial asset measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income reserve within equity. The accumulated changes in fair
value are transferred to profit or loss when the investment is derecognised or
impaired.

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations as well as the effective portion of any foreign exchange differences
arising from hedges of the net investment in these foreign operations.

Other reserve represents the difference between the consideration paid for the
additional interest in the subsidiary and the non-controlling interest’s share of
the assets and liabilities reflected in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the date of the acquisition of the non-controlling interests.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HARERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HZE2021E128318 L EE CUBTHR)

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT TFATT
Cash flows from operating activities REFEFAIRIRERE
Loss for the year KEEEE
From continuing operations B E T (15,509) (13,486)
From discontinued operation BRI (6,588) (2,003)
(22,097) (15,489)
Adjustments for: Bt TS EELFE
Income tax (credit)/charge recognised RIBERRZEER (&%)
in profit or loss Bz (2,116) 3,914
Finance costs recognised in profit or loss RIBm R 2 B A 170 2,439
Interest income from bank deposits RITER E’J?’F'J S WA (673) (1,759)
Interest income on financial assets E@ﬁﬁfﬁuﬂ\? M ERMEE
at fair value through profit or loss BIF 2 WA = (21)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME BENREZEE
plant and equipment - 4,685
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #)¥ -BEKZHEZITE 58 1,665
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEEZITE 2,028 4,943
Quality assurance fund loss, net HE2REEk1E P - 7,021
Write-off of trade and other receivables 8 5 & 2GR IE M EE = 472
Recognition of loss allowance BHREEBIEREBE ZER
for contract assets - 982
Recognition of loss allowance B 5 REMERRIEEEEE 2
for trade and other receivables M3 2,338 1,536
Gain on lease termination HE&IEZ s = (5,539)
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries STEHMYE AR 2 F518 6,616 -
Covid-19-related rent concession A E A R EERE R R (33) (218)
Waiver of other payables EA o ELAN FE (T FUIE = (594)
Waiver of contract liabilities HRRENEE = (36)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—EHB Rz - (2,407)
Recognition of loss allowance for fE U — R BT /8B A Bl — % IEERR AR
amount due from a non-controlling R RIBRIERERER
shareholder of a subsidiary - 1,500
(13,709) 3,094
Movements in working capital gLﬁﬁﬁﬁJ
Decrease/(increase) in inventories EERLAEm 46 (88)
Increase in trade and other receivables f’i%)ﬁ’zﬁﬂﬂﬁ’él& RIEIE (17,328) (5,119)
Increase in amount due from B —MB A EEZER AR 218
an intermediate holding company N (17,996) -
Decrease in amount due from ER—MERRE AR ZIE
a fellow subsidiary R 1 446
Decrease/(increase) restricted cash ZIREIRE R () 2,689 (13,520)
Increase in amount due to ultimate holding N REIER AT 218
company =N 18,965 -
Increase in amount due to FEN—RIRE TR A B ZRIE
an intermediate holding company = 2,187 587
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 B Hfth FE T =R IB1E /0 13,380 807
Increase in contract liabilities HHBEIEM 328 629
Decrease in receipt in advance T8 UCRRIE R = (1,289)
Cash used in operations 4R R IR 4 (11,437) (14,453)
Income tax refunded/(paid) BB (B Frem 1,681 (9,542)
Net cash used in operating activities R SE BT IR S R 8 (9,756) (23,995)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HAaRERE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #:ZE20214128318 (LEE CUBTHIR)

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
cash flows from investing activities KREZHFRERERE
Interest received BEUWHE 673 1,780
Payment for acquisition of property, BEYWE -BERRENNR
plant and equipment (38) (31
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE BEKRRERMERIE
plant and equipment - 3
Net cash outflows from disposal of a subsidiary HE&E—RIWEBASIRER L F5E = (234)
Net cash generated from investing REGHFAERERE
activities 635 1,518
cash flows from financing activities MEFHFRERERE
Capital contribution from a non-controlling —ERBRElz —%IEFERREZ
shareholder of a subsidiary AE - 547
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENEERE 2 EAREH (2,078) (2,439
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENHEERE B KD (118) (765)
Proceeds from issue of unlisted warrants BITIE L HER RSB TR R IE - 666
Proceeds from loan from an intermediate kE—EREERABZERME
holding company ;I8 4,800 -
Net cash generated from/(used in) BLEEBIFRTS () &35
financing activities 2,604 (1,991)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RE£KRIRESZXEYHE LV EEE (6,517) (24,469)
Cash and cash equivalents at FNMZHRERREEEY
the beginning of year 54,648 75,791
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EREE) SR A 674 3,325
cash and cash equivalents at FERZHAERAEEEY
the end of year 48,805 54,648
Analysis of the balances of cash and RERREEBMEGRZAN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances RE MIBTTH R 48,805 54,648

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated  BEM Z i 5= A4 & BB REKR Z 4B IS o
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The address of the Company's registered
office is at Second Floor, Century Yard, Cricket Square, PO.
Box 902, Grand Cayman, KY1-1103, Cayman Islands.

The Company'’s shares have been listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since
2 March 2001.

In the opinion of the directors, the parent company is
51RENPIN.COM INC. (incorporated in the British Virgin Islands)
and the ultimate parent company is 51 Credit Card Inc.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands, and listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2051).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as, the
“Group”) are principally engaged in the smart retail business,
financial technology services business, sports training
business and lottery business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency
of the Company and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (“HK$'000") except when otherwise indicated.

These consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors (the “Board”)
of the Company on 30 March 2022.

hEARBIERARAR « 2021 FERS
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR M 5E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

POLICIES

These notes provide a list of the significant accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
The consolidated financial statements are for the group
consisting of China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited and
its subsidiaries.

(a) Basis of preparation

(M)

compliance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance

The consolidated financial statements of the
Company have been prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition,
the consolidation financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Stock Exchange. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a historical
cost basis, except for the certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at
the end of each reporting period.

(LB TET)

# = D'H-Eifﬁ*ﬁ&ﬁ

TNEFRERRZS AT B RRE XM
ZEBESHHRBE-BRBERBPEIN &
EHR—BERMEBRRMERZFMAEE-
REVMBRREANAER (HPEEBE
REBRABDREMBABEM o

(a) REAE

(i) EBFEEYUBHRESER (IE5EH
FEIRERR) REELEIERR
WEMTE

AABNEGEEMBERRERES
BUBERESENREERT K
BFINIFERTERN b IEF
REMBRRITEBESFEBM
%Mﬂ%tﬁﬁ%ZL%ﬁ%W
AR EMBBRRDIEEE WA
%&ﬁ@’@ S TFE&MIATR
EREMAFRERRABETE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR S MBS HmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

CLETTEI™)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IES:HHEHEE (&
POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

(M)

compliance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

(@) REEE (F

(i) EBFEBHMBEREER (TEEH
FIREER) REE L EFEOIE
WENE (&

MUNTEEBMBREENY
BREAK EXEEEFFLA
B EERRR MEFEHR
NWERUREE -B8F -WAK
X2 HREEE - LR MG E R A
FRREENELEBRUKRNRE
BERLTHIAARCENSEH
tEERME L - &R BN H
BEREMBRREIZEERE
BHNREEFLAGHHNER -8
BRASRP] SEBA I AR (A 5T AR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MBI RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(LB TET)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IES:HHEHEE (&

104

POLICIES (Continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

(i) Ccompliance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 4.

(@) wEEZE (F

(i)

BFEBYMBREER (5B
FHREER) REELEFEOIEY
WENE (&

s A i 28 B (i 5t A AERR R R o 19
gt BT RE B
HE B8FE ST FHET 2 HEE
505 HIEST HER AR KIS

T8 AEFHES ZHER
KRR BRI REST o

EEBERAEAMBRSER
RFTEL B HEREBEATE
BYFV BT LA R st AR EMRN EE
HORBE MY FEAR 558 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

CLETTEI™)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IES:HHEHEE (&
POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

New and amended standards adopted by the
Group

The Group has applied the following amendments
for the first time for their annual reporting period
commencing 1 January 2021:

. Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 —
amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

The amendments listed above did not have any
material impact on the amounts recognised in
prior periods and are not expected to significantly
affect the current or future periods.

New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted and effective

Certain new accounting standards, amendments
to accounting standards and interpretations have
been published that are not mandatory for the
year ended 31 December 2021 and have not been
early adopted by the Group.

(@) REEE (F

(i) ZEEEBERAYEIATHE R A NE 5T E R

KAEFEMEB2021E181HHE
B FEERSHBEERER T
1857 :

s FREENE-FTHEK-
BEEMBHREENFINR
BERESERBEIR B
BUYBREERNEIR B
BUMBREEFIRRE
BUBHREEREI6RZ
&57

EXFRIMESTHBIEABRE
THRIEERNEARXE BRHA
TEHERMNAREPBEEER

=,
FEo

15 RIRA e L3 2 AT R R 32
#

(iii)

ETHIE G 2R G5t £
B RhE2RBERMEZFEANE
F2021F 128318 I FEER G E
R A B IR IR 25 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MBI RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iii) New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted and effective (Continued)

Effective for
accounting
periods
beginning
on or after

HKFRS 17, Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023
and the related Amendments

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference 1 January 2022
to the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and To be determined
HKAS 28, Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture

Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19- 1 April 2021
Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Amendments to HKAS 1, 1 January 2023
Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and 1 January 2023
HKFRS Practice Statement 2,
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition 1 January 2023
of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12, 1 January 2023
Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 16, 1 January 2022
Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37, 1 January 2022
Onerous Contracts
- Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRSs, 1 January 2022
Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

These standards, amendments or interpretations
are not expected to have a material impact on the
entity in the current or future reporting periods
and on foreseeable future transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IES:HHEHEE (&
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Subsidiaries (b) MHEB AT

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity where the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power to direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group (refer
to note 2(c)).

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement
of financial position respectively.

R AEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MBI RMEE

(LB TET)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 I EE:HEME (&

108

POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account
for business combinations not under common control.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value
of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.
Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured at either fair value or
the present ownership interests’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at their acquisition date fair
value, unless another measurement basis is required by
HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

(c)

EHaf

AEEFABEER AR HBEHR
EBOEHAR - BWENBARES
ENNEREMEREE ARWE
FRBEEANFFEEEERASEBEFTH
TRENRAAEEFE -PREENR
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REREAREDBEREESTH
HFEENRITRILPIME-IF
ERME R PT A Hth BB 2 W
BEHHNARBESE RIFEEM
BREZERELRAUAEMFAERRE
8o

BEEENAEEERZ-

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2021 ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

CLETTEI™)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IES:HHEHEE (&
POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Business combinations (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 39 in profit
or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’'s net assets
including goodwill.

(c)

(d)

R AEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MBI RMEE

(LB TET)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 I EE:HEME (&
POLICIES (Continued)

110

(e) Segment reporting

(f

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision maker (the “CODM"). The
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the executive directors that makes
strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(i)  Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the
Company functional and the Group's presentation
currency.

(e) PIEH/RSE

(f)

MEDENERTAARHTEER
EARARE E2EEREKE)) AR
BENAFRA - -TELERRE (B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IES:HHEHEE (&
POLICIES (Continued)

(f) Foreign currency translation (Continued) (f) sShEEE (2

(i) Transactions and balances (i) XZRiZER

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are
generally recognised in profit or loss. They are
deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying cash
flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges
or are attributable to part of the net investment in
a foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on
a net basis within other gains/(losses).

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. Translation differences on assets
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as
part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets
such as equities classified as fair value through
other comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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POLICIES (Continued)
(f) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

o assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

° income and expenses for each statement
of profit or loss and statement of
comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions), and

o all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges
of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation
is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated exchange
differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as
part of the gain or loss on sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

CLETTEI™)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(g) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses depreciation. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised
when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to profit or loss during the reporting period in
which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net
of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives
as follows:

o Furniture, fixtures and fittings 3-5 years

o Computer and office equipment 3-5 years
Over the shorter
of term of lease

or 5 years

o Leasehold improvements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IES:HHEHEE (&
POLICIES (Continued)

(8) ME -BER=ME
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESiHHEHEE (&
POLICIES (Continued)
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(8)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (note 2(i)).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are
included in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

(i) Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination are recognised separately from
goodwill and are initially recognised at their fair
value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible
assets acquired in a business combination with
finite useful lives are reported at costs less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with indefinite useful
lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

(8)

(h)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

CLETTEI™)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IES:HHEHEE (&
POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Intangible assets (Continueq)

(i)

(i) Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination (Continued)

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are
expected from use or disposal. Gains and losses
arising from derecognition of an intangible asset,
measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised.

(i) Amortisation methods and periods

The Group amortises intangible assets with a
limited useful life using the straight-line method
over the following periods:

o concession rights 3-8 years

Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESiHHEHEE (&
POLICIES (Continued)

116

(J) Financial assets

(M)

(ii)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income or through profit or loss), and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group's
business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income. For investments in
equity instruments that are not held for trading,
this will depend on whether the Group has made
an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income
("FvOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt instrument when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the financial
assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IES:HHEHEE (&
POLICIES (Continued)

()

Financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and
interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or 10ss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in other gains/(losses) together with
foreign exchange gains and losses.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESiHHEHEE (&
POLICIES (Continued)
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()

(iii)

(iv)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through other comprehensive
income (“OClI"), except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income and
foreign exchange gains and losses which are
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in other
gains/(losses).

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the ECLs associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables, see
note 25 for further details.
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HEEMBRRME
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IES:HHEHEE (&
POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Offsetting financial instruments

)

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position where the Group currently has
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a weighted average method. Net realisable value
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

(m) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. They are generally due for
settlement within 30 days and therefore all classified as
current.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less provision
for impairment.
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(n)

(0)

(p)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on
hand and deposits held at call with financial institutions,
with original maturities of three months or less that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of
financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other
payables are presented as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within twelve months after the
reporting period. They are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IES:HHEHEE (&
POLICIES (Continued)

(q) Borrowings (q &8

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised
in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method. Fees paid on
the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-
down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated
financial statements when the obligation specified in
the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the reporting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 I EE:HEME (&
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(r)

(s)

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset are capitalised during
the period of time that is required to complete and
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying
assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax charge or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and
to unused tax losses.

(i)  Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the company and its subsidiaries
and associates operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and considers whether
it is probable that a taxation authority will accept
an uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures
its tax balances either based on the most likely
amount or the expected value, depending on
which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IES:HHEHEE (&
POLICIES (Continued)

(s) Current and deferred income tax (s) BNHARRIEFRISIR (22

(Continued)

(i) Deferred income tax (i) BEAEFFTZ

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income
tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss and does not give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised
or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences
and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in
foreign operations where the company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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(s) current and deferred income tax
(Continued)

(ii)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
where there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets and liabilities and where the
deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are
offset where the entity has a legally enforceable
right to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

(t) Employee benefit

(i)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave
that are expected to be settled wholly within
twelve months after the end of the period in
which the employees render the related service
are recognised in respect of employees’ services
up to the end of the reporting period and are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are
presented as current employee benefit obligations
in the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IES:HHEHEE (&
POLICIES (Continued)

(t) Employee benefit (Continued) (t) EEEF &

(ii) Post-employment benefit

The employees of the Group are mainly covered
by various defined contribution pension plans.
The Group makes and accrues contributions on
a monthly basis to the pension plans, which are
mainly sponsored by the related government
authorities that are responsible for the pension
liabilities to retired employees. Under such
plans, the Group has no other significant legal or
constructive obligations for retirement benefits
beyond the said contributions, which are
expensed as incurred.

(u) Provisions

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make
good obligations are recognised when the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation and the amount
can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised
for future operating losses. Where there are a number
of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will
be required in settlement is determined by considering
the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with
respect to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’'s best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period. The discount rate used to
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESiHHEHEE (&

126

POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when goods or services is
provided to the customer. Depending on the terms of
the contract and the laws that apply to the contract,
goods or services may be provided over time or at
a point in time. Goods or services is provided over
time if the Group’s performance meets any one of the
following criteria:

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

o creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If goods or services transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains the goods or services.

(v)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IES:HHEHEE (&
POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Revenue recognition (Continued) (v) WzfEsd (&

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on one of
the following methods that best depicts the Group's
performance in satisfying the performance obligation:

o direct measurements of the value transferred by
the Group to the customer; or

o the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of
the performance obligation.

If a contract involves multiple goods or services, the
transaction price will be allocated to each performance
obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices.
Where these are not directly observable, they are
estimated based on expected cost plus margin.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an
unconditional right to consideration. A right to
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.

The following is a description of the accounting policies
for the principal revenue streams of the Group:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESiHHEHEE (&
POLICIES (Continued)

128

(v) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(M)

Provision of smart retail services

The Group engaged in smart retail business which
includes distribution, maintenance and technical
support of omni-channel payment devices and
software applications, provision of software
development services, provision of technical
consultancy services for cloud server service,
internet of things and SMS traffic service.

Revenue from the omni-channel payment
services, technical consultancy services for cloud
server service and SMS traffic service are charged
based on customers’ volume of usage such as
amount of payments processed, server usage and
SMS traffic volume, and are recognised when the
service is delivered to the customer.

Revenue from the provision of software
development services and certain technical
consultancy services are recognised at point in
time when the service is rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IES:HHEHEE (&
POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Revenue recognition (Continued) (v) WzfEsd (&

(ii) credit referral and service fee (i) GEITBREREE

The Group engages in operating an online
consumer finance marketplace by providing an
online platform which matches borrowers with
investors. The Group determined that it is not
the legal lender and legal borrower in the loan
origination and repayment process. Therefore,
the Group does not record loans receivable and
payable arising from the loans between investors
and borrowers on its marketplace.

The total consideration received from borrowers
generally includes the services fee for facilitating
loan origination and for providing ongoing monthly
services (mainly covering cash processing
services and collection services), and also
includes contribution to the quality assurance
fund, which provides a protection mechanism to
investors who subscribe to these loans.

The total consideration from borrowers is first
allocated to the quality assurance fund payables
at fair value which meets the definition of a
financial guarantee under HKFRS 9, and the
remaining amount is then allocated to credit
referral services and ongoing monthly services.
The Group generally collects the entire amount
relating to credit referral and ongoing monthly
services as one combined fee.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MBI RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (T R)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 I EE:HEME (&
POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Revenue recognition (Continued) (v) WzfEsd (&

Apartment leasing income from leasing properties
is recognised on straight-line basis over the term
of lease.

(ii)  credit referral and service fee (Continued) (i) EENBRIREE (B)
The Group considers the credit referral services KEERGEENBRERIFTES
and ongoing monthly services as distinct BRBRATENEART -8
performance obligations. Although the Group REEEFEBHEZERY
does not sell these services separately, the EREEDRAMEN M ZHH
Group determined that both deliverables have BEIBE AM ~EERE
standalone value. However, the Group does not BREZERD TAEEE=
provide these services separately, and the third- FEEZFH RATERERBRE
party evidence of selling price does not exist HFERILERBRESREN AR
neither, as public information is not available BErlo AL AEBRFRBAEBRMK
regarding the amount of fees that competitors KM EZBEEETRABOEEN
charge for these services. As a result, the Group REGAEBEE EFADEN
uses the expected-cost-plus-a-margin approach BEE - SREEGEENBNRBE
to determine its best estimate standalone selling WENKREEAGMAZESEIL
prices of the different performance obligations ERmEREI ARG PR
as the basis for allocation. The total service BMRERBORBZEGHIEE
fee allocated to credit referral is recognised as TEMBAERRAUNEGERR 5
revenue upon execution of loan agreements BETHEEARERNEXES -
between investors and borrowers. The service fee EWINBESHCERINREZE
allocated to post-origination services are deferred EE AEEREUBERARRA
and recognised over the period of the loan on BR—EIGHNEE IR 608
a straight-line method, which approximates the o
pattern of when the underlying services are
performed. When the cash received is different
from the revenue recognised, a “Contract Asset”
or “Contract Liability” shall be recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

(iii) Apartment leasing (iii) ABHE

HA 4 2 B0 A B TR U A A R
Py LU B 45 A R ED o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iv) Service income

Revenue from provision of management,
marketing and operating services for lottery
system and lottery halls is recognised when the
services are rendered.

Revenue from provision of sports training services
is recognised when the services are rendered.

(w) Earnings per share

(i)

(ii)

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

° the profit attributable to owners of the
company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares; and

o by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary
shares issued during the year and excluding
treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures
used in the determination of basic earnings per
share to take into account:

° the after-income tax effect of interest and
other financing costs associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares; and

. the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MBI RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (T R)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESiHHEHEE (&
POLICIES (Continued)

(X) Leases (x) &

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease
incentives receivable.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in
the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is
used, being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in
a similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

] where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was
received,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IES:HHEHEE (&
POLICIES (Continued)

(X) Leases (Continued) (x) g =&

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-
free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases
held by the Group, which does not have recent
third-party financing; and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available
to the individual lessee (through recent financing or
market data) which has a similar payment profile to the
lease, then the Group use that rate as a starting point to
determine the incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

J any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received,;

o any initial direct costs; and

° restoration costs.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 I EE:HEME (&

134

POLICIES (Continued)

(X) Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all
leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-
line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term
leases are leases with a lease term of twelve months or
less without a purchase option.

The Group has early adopted Amendment to HKFRS 16
— Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions from 1 January
2020. The amendment provides an optional practical
expedient allowing lessees to elect not to assess
whether a rent concession related to Covid-19 is a
lease modification. Lessees adopting this election may
account for qualifying rent concessions in the same
way as they would if they were not lease modifications.
The practical expedient only applies to rent concessions
occurring as a direct consequence of the Covid-19
pandemic and only if all of the following conditions are
met (i) the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change; (i) any reduction in
lease payments affects only payments due on or before
30 June 2021; and (iii) there is no substantive change to
other terms and conditions of the lease.

The Group has applied the practical expedient to all
qualifying Covid-19-related rent concessions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

CLETTEI™)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IES:HHEHEE (&
POLICIES (Continued)

(y)

(2)

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.

Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in profit or loss as part of other income.

(aa) Convertible bonds

The component parts of the convertible bonds are
classified separately as financial liability and equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument. A conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of
cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of
the Company’'s own equity instruments is an equity
instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component (including any embedded non-equity
derivatives features) is estimated by measuring the
fair value of similar liability that does not have an
associated equity component.

(y)

(2)
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 I EE:HEME (&

136

POLICIES (Continued)

(aa) convertible bonds (Continued)

The conversion option classified as equity is
determined by deducting the amount of the liability
component from the fair value of the compound
instrument as a whole. This is recognised and
included in equity, net of income tax effects, and
is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the
conversion option classified as equity will remain in
equity until the conversion option is exercised, in
which case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. Where the conversion
option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the
convertible bonds, the balance recognised in equity
will be transferred to accumulated losses. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or 0SS upon conversion or
expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation
of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to
the equity component are charged directly to equity.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component are
included in the carrying amount of the liability portion
and amortised over the period of the convertible bonds
using the effective interest method.
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HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IES:HHEHEE (&
POLICIES (Continued)

(ab)Warrants (ab) R ARG EH
Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled KANB) BT 2R BB ERTELRR
by a fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of EUARARFABEZEERATA®E
the Company’s own equity instruments are equity No-BRETHAREZTER/NAAEMNIE
instruments. The net proceeds received from the issue FEEN R GR Hﬂ&aﬁﬁ%fﬁ) AIEST o 58
of warrants are recognised in equity in warrant reserve. REBRERNDREZEITERSE
The warrant reserve will be transferred to share capital BERAKRRKRD HEIRR- - MRRES
and share premium accounts upon the exercise of the REHBMARETE L RBR%E
warrants. When the warrants are still not exercised at BBV TR EREREE

the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
the warrant reserve will be transferred to accumulated

losses.
(ac) Discontinued operation (ac) BARLEEEETH

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity ERLEEXHERREHERNDE
that has been disposed of or is classified as held %%1?&’%2@52451 > 1T & B 17 18
for sale and that represents a separate major line of ERBUIFEXBRLEEME B~
business or geographical area of operations, is part ng,gﬁaglj — B UEEZREH N
of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of such a line CEtEmE AEABEMBEZ
of business or geographical area of operations, or is a HIB AT BRLELEERTZ ZER
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. relRnkEMEERARIEZY]C

The results of discontinued operations are presented
separately in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MBI RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (T R)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESiHHEHEE (&
POLICIES (Continued)

(ad)Related parties (ad)RAZER
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: ETHBERT —ABHEABERANE
E5R
(@) the party is a person or a close member of that (@) ZAAEEBATHZALTREL
person’s family and that person: MEez AL
(i) has control or joint control of the Group; () EHNEEEIAER ;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i HAREEBEEAFE ;o
(i) is a member of the key management (iy BAEAEBRELAEERFT QG
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the ZTEEEERE ;
Group;
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following by ZAEABRBEUTREER

conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the (h EBEREAAEEAFR —5%H
same group; ZHREBRE ;

(i) one entity is an associate or a joint venture (ih BEBAZ BB FHB—5
of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary B8 8 -WBAZHE
or fellow subsidiary of the other entity); ZAMBARE) 2HE AT

éﬁ@n )

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures (i) ERERAERAR—F=
of the same third party; FZBaERTE;
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HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

CLETTEI™)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FE
POLICIES (Continued)

(ad)Related parties (Continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(iv)

(Vii)

(viii)

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.

= =

[= 1 =]

TERBEE (F

(ad)RRZET (&2

5

ZhR/BEAEUTHRAER

&)

(iv)

v)

(vii)

(viii)

s —

ERAS=ZHERZS
ABRBEF—BEAFE=

BREZBERT

BEREATERENRALEHR
EFHEESHEEBREMN @M
RIURILEBEBFEE

BERR@MATEANLES
S HEHES

(QFTREALTHEREAE
EAREURER (WER
ZBRE) 2TEEEEM
=4

BEREAAER—AHZEEZ
EFORERAEENFE
ESARRKEIEEEE
ABRF -

ZBANTZERA P ERARNRASR
RETXSFEEZLALTHRZY

A
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a) Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks, including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group's overall risk management program focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance. Risk management is carried out
by the senior management of the Group.

()

Market risk
Foreign exchange risk

Transactional currency exposures arise from
revenue or cost of sales and services by operating
units in currencies other than the unit’s functional
currency. Substantially all the Group’s revenue
and cost of sales and services are denominated
in the functional currency of the operating units
making the revenue, and substantially all the cost
of sales and services are denominated in the
operating unit's functional currency. Accordingly,
the directors consider the Group is not exposed
to significant foreign currency risk. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management of the
Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

In virtue of exposures on foreign currency
risk being minimal, the respective quantitative
disclosures have not been prepared.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MBI RMEE

(LB TET)

3

5 B B I

(a) MBERREER

FEENEFTHCHAERSEMT
Rk BEmERE  EERERNRS
ESRB -AEENERRREES
B BB R IZH A B R M I
HEREHAERPYHBRENBEET
N -RREERAsEENSRE
BEET

(i) WHEEE

5 BE /= B

RpMERRBBEEBUEE
BUINEEKUINEESEN
=78 BB U A W e BB T AR A
KoAEBBAZH R RIHE
R AUEEWARNEER
UMIHEEERIIE BERZH
HERBRBHAUEEBMNI
BEERIE-EHIL EFRAE
ERETERBERIERR X
& [ 3R B 00 A SN H R EER 0 2R
m rAEREEEEHERIINER
oW RARER  TEHEKR
HMNES JR BR 1 L ¥ o

ERSMERBRMOMATRE  #
I iR 2 RE G EEHEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continueq)

(@) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(M)

(ii)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group does not have material exposure to
interest rate risk. A reasonably possible change in
interest rate in the twelve months is assessed by
the Group; which could have immaterial change
in the Group's loss for the year and accumulated
losses. Changes in interest rates have no material
impact on the Group's other components of
equity. The Group adopts centralised treasury
policies in cash and financial management and
focuses on reducing the Group’s overall interest
expenses.

The directors are of the opinion that the Group's
sensitivity to the change in interest rate is
relatively low.

credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The
Group's credit risk mainly arises from cash and
cash equivalents, trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables, including amounts due
from related companies, and financial asset at
FVOCI. The maximum exposure to credit risk
is represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position. Management has policies in
place to monitor the exposures to these credit
risks on an on-going basis.

CLETTEI™)

3 MBEAKRER (E

(@) MBRBERR (&
(i) HEER
I B 1%

AEBRTERBRERNRER-
FEEETETZEARFEN
GETEES ANAEENF
W18 5 3R 5T E5 18 7) AE G Al AY &
AR -MEREBEHHAERAM
BRafBPAeEMERTE K
EENRERMBEERIFR
MEER TR ERAESER
BEREMNSMX-

EERR FEEHNXEFHH
BREBE-

(i) FEmREE

EERBZMENEEEE A&
ENEERREIERERE KRR
EEEBY BZRERE -BE
R B A BE W kI8 (B2 4% 18 Ui R 6k
NBRIE) UKRBRREBES A
HME2EBAZEREE- &S
FERBEGREMBRIRTE
ExMEENKREE -EEEE
RIEBR UHBEEZFREE
JR B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR M 5E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continueq)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continueq)

(ii)  Credit risk (Continued)

For cash and cash equivalents, they are all
deposited or traded with high quality financial
institutions without significant credit risk.

The Group has significant concentration of
credit risk in industries or countries in which the
customers operate. Significant concentrations
of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has
significant exposure to individual customers. At
the end of the reporting period, 36% and 47%
(2020: 39% and 88%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group’s largest customer and
the five largest customers respectively within the
smart retail business segment.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring ECLs which permits the
uses of a lifetime expected loss allowance for all
trade receivables.

To measure the ECLS, trade receivable has
been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due.

(U725 T)
3 AR
(@)

EE CVE

MBERREE (&

(i)

EERE (&)

REMBREFEVEFRNLES
AEERBNEESRMEBIEA
ZERBRT -

FERBEZELEENTERER
GESEERHNEERAR-EFE
BEEEEFNBELEFEREASE
BEHENELRKIES KRR E
- RREPFR BFZEKAIE
4BEERI36%K247% (20204F © 39%
%88%) DRIKEXAERZTES
EXBOIBNRATLRAEARE
BEo

AEBRAEEVBRSENSE
IR ENEIEH AT E2EMAE
BB A AETHEmEE
SEWRIER R FERTEIEE
B

R ERHEEEE BB
AIEE@?F;EHBW:.%FW 1
REHE BT oM
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continueq)

(@) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(ii) ~ credit risk (Continued)

The Group recognised lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables carried at
amortised cost based on either individually
customers who are long overdue with significant
amounts or known insolvencies or non-response
to collection activities, or collectively assessing
them for likelihood of recovery based on ageing
of the balances with similar risk characteristics
taking into account the forward looking
information.

Management reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade receivable regularly, if
any, to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are recognised for irrecoverable amounts. In
this regard, the management considers that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced. The
loss allowance as at 31 December 2021 and 2020
is illustrated as below:

CLETTEI™)

3 MBEAKRER (E

(@) MBRBERR (&
(i) 1SEER (&

AEBMBBENAINIRZE S
R RIEREEFEPEMEEE
B HERRABHRERSREN
BAEDERIARHUEIEE(F
HEEZERNER > REZEA
EHEBENNBRT REAER
LREBFHZ GHRRERNZEE
FETERTMMUREEEZA

BEME o

EEESTHRNENEZE
WIE (AE) el Yol 58 UL
HER R BT W [o] <& RE 7 58 B S Y
BEEBE At EEERAK
EENEERBEABREME RN
20216 K220205% 12831 B B k518
BEWMT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MBI RMEE

(LB TET)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(ii)  credit risk (Continued)

3 MBAKRER (E

(a)

MBERREE (&

(i) 1EEmEE (&

Gross

Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHARSIEEX  ARERMEE 0 BHIERE
HK$'000  HK$'000
FHATT FAT

As at 31 December 2021 142021512831H
Current (not past due) BER (GRanHp) 0.7% 11,449 79
1-30 days past due A EA1ZE30H 11.1% 4,526 504
31-60 days past due B EA31ZE60H 87.8% 262 230
61-90 days past due B EA61ZE90H 89.1% 348 310
More than 90 days past due A HABE90H 100.0% 1,301 1,301
17,886 2,424

Gross

Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount  allowance
FEREEEX WRERmEE  HEEEG
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET

As at 31 December 2020 #2020%F12H831H
Current (not past due) BER (GRaHA) 0.1% 1,968 2
1-30 days past due A ER1ZE30H 3.2% 495 17
31-60 days past due B EA31ZE60H N/AT3E F = S
61-90 days past due BHI61ZE90H N/AT3E F = =
More than 90 days past due BHAEBEo0H 100.0% 59 59
2,522 78
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HMERREIR E
(Continueq)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) MAFBEREMGEZR (&
(i) credit risk (Continued) (i) 1=EREE &)

Trade receivables are written off where there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators
that there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery include, amongst others, the failure of
a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the
Group, and a failure to make contractual payments
for a period of more than 90 days past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

The credit quality of deposits and other
receivables including amounts due from related
companies have been assessed with reference
to historical information about the counterparties
default. Management does not believe the credit
risk are significant, considering the existing
related parties do not have defaults in the past
and management does not expect any losses from
non-performance by these counterparties.

Financial asset at FVOCI is considered to be
insignificant and have low credit risk, and the
loss allowance recognised during the year was
therefore limited to 12 months’ expected losses.
The instrument is considered to be low credit risk
where it has a low risk of default and the issuer
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term.

R AEE

ERBRAE » 2021 FERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR M 5E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continueq)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continueq)

(iii) Liquidity risk

3 MHBER

(a)

(LB TET)

EE CVE

MBRERREZR (&)

(iii) FTEE Z mEE

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk
management rests with the Board, which has
built an appropriate liquidity risk management
framework to meet the Group’s short, medium
and long-term funding and liquidity management
requirements.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
adequate reserves, continuously monitoring
forecast and actual cash flows, and matching the
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial
liabilities at the end of the reporting period, based
on the contractual undiscounted payments, was

EEgHRDEcRBEEEER
KRET UERIGBNREE
TREEERE LUnELEE
NI -FHREREREERR
E2EEEKo

FEREERERTENRHSE
FEEZTEBARERIRSRE
THRHSCEMEEHBENT
BRI EILEERESES
JRLBz o

RBREHER xEBERSHR
MRMMGENERERIHE
;T

as follows:
Total
Less than contractual Total
1 year or undiscounted carrying
ondemand 1-2years cash flows amounts
—ERFH BHRER
BEX —ERE HRERELE REMAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET TAET FAT
At 31 December 2021 1#2021512831H
Non-derivative FTEERARE
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables BRREMEMRUE 19,531 - 19,531 19,531
Lease liabilities HE&E 1,509 297 1,806 1,748
Amount due to ultimate B REERAR ZHE
holding company 18,965 - 18,965 18,965
Amount due to B —BHEERAT
an intermediate HE
holding company 4,290 - 4,290 4,290
Loan from an intermediate R B — T EZERAE
holding company B 4,997 - 4,997 4,946
49,292 297 49,589 49,480
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3

(Continueq)
(@) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iii) Liquidity risk (Continued)

MBRKRER (&

(a)

MBREREE (&

(iii) FEEZEE (&)

Total
Less than contractual Total
1 year or undiscounted  carrying
ondemand 1-2years 2-5years cash flows amounts
BHIRIIR
—FERNE RERE
REX —EWE WMELRF wE| RELE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHETT FET FETT FHET
At 31 December 2020 ##20205%12H31H
Non-derivative FTEEHERE
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables B3 &EMAER
/O 5,804 = = 5,804 5,804
Lease liabilities HE&E 1,595 1,024 45 2,664 2,493
Amount due to e — R R R R
an intermediate NEVZ A
holding company 2,103 - - 2,103 2,103
9,502 1,024 45 10,571 10,400

(b) capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns to shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders, and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of the bank borrowings
and dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt.

(b)

BEXER

FEBREEEANEERRELEER
FEFREEE  USRRIEHOK RS
HMROFAARHEEH > LHERE
EHNERRBURBEE M

BERNRABEARE  AEERT
RBRITERRKNTFRRENKE S
B -MRRBREES HITHRILE
BELURMET -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR M 5E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continueq)

(b) Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as total borrowings divided
by total equity. Total borrowings include “current and
non-current borrowings” as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position. Total equity is ‘equity’
as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2021 and 2020
were as follows:

(LB TET)

3

MEBERRER (&

(b) BEHFEE (&

FEBERBEEREBIEXREEER-
ZEERBRERABBRR U RSB ERS
H-EMBREEREEERERMN
PRI URE R IERBN AR  Em A8 ER
RGCEERRRAFME MER ) 5
o

120214F K% 2020F12B31HMNE & &
BELEENT :

As at 31 December

128318
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT TR
Total borrowings B4R KA 4,946 -
Total equity AR RE 40,359 54,814
Gearing ratio EABBILE 12% 0%

Gearing ratio increased when compared with that of
the year ended 31 December 2020 resulted primarily
from the increase in loan from an intermediate holding
company for the year ended 31 December 2021.

BEFE2020F 1283 1B IEEEMELE B
AEBRLEREN DEEAREEE
2021F12B31HIEFERE—BHHE
ERABIZERIG -
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HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MBERREIRE Z
(Continueq)
(c) Fair value estimation (c) anEEMET
Fair value of financial assets that are measured at HEEMEEEAA B EAENEH
fair value on a recurring basis BENAALIEE
The following table presents the Group's assets that TRARFL20215 2202051283 1H
are measured at fair value as at 31 December 2021 and KAEBRAANBEIFENEE !
2020:
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial asset at FVOCI BAREBEFAEMEZEWBADN
EHMEE
— Club debenture —ZES 330 330
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MBI RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2021

(LB TET)

3 MBAKRER (E

() AnEEME &

F2021F 12831HBI X A B EE 4R

At 31 December 2021

7£2021512831H
Valuation techniques
and key inputs Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
BB M e = B2 A B B B F=4& et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET THET FHETT
Financial asset
ETMEE
Club debenture Market comparison
BFIES approach based on
recent transaction price
B Z2EEH
R ZAm A - 330 - 330

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2020

F2020F 12531HBI A A B EE R

At 31 December 2020

120201283 1H
Valuation techniques
and key inputs Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B M R = B2 A B B4 Bk Bk st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHETT
Financial asset
ETMEE
Club debenture Market comparison
IS approach based on
recent transaction price
BRI ZEREN
M L&A - 330 - 330

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
there were no transfer between Level 1 and Level 2 or
transfer into or out of Level 3.

P& E20214F &2020E12831H IEE
B fE—4REE R M EeEs:E,
ZHRITEEAGEL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR S MBS HmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION OF
UNCERTAINTY

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition,
will seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs
to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s accounting
policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that may have a
financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Provision of the ECL allowance

Trade receivables

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, basing on the Group's past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period.

LB TTHIR)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR M 5E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION OF
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

152

(b) Income taxes

(c)

The Group is subject to income tax regulations under
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), Hong Kong,
the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands (the
“BVI"). Significant judgement is required in determining
the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current and deferred
income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which
such determination is made.

Determination of the lease term

In determining the lease term, management considers
all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive for lessees to exercise an extension option,
or not exercise a termination option. Extension options
(or periods after termination options) are only included
in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be
extended (or not terminated).

For leases of apartments, the following factors are
normally the most relevant:

- If there are significant penalties to terminate (or
not extend), the Group is typically reasonably
certain to extend (or not terminate).

- If any leasehold improvements are expected to
have a significant remaining value, the Group
is typically reasonably certain to extend (or not
terminate).

(LB TET)

4 FAEGstHE KRGS TFRERER

ZEERR (&

(b) FR1S7R

(c)

AERBRETREARKME (TH
B BB HEEERABEERE
E(RBEBRES)) ZAERZER
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EHEXRAb - AEEEZERS M
EEARMRZHNRRRENAEL
MAEE - FEBRBEHBAIINER
CREBHZ A ESRNEBEEZEE
BREE -HILEEFRZRENELE
REYP LBz EBAMAR AAE
HEBEREEFHARETEHEZA
HRBIEFTSIREERAR-

HEINEE

HEEENE EEEEEAELEAAE
AITEEREERE (HEBFTERLLE
B NKEERBNFMASENGBER
BEECEBTHEHEARER (XK
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Z®BBIHEARD) SRl Et AFEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4 FRGHHERESAFTEERE
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION OF ZEXEEXRR &

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(c) Determination of the lease term (c) HHEAWERE (&)

(Continued)

-  Otherwise, the Group considers other factors - BA - AXEBRGERERAMAZR>
including historical lease durations and the costs BiEEFHERERKBRER
and business disruption required to replace the BEEMENMAKREERNE
leased asset. Bt o

The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually HEEREER LEWITE (I RHET

exercised (or not exercised) or the Group becomes ) AAEE@BSETTE (HFTHE &

obliged to exercise (or not exercise) it. The assessment EER MHASRENTG -EEE
of reasonable certainty is only revised if a significant EERFEREKNERECMEHZT

event or a significant change in circumstances occurs, HEEREBARMBEARTESR K

which affects this assessment, and that is within the EEFgBISEREMNTt

control of the lessee.

REVENUE 5 W=
An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows: KEEAEEZWHmSHWT -
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT T
Revenue from contracts with RESAVBHREERNE155R
customers within the scope HEANRERITLNGHOKE
of HKFRS 15
Provision of smart retail services RUHEBZERY 34,393 32,971
Credit referral and service fee BEENBRRBE = 138
Provision of management, marketing and MMEZEZ#ARFEEARERHEEE
operating services for lottery system and ~ HiHH#E RS ERTS
lottery halls - 197
Provision of sports training services IRHAE S IIARAR TS 1,938 1,320
36,331 34,626
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR M 5E

(LB TET)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

REVENUE (Continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

As at 31 December 2021, the aggregated amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations under the Group’'s existing contracts is
approximately HK$18,000 (2020: HK$153,000). The Group will
recognise the expected revenue in future when or as the
service is rendered, which is expected to occur over the next
12 to 24 months (2020: 12 to 24 months).

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to its revenue contracts such that the above
information does not include information about revenue that
the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under the contracts that had an
original expected duration of one year or less.

Wz (#&)

MEERGHNAEERFEORS
B3 Z BN

R2021FE12B31H  ERPEREEAERRES
HMETHRBAEENIR ZEREBENS
18,0003 75 (20204F : 153,000 7T) ° A EE
BERKERFESIRHE BN EAKI2E24
183 (20204F : 1252418 B 3 4E) B HEERTE
HAUR & ©

FEBEREREMBREERNF15585E121
BRNATREDEZEANEREGA
> FAEBENFTBREAERTERITEH (R
MR —FHER) BTIRBBOEFRE
BEREENRZER -

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2021 ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR S MBS HmRME

CLETTEI™)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating segments are determined based on
information reported to the Board of the Company, being
the CODM, for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of
goods or services delivered or provided.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
ceased its business in apartment leasing business which are
classified as discontinued operation.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments
under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments during the year ended 31
December 2021 are as follows:

Continuing operations

- Smart retail business — provision of new retail digital
transformation solutions and new retail integrated
software service platform to chain retailers and
merchants, and extended services such as cloud
services, omni-channel payment services and SMS
marketing services, etc.;

= Financial technology services business — provision of
credit referral and services such as credit facilitation
services and post-origination services;

- Sports training business — provision of sports training
Services;

- Lottery business — development of computer system
and provision of technical consultancy services market.

hEARBIERARAR « 2021 FERS

DEER

FEBZEEDENRBEALRBDESE

(BIEBEERRE) TE2RUETERD
kD ERFEFEZENEE  MIERMR
A MR ERS 2B/ -

BE2020F 12831 LFE  AEEBERL
NBHEED ZFEBFHIE/ERLELE
Efe

Jm

lEME B E2021F12831HIEFE » &
EEREEBVEREEDNFSHRKLEHIE
2O 2RBLEEDEBNT

TEEEXRT
- BETEXB-AEHTELERDB
FREGSEXFTCBEMERLER

FEE - BERERE L NOE
BRI B AR RS MR
SIEMRES ;

- TRMERBEB-RHEENBK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MBI RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

156

Discontinued operation

(a)

Apartment leasing business — management of
apartment leasing for property owners and lessees.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and

(LB TET)

6 SNHEEHN#E

BRILEERR

- ABBEEB-BREIRABARMH
ABAENERE.
(@) PEREKRFEE

URTs e 28 DR D2 REBD

. 2 = 5
results by reportable segment: WK EEDT !
Continuing operations Discontinued operation
REGERE BRIEEERH
Financial technology Sports training Apartment leasing
Smart retail business services business Lottery business business Subtotal business Total
BRTERY ERURRESH FRER LEEEES it L ES ] it
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
HKS'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET FET FET FET TFET FET TFET FET TFET FET TFET FET TET FET
Segment revenue from ERIRBIMIEEZ
external customers recognised: AERE
- over time —R—-BEER - - = 138 = 197 1,938 1320 1,938 1,655 = 3,081 1,938 4736
- point in time —RE-EH# 34,393 3297 - - - - - - 34393 3297 - - 34393 297
Revenue from external customers RENIEE 2 34,393 397 - 138 - 197 1,938 1320 36,331 34,626 - 3,081 36,331 37,707
Segment (loss)/profit HE (F8) /& (7,945) 9,490 (1,454) (8,682) (540) (1,356) (432) (2203 (10371) (2,751) - (2,004 (10,371) (4,755)
Interest on bank deposits, ROENFE EHHEAR
other income and other gains/(losses), net Hitgi/ (§8) 38 1,218 1919 (6,587) 1 (5,369) 1920
Central administration costs RRTEAE (8,472) (8,740 (1) (8,473) (8,740
Loss before tax Gk (17,625) (9,572) (6,588) (2003 (24,213) (11,875

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There were no
inter-segment sales in the current year (2020: nil).

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in note 2. Segment (loss)/profit represents the (l0ss)/
profit incurred by each segment without allocation
of interest on bank deposits, other income and other
gains/(losses), net and central administration costs.
This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance.

EXERZDBREIREREBIINFERZI
moARFEWEDMBHE (20204 © ) o

MENBZ Gt REWE2PM AEE
B HER -0 (BB T ERESE 08
EEZ (BB aF (LEDERTERF
B HMBARH MU, (B8 P8R
RRITEAE) LR ERDE KDL
RAEMEEREERREERZBR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities

CLETTEI™)

6 SNEEHN#E

(b) nEEERER

Continuing operations Discontinued operation
BELEEE BRIEEEEH
Financial technology Sports training Apartment leasing

smart retail business ~ services business Lottery business business Subtotal business Total

BRTLER SRNRREEE FREH L EEEES ] it ACEES &t
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAT TER FAT TER FET TER FET TET FET TER FET TET FET
Segment assets NEEE 30,065 17,481 37,997 41993 1,368 220 658 1,553 70,088 63,247 = 2 70,088 63271
Corporate and unallocated assets TrERADNEEE 20,853 3124 - - 20,853 3124
Consolidated assets GREE 90,941 66,371 - 2% 90,941 66,395
Segment liabilties TEER 27,132 2,986 12 547 628 589 526 1212 28,398 5334 - 52 28,398 5386
Corporate and unallocated liabilities TrERADNEEE 22,184 6,195 - - 22,184 6,195
Consolidated liabilities GRaR 50,582 11,529 - 5 50,582 11,581

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance
and allocating resources between segments:

J all assets are allocated to operating segments
other than other unallocated head office and
corporate assets; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities.

RBEESBREREDEBEBIEER -

s FREBEEBASEELZENE MHHEM

ROEBEBREEEERI

)4

s MAERRHANIEELENE EHM

ROEBBREEEBERIN
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(c) Other segment information

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

6 DEEH @

(c) HthpEEH

Continuing operations Discontinued operation
ittt BRIEAEZE
Financial technology Sports training
Smart retail business services business Lottery business business Subtotal Apartment leasing business Total
BRRERE SRUERRER Z BRUISEE it AERARE LR
2021 2020 2021 200 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 200 2021 200 2021 200
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000
TET TER TET TER TET TER TER TER TER TER R TEL R TEL
Depreciation of property; % BERREZAE
plant and equipment 17 2 - - 25 8 2 3 4 8 = 1225 4 1313
Unallocated depreciation of property, FARNE BRRREZNE
plant and equipment 1% 32 - - 14 32
Total depreciation of property; 0¥ BERAGZITELE
plant and equipment 58 40 - 125 58 1,665
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEZNE 765 7 - - - - 628 633 1,393 858 - 3474 1,393 4332
Unallocated depreciation of FIREBREELNE
right-of-use assets 635 611 = S 635 611
Total depreciation of ight-of-use assets ~ ERRBEZFELE 2,028 1469 - 3474 2,028 4983
Loss on disposal of property; HENE HRRREER
plant and equipment - - - - - - - - - - - 4487 - 4487
Unallocated gain on disposal of poperty, & E4% - BRRREZFHRRE
plant and equipment = v} = = - o
- @ = 4687 = 4685
Interest on lease liabilties BEEAZAE 51 10 - - - - [l 7 92 8 - 65 92 710
Unallocated gain on disposal of property, &% BERREZRITRE
plant and equipment 2 5% - - 2 5%
Totalinterest on lease liabities RRARZHBEE 118 140 - 625 118 75
Interest expense on convertible bonds TRRESZ NI = S - - - 167 - - - 1674 - - - 1674
Qualiy assurance fund loss, net EERESER 38 - - - 701 - - - - - 701 - - - 7001
Quality assurance fund recovered BHEEERES - = - (291) - S = = - 29 - = - )
(Reversal)recognition of loss allowance ~ &HEEEEAEZ (BE) /%2
for contract assets - - (28) 982 - - - - (28) 982 - - (28) 982
Recogition of loss allowance ERREMELTBEEAE LD
for trade and other receivables 2299 7 39 o = 1462 = = 2,338 153 = = 2,338 1536
Recognition of loss allowance ER-EREAR-2FERRR2
for amount due from a non-controlling FEFERERD
shareholder of a subsidiary - - - - - - - 1,500 - 1,500 - - - 1500
write-off of trade and other receivables  ER REMEMHEHH - - - - - - - - - - - an - an
Gain on lease termination AER 2 WS - - - - - - - - - - - (5,539) - (5,539)
Covie-19-reated rent concession FERASERRSHR = = = = o = (33) 9 (33) 9 - (119) (33) (218)
Gain on disposal of & subsidiary HE-BHBLARZKE - & - & - (2.407) - S - (2,400 - - - (2,400
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries HEHBATZER - o - - - - - - - S 6,616 - 6,616 -
Waiver of other payables BEEMEHTE - - - - - - - - - - - (594 - (594
Waiver of contract iabilties BeANER - - - - - - - - - - - 36) - 36)
Additions to non-current assets MEFhEEE 3 31 - - - - 5 - 3 31 - - 38 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 SDEEN (&
(d) Geographical information (d) #th&&ER
The Group operates in two principal geographical areas AEEZEBEEMNR MEME—
- the PRC and Hong Kong. BB
The Group's revenue from external customers by KREBREBHMEI D ZRKBINEBE
location of operations and information about its non- PzWmkiZEEMEE D 2 IER
current assets by location of assets are detailed below: BEEZENEBUT

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
REIEBE R Z W FERBEE
2021 2020 2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FBIT FAET FEIT

continuing operations BRI EET

The PRC == 34,393 33,306 961 943
Hong Kong 5% 1,938 1,320 1,031 1,723
36,331 34,626 1,992 2,666

Discontinued operation BiRIEEEEHTE

The PRC H - 3,081 - -

36,331 37,707 1,992 2,666
The non-current assets information above is based on X ERIERHEENERNZEE
the locations of the assets and excludes financial asset FTEMMEHERBIEREAABES
at FVOCI. AEMEEBANEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR M 5E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(e) Information about major customers

Revenue derived from customers that accounted for

(LB TET)

6 NEER E

(e) XEEXRZEHN

FRERERBR@I0BIULZE

10% or more of the Group's total revenue during the PUmIFEMT
year are disclosed below:
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAEIT
Smart retail business BETEER
customer A ZHA N/AFR & Rt 10,621
Customer B EFEB 8,969 9,962
Customer C ZAC N/AF & Bt 3,932
Ccustomer D ZAD 9,566 N/ATR7E A
# The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the HE I AT 2 T A A B2 B 4B U = B9 10% ©

total revenue of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

OTHER INCOME 7 HkA
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Bank interest income RITHE WA 673 1,758
Government grants (note (i)) BT B (BTEE3)) 139 251

Interest income on financial assets at FVPL # A A BESABENESHEEDN

FEUWA - 21
Covid-19-related rent concession A ERFSHEEESH S 33 99
Tax concession (note (ii) RSB E (MY5EdI)) 127 -
Sundry income HIFT A 277 162
1,249 2,291

Notes:

(i)

In 2021, government grants income included an amount of
approximately HK$130,000 (2020: HK$214,000) from the Employment
Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by the
Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR"). The
purpose of the funding is to provide financial support to enterprises to
retain their employees who would otherwise be made redundant. Under
the terms of the grant, the Group is required not to make redundancies
during the subsidy period and to spend all the funding on paying wages
to the employees.

It represents the tax concession revenue generated by the policy of
additional deduction of input value-added tax.

From 1 April 2019 to 31 December 2021, taxpayers in the production
and living service industries are allowed to add 10% of the current
deductible input value-added tax to offset the value-added tax payable.
As the Group’s businesses meet the requirements of the policy, those
businesses are eligible for the tax benefit.

MIsE :

()

hEARBIERARAR « 2021 FERS

1202156 B/ A B BEBEIITHE
(TEBFE) INRINERES THRME
5T EIAY%Y130,0007 7T (20204 : 214,000/ 7T) °© 3%
YEETZ B EEERHEMBE UR
BrOEERENNES - REFUNGI A&
EREZEMART SR AT B ARHEME A
REfEEIE-

TR IR (BN TR AR A0 51 R BUR T B IR W (B TR
WA o

H2019F481HE2021F12831H AT EE R
EEMRFEMNRARBEBTIRINGERER
REBMNEH10% IR EMILERE AN AEEE
BREZBRER ZSEFIZZ2RNER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MBI RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (T R)

8 OTHER LOSSES, NET 8 HfthEsis B8
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT T
Net foreign exchange gains PE B U 3 KB 371 138
Quality assurance fund loss, net BE2REEmHE FE = (7,021)
Quality assurance fund recovered EldEE - 291
Reversal/(recognition) of loss allowance BB ERBRE BB ()
for contract assets 28 (982)
Recognition of loss allowance B REMBUWRIEGIEREEZ
for trade and other receivables T (2,338) (1,536)
Recognition of loss allowance FEW — I B A B — 2 IEERAR R
for amount due from a non-controlling ZHIBEEEEE 2 ER
shareholder of a subsidiary - (1,500)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RBRBARZWaE = 2,407
Gain on disposal of property, HEME BEAREZWE
plant and equipment - 2
(1,939) (8,201)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

EXPENSES BY NATURE

CLETTEI™)

9 RBRUEHINTHRAX

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FEBT
Cost of inventories recognised as ERBAEIZEERA
an expense (included in cost of Gt AHE KRB A)
sales and services) 130 52
External technical service fees AN EB I 9T AR 75 & 24,570 18,034
Auditor’'s remuneration Z EEN N = 1,000 1,080
Employee benefit expenses BEERFER 17,373 8,754
Directors’ emoluments EEWNE 2,254 2,842
Total staff costs 488 TR A 19,627 11,596
Short-term leases expenses ISR 110 100
Depreciation of property, ME- -BERREZINE
plant and equipment 58 440
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTREEEZINE 2,028 1,469
Other expenses Hhpaxz 5,573 3,703
Total cost of sales and services and HE MRFEMARITHE B8R
administrative expenses 53,096 36,474
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 10 BEERAEH
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FAET FET
Salaries and other benefits in kind HEREMBYERN 13,228 6,360
Contributions to retirement BRREFIFTEIHERR
benefits schemes 2,050 416
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 2,095 1,978
17,373 8,754
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10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR M 5E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (T R)

(Continueq)

(a)

(b)

Pensions - defined contribution plans (a)

No forfeited contributions were utilised during the year
and no forfeited contributions were available at the
year-end to reduce future contributions.

Contributions totalling approximately HK$139,000 (2020:
HK$56,000) were payable to the fund at the year-end.

Five highest paid individuals (b)

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, two (2020: two) were directors of the
Company whose emoluments are included in note 11.
The emoluments of the remaining three (2020: three)
individuals were as follows:

10 EERAER (&

ok

|t

BARE—FEMHRREE
R BEDEERKENR RINEF
o > B4 B IR U 3R AT B LU 8 5K 2R

iR

REXR BARKESZIHHAETLH
139,000 75 (20204 : 56,000 7T) ©

IamE#HES

RAEBLLREHEEFR MA
(20205 - M%) AARBIZEE  H
BN EAABTEE11 o BR ~ =% (20204 :
%) BReHEEZMENT

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Salaries and other benefits in kind HEREMBYEF 1,302 1,120

Contributions to retirement BRREFIETEIHERR
benefits schemes 9 36
Discretionary bonuses I TEAL 464 192
1,775 1,348

Number of individuals
EE A
2021 2020
Emoluments bands B <& 36 [

Nil — HK$1,000,000 £ —1,000,0007 7T 2 3
HK$1,000,000 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,00078 7t —1,500,0007& 7T 1 -
3 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

Directors” emoluments for the year, are disclosed pursuant
to the applicable GEM Listing Rules and the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the six (2020:

CLETTEI™)

11 EEME

FEEZESEMENREBEBAZGEMLEHR
AR EBREFOIMEE -

m754 (20206 : hdh) EE A SEN Z B

five) directors were as follows: FUTF .
Salaries Contributions
and other to retirement
benefits Discretionary benefits
Fees in kind bonus schemes Total
HEREM BIAEFH
ik BB BMBTEAL BEGEEA 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAER AT TR FTAERT T#ERT
2021 20215
Executive directors HITES
Sun Haitao wEE - 714 368 18 1,100
Zhu Jianfei (note (i) KB (EEG) - 166 - - 166
Zhao Ke (note (ii)) wE (fEEi) - 527 - 1 538
Independent non-executive BUFHNTES
directors
Song Ke R 150 - - - 150
Wu Bo P 150 - - - 150
Yu Tat Chi Michael REL 150 - - - 150
450 1,407 368 29 2,254
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(LB TET)

11 EFEMNE (&

Salaries Contributions
and other to retirement
benefits  Discretionary benefits
Fees in kind bonus schemes Total
e REAM RRER
e BMEH MIBTEA BEEN Mzt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TAET TAET FTET TAT
2020 20204
Executive directors HITES
Sun Haitao BEE = 360 659 18 1,037
Zhao Ke i = 498 839 18 1,355
Independent non-executive BUFHNTES
directors
song Ke R 150 - - - 150
Wu Bo B 150 S S S 150
Yu Tat Chi Michael REE 150 = = = 150
450 858 1,498 36 2,842

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no
emoluments were paid to the chief executive officer of the
Company.

No payment was made to directors as compensation for the
early termination of the appointment during the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020.

Notes:

(i) Mr. Zhu Jianfei was appointed as an executive director of the Company
on 3 September 2021.

(ii) Mr. Zhao Ke resigned as an executive director of the Company on 3
September 2021.

REE2021F K2020F12831H EFE > &
NSIRIEES-E N ER 0126 45

RE E2021F K2020F 128318 IEFE > #
EOEEIHNHNBEEASTNIRE EBR®

& o

0] REREER2021F9B3AEZERERTNIT
B=x-

(i)  HEEER2021F9A3HBRELRRATNTES-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR S MBS HmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

No payment was made to directors or receivable by the
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Company for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

No compensation was paid during the financial year or
receivable by directors or past directors for the loss of office
as a director of any member of the Group or of any other
office in connection with the management of the affairs of
any member of the Group distinguishing between contractual
and other payments for the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020.

No payment was made to any third-parties for making
available directors’ services during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour
of directors, bodies corporate controlled by and connected
entities with such directors during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.

LB TTHIR)
11 EFMNE &)

REE2021F K2020F 128318 EFE > #
BREFEEARIBREWRIE 3N
AT RBHMAR AT ZBBVEER

REE20215 %2020 128318 ILF E > #f
ERAERTARELAANEETNEBEAE
BTN EAREREENEMEMES
BERMOESFAEEES I TTABBE
EANBEREWRIE (BRRENREHRE
T B MATFR) ©

REE2021F K2020F 128318 EFE > it
ERRHESRBEMATAE =S OMR
Ig o

REE20215% 20205128318 ILF E > #f
BUEE - SREEFEHNEABRERZ
LCEENHEERAT T ARENEN £
ERMKREMIZS -

REE2021F K2020F 128318 EFE > #
BEENRABEREEMFM L5

FINANCE COSTS 12 B A
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TFAETT
Interest expense on convertible bonds AMRES A EZH - 1,674

Interest on loan from an KE—HEFEERARZERZ
intermediate holding company A 52 -
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaBEZAESZEH 118 140
170 1,814
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR M 5E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (T R)

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/CHARGE 13 FR1SHR (IB%R) FAX
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
PRC Corporate Income Tax FRE (2T
- Current tax —BIEATR IR - 2,395
— (Over)/under-provision in prior years —BEEE (BEER) HBETR (2,116) 1,787
Deferred tax (note 30) IR IE (FY5E30) - (268)
Income tax (credit)/charge PR (K% B (2,116) 3,914
Income tax (credit)/charge is LT EIEEEHER ER)
attributable to: X
— Continuing operations —HEREXER (2,116) 3,914
- Discontinued operation —BRIEKREEK - =
(2,116) 3,914

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
Group had no assessable profits arising in or derived from
Hong Kong for both years.

Under the prevailing tax law in the PRC, the Corporate
Income Tax (“CIT") rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for
both years.

Hangzhou Zhongtuo Netcom Technology Limited (“Hangzhou
Zhongtuo”) qualifies as a “Software Enterprise” which is
entitled to an exemption from the CIT for the first two years
and 50% reduction for the next three years from such entity’s
first profitable year.

AR ELAMEFEAERTEREEESE
BRI RR A > B EE BB FIRE
B o

WIEPERTHRE PTEWE QSR mE
FEZEEMBR (REMBR) MED
25%

MMRIEBBR B RAE (MUNRAL) 5
MEFRENTRELE EBREERNE
E AEFEMFERBEEMSREER
= FRE0% BB EEFTFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

13 INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/CHARGE

(Continueq)

The tax (credit)/charge for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

13 FR1G#E (B%R) X (&)

AFEEZRNEBEMR) XA EERE

Loss before tax from continuing
operations

Loss before tax from discontinued
operation

Loss before tax for the year

Tax at applicable tax rate 25% (2020: 25%)

Tax effect on different tax rate of group
entities operating in other jurisdictions

Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purpose

Tax effect of income not taxable for
tax purpose

(Over)/under-provision in prior years

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

Income tax (credit)/charge

EEUWARPBRRATEEBZ SR T ©
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
RKEFEEEEFNRRATEE
(17,625) (9,572)
KEBERIEEEEBNIRRATEE
(6,588) (2,003)
KEERRIN AR 18 (24,213) (11,575)
RIEE AREK25% (20204 : 25%)
HEZRIE (6,053) (2,895)
REMBEZHEEEEBEEL
EREZREBEEE 592 368
ToEHMREASZ 2 RIBE
4,504 2,422
TERRWAZHRBEEE
(636) (1,406)
BEEE BREEE) BELE (2,116) 1,787
AEDBZRMIEGERZRIEFE 1,593 3,638
Frig# (8%) B (2,116) 3,914
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR M 5E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (T R)

DISCONTINUED OPERATION 14

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group ceased
the apartment leasing business in the PRC. The results of the
discontinued operation for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020 are presented below.

BRIEEXRF

REE2020F 1283 1B IEEE  REMK L
THRABENAEHE X BRIEEE X
REE20215 2020 12831H IEFERE
BN TXETo

2021 2020
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Revenue W= = 3,081
Cost of sales HE A = (4,987)
Gross loss EE = (1,906)
Other income HAM A 29 460
Other (losses)/gains, net Hth (5518) U > $ 48 (6,616) 5,697
Administrative expenses THEH (1) (5,629)
Finance costs RN = (625)
Loss before tax PRI ARS8 (6,588) (2,003)
Income tax charge T8 = -
Loss for the year from KEBRIEREERNEAEERSE
discontinued operation (6,588) (2,003)
Other comprehensive income Hith2mU A
Item that may be reclassified BEgResmoEERSIER
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating BMECRILBINEF ZEREEE
discontinued foreign operation, N EHRIB
net of nil tax (3) 220
Reclassified of cumulative transaction HEBIEFRBEFHBERTHRE
reserve upon disposal of a foreign H#E > NmRERE
operation, net of nil tax 367 -
Other comprehensive income for the year ZFREEHMEEW A 364 220
Total comprehensive expense arises FREEBRIEKEEBENAIEERT
from discontinued operation Bz 40 %E
for the year (6,224) (1,783)
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14 DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)

14 BERIEREER (&

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TAET
Other income:

Bank interest income IRITH B WA = 1
Government grants = 2
Sundry income 29 338
Covid-19-related rent concession MAEERFSERES AR - 119
29 460

Other (losses)/gains, net: Hith (B518) /Wad > 7$%58 ¢
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries S E A BB E (6,616) -
Gain on lease termination AERIEZ WS - 5,539
Write-off of other receivables E M WRRIE i - (472)
Waiver of other payables M HMEIRIE = 594
Waiver of contract liabilities = N =L = 36
(6,616) 5,697
(6,587) 6,157
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (T R)

14 DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)

14 BRILEEXRR (B

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT TATT
Employee benefit expenses BEEFEHA = 887
Short-term leases expenses OHRERYX - 47
Depreciation of property, ME - -BEMRREBZITE
plant and equipment - 1,225
Depreciation of right-of-use assets BREEEZINE = 3,474
Loss on disposal of property, HEVE BERKRBZEIER
plant and equipment - 4,687
Other expenses Hhpasz 1 296
Total cost of sales and services HE RARTE A T & AR %8
and administrative expenses 1 10,616

The net cash flows incurred by the discontinued operation

ERIEKEXEBRFEENRERAEFR

are as follow: wr
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Net cash (used in)/generated from Ee) (FrA) /FiiEIRE 358
operating activities (25) 1,155
Net cash generated from investing KREEZHMERE$E
activities - 1
Net cash used in financing activities B EETAREFRE = (1,754)
Net decrease in cash in BARIEREX£BEIRE /PR
discontinued operation (25) (598)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR S MBS HmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

15 LOSS PER SHARE

16

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss of the
Group for the year attributable to owners of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

CLETTEI™)

15 #|iREiE

SREAGBDRAADES AREAE
B MRS EG U ER D BT R BRI BT
PIBEt o

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT T
Loss attributable to owners RABHEE AEHEE
of the Company
- From continuing operations —REFEREER (12,607) (16,297)
— From discontinued operation —KREBRIEKEER (6,588) (1,018)
(19,195) (17,315)
Weighted average number of BETZER ZINEFIEE
ordinary shares in issue ('000) (F5) 4,686,048 4,677,926
Basic loss per share BREXEIE (ERBW
(HK cents per share)
- From continuing operations —REFERESER (0.27) (0.35)
- From discontinued operation —REEBARILRE X (0.14) (0.02)
(0.41) (0.37)

As the Group incurred losses for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020, the potential ordinary shares were
not included in the calculation of dilutive loss per share, as
their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. Accordingly, diluted loss
per share for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020
are the same as basic loss per share.

DIVIDENDS

The Company has not declared any dividends for the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

16

BN AEBEREE2021F K2020F12H31H
TFEEELEBE WEtEESRETHEERN
WHEARBETEER FREHREBTEA
KREAEERBEFCZE AL HE2021F K&
20205 12B3 1B L FENESRE EHE R
SREREIBER-

iR
AT A RLE E20214F &2020512831H
mﬁggﬁﬁﬁku
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MBI RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (T R)

17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17 ME - -BERSZE

174

Furniture, Computer
fixtures and and office Leasehold
fittings equipment improvements Total
Rt B Bk HE
REE YN MEEE Azt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TAET FHET FAET
Cost %N
Balance at 1 January 2020 20201818 2 4R 281 2,324 10,131 12,736
Additions wE - 31 - 31
Disposals/written off HE /M - (208) (8,782) (8,990)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—REHREAE (136) (1,352) S (1,488)
Effect of foreign currency EREEFE

exchange differences - 10 64 74
Balance at 31 December 2020 and 12020128318 &

1 January 2021 20211 BB 2 &5k 145 805 1,413 2,363
Additions wE - 38 - 38
Written off b i - (10) - (10)
Effect of foreign currency EREEYE

exchange differences - 4 - 4
Balance at 31 December 2021 12021512831A 2 &% 145 837 1,413 2,395
Accumulated depreciation and RrERRE

impairment
Balance at 1 January 2020 1202061 818 2 &8 (275) (2,086) (3,980) (6,341)
Written back on disposals/written off ~ EHE /i $8# [l - 181 4,121 4,302
Depreciation expense mERY 0 (146) (1,518) (1,665)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FEHRBAE 131 1,312 - 1,443
Effect of foreign currency EREBEYE

exchange differences - (5) (22) (27)
Balance at 31 December 2020 and 12020128318 &

1 January 2021 2021E1B1H 2 8k (145) (744) (1,399) (2,288)
Written back on written off R 8 &0 - 10 - 10
Depreciation expense MEREX = (44) (14) (58)
Effect of foreign currency EREEXE

exchange differences = 3) = (3)
Balance at 31 December 2021 120215128318 2 &% (145) (781) (1,413) (2,339)
Carrying amounts REE
Balance at 31 December 2021 120215128318 2 &% - 56 - 56
Balance at 31 December 2020 12020612 831H 2 &8 - 61 14 75
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18

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR S MBS HmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continueq)

Depreciation expenses have been charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from continuing and discontinued
operations as follows:

CLETTEI™)

17

ME- -BER=E (&

Rz e Bm REMEEWARDPHERAYEK
BREEEREREEEETHNIERX
LI

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHETT TATT
Cost of sales and services HE R ARFE A - 1,190
Administrative expenses THER 58 475
58 1,665
LEASES 18 S
Amounts recognised in the consolidated RSB RREEINSEE
statement of financial position
The consolidated statement of financial position shows the AR REEE U TERASEEMN
following amounts relating to leases: A
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TAETT
Right-of-use assets FHEEE
Leased properties HEYE 1,936 2,591
Lease liabilities HEaf
Current mEN 1,458 1,492
Non-current e B 290 1,001
1,748 2,493
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MBI RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (T R)

18 LEASES (Continueq) 18 #HE (&

The movements of the right-of-use assets of lease properties HMEMEEREEENESWT !
were as follows:

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
At 1 January R1B1H 2,591 21,476
Additions RE 1,346 1,101
Termination of leases #®IEEE - (15,226)
Depreciation expenses ERXZ (2,028) (4,943)
Effect of foreign currency exchange EREETE
differences 27 183
At 31 December R12H31H 1,936 2,591
At 31 December 2021, the lessee’s incremental borrowing %2021F128318 A AHEAEERN
rate applied to the lease liabilities was ranged from 4.75% to B EERFENF4.75%FE5.13% (20204 -
5.13% (2020: 4.75% t0 5.13%). 4.75%%5.13%) ©
The total cash outflow for leases in 2021 was approximately 720215 HEIRESRHARREL 52,196,000
HK$2,196,000 (2020: HK$3,204,000). 77T (20204 : 3,204,000 7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

18 LEASES (Continued)

The Group had lease liabilities repayable as follows:

18 A& (&

FEEREEHAEAENT

As at 31 December 2021 As at 31 December 2020
#2021€12831H 120205128310
Present Total Present Total
value of the minimum value of the minimum
minimum lease lease  minimum lease lease
payments payments payments payments
g Rl REHAE REAE
FTHRE TREE THRE TH4EE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THER FET FET
Within 1 year R—FR 1,458 1,509 1,492 1,595
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERER 290 297 963 1,024
After 2 years but within 5 years MEBREBRERN - - 38 45
290 297 1,001 1,069
1,748 1,806 2,493 2,664
Less: Total future interest expenses B RIRA SR AR (58) (171
Present value of lease liabilities HESERE 1,748 2,493
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MBI RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (T R)

19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

19 REHIHINEMIA

The Group holds the following financial instruments: KEBFAEUTEMIA:
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHAT T
Financial assets: ERMEE :
Financial asset at FVOCI BRnBESTARMEERAR
THMEE 330 330
Financial assets at amortised cost BEHEMASTENETHERE
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E A EW I 19,400 4,822
Amount due from an intermediate BN —E A EZER AR Z I8
holding company 18,346 =
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary B —ERRMNB AR ZHIE 1 2
Cash and bank balances R RIRTTHER 48,961 57,467
87,038 62,621
Financial liabilities: THaE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEIEmATENEHER
Trade and other payables 85 hEMENRIE 19,531 5,804
Lease liabilities HEa®RE 1,748 2,493
Amount due to ultimate e IR ARIE R A Bl 2 1B
holding company 18,965 -
Amount due to an intermediate R —BHPEER AR ZRIE
holding company 4,290 2,103
Loan from an intermediate RE—BREERABZER
holding company 4,946 =
49,480 10,400

The Group's exposure to various risks associated with the
financial instruments is discussed in note 3.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the
reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of

financial assets mentioned above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

20 FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE 20 BAREBESAAEMZEIEARN

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

Financial asset at FVOCI comprise debt securities where the
contractual cash flows are solely principal and interest and
the objective of the Group’s business model is achieved both
by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial
asset.

Debt investment at FVOCI comprise the following investment:

TRMEE

BARBEFAEMEZEVRANEREE
BREAGHNETREEAETTRIBHNES
w5 AEEBBROGHNREREREE
TRMEEUBREBRN -

BARBEFAEMEZEVRANGEERE
BENATRE !

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
Non-current asset: EREEE:
Club debenture SATES 330 330

On disposal of these debt investments, any related balance
within the FVOCI reserve is reclassified to other gains within
profit or loss.

During the vyear, the following gains were recognised
in consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income:

HEZSEHFRER  BRRANEBESAEM
EEWEAFEETREAEREREREH D
FEEmPEMEE-

REFER> PRI AGE RS REM
EEBARK:

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT T
Gains recognised in other R E 2 E A R RESS RY U
comprehensive income
Related to debt investment BRI B AR = 30
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MBI RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (T R)

CONCESSION RIGHTS

21 $5EFRERE

HK$'000
FAET
Cost FX 7S
Balance at 1 January 2020 72202051 B 18 2 45 6% 2,254,968
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences EREBEE 107,882
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RBHREBAS (2,362,850)
Balance at 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021 12020F12831H ~2021F181H &
and 31 December 2021 20215128310 2 45 6% -
Accumulated amortisation and impairment Rt EE R E
Balance at 1 January 2020 12202051818 2 4585 (2,254,968)
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences EREREE (107,882)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FEKBRE 2,362,850

Balance at 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021
and 31 December 2021

Carrying amounts
Balance at 31 December 2021

Balance at 31 December 2020

Note:

The amount of concession rights represents the value in use of contractual
rights stated in the cooperation agreements that a former subsidiary of the
Group, Shenzhen Huancai Puda Technology Company Limited* (“Huancai
Puda”) entered into with several lottery issuing centres for providing software
system and technical services. At the end of each reporting period, the

2020 12H31H ~2021FE 18 1H &
2021128318 2 4 8¢

EREE
R2021E12831H 2 45 6%

2020128 31H 2 45 6%

I EE -

BHERRESB-

concession rights are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and

impairment.

Huancai Puda was disposed during the year ended 31 December 2020.

# English name is for identification purpose only.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR S MBS HmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

INVENTORIES 22 78
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Finished goods S Ak 49 93
Inventories recognised as an expense during the year ended REE2021F12B31HIEFEER AKX
31 December 2021 amounted to approximately HK$130,000 MEE#7130,000% 7t (20204F @ 52,0007
(2020: HK$52,000). These were included in cost of sales and 70) > Bt AEE MRS A o
services.
QUALITY ASSURANCE FUND 23 BWKRENEERES
RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES
(a) Quality assurance fund receivables (a) EWEERER
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FHET FET
Gross amount: e
Balance at 1 January P1B1HZ &8k 6,411 10,833
Fair value of newly written METEERBETNANEE
quality assurance obligation - 12
Contribution received from ERAHE
borrowers = (4,857)
Effect of foreign currency EERERTE
exchange differences 188 423
Balance at 31 December R12831H Z & 5% 6,599 6,411
Loss allowance E5iEHEE (6,599) (6,411)
Carrying amount IREE = -
Movements on the Group’s loss allowance of quality AEBEKEERECNHEERES
assurance fund receivables are as follows: = Re(I
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET BT
Balance at 1 January 1B 1H Z &8k 6,411 6,123
Reversal of loss allowance for the year R E51E# & 2 #[o] = (101)
Effect of foreign currency exchange EREBEE
differences 188 389
Balance at 31 December P12831H 2 & 5% 6,599 6,411
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (T R)

23 QUALITY ASSURANCE FUND 23 BRWKRENEZFRESE (&
RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES (Continued)
(b) Quality assurance fund payables (b) BYTEERES
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT T
Balance at 1 January 1B 1H Z &8 - 20,825
Value of newly written quality MEITEHEREEENEE
assurance obligation - 12
Release of the margin fRIRIREE & = 3)
Payouts during the year, net FRBZFEE - (28,112)
Provision for quality assurance HERETEIBEE
fund loss - 7,125
Effect of foreign currency EEREREEE
exchange difference - 153
Balance at 31 December R12831H 2 & 5% = =
24 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 24 SHNEEREHNER
LIABILITIES
(a) Contract assets (a) BHEE
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T
Contract assets BHREE 13,278 12,927
Loss allowance BIREE (13,278) (12,927)
Contract assets, net BNEE P = =
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24 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (Continued)

(a) Contract assets (Continued)

Contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for services that the Group
has provided.

Movements on the Group's loss allowance of contract
assets are as follows:

24 EHNEEREGHER (E

(@) aHNEE @

GREERASBEMATIRENIRS M
W ER BRI R o

FEBGNEEGERERESUT !

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Balance at 1 January MB1H 26 5R 12,927 11,170
(Reversal)/recognition of loss allowance R 5B #H 2 (BEl) He:R

for the year (28) 982

Effect of foreign currency EREBREE
exchange differences 379 775
Balance at 31 December P128318 Z &5 13,278 12,927
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

24 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b) Contract liabilities

(LB TET)

4 SNEERGHEE (E

(b) EH9&E

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Smart retail business (note (i) EETEER FTEEO) 974 576
Sports training business (note (ii)) EBaEIImER (i) 128 174
1,102 750

Notes: fI5E :

(i) Smart retail business

The Group receives a deposit before certain technical
consultancy services and software development service
commence, which will give rise to contract liabilities until
revenue is recognised when the service is delivered to the
customers.

(i) Sports training business

The Group receives payments from students in advance before
commencement of sports training courses.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract

() EISTEXEH
REBPE TR B R R

REFBEABRRZS LRBRELESNE
B BEERBRXNTFEARFESDRGE AL

(i) BEHINRER

FEBTEBSINIRREHRRAIAKRSLEER
=

HEH R RIERIEY E 018 2

liabilities
The following table shows how much of the revenue TRINFECEIWNGREEES
recognised for the year relates to carried-forward HBeEHEBIE -
contract liabilities.
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T
Revenue recognised that was included E#stASGHEEGEHFN
in the contract liabilities balance B3I -
at the beginning of the year:
Provision of smart retail services RESEZTERKE 486 -
Provision of sports training services RHAE S IARAR 75 174 126

184
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

25 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25 B 5 KkHEMEWRIE
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FHET
Trade receivables & 5 WA 17,886 2,522
Less: Loss allowance of trade receivables 8 : B 3 EWWIBE B H (2,424) (78)
15,462 2,444
Deposits and other receivables & R HMEWRRIE 5,567 3,923
Less: Loss allowance of B REREMEBWRIBEREE

deposits and other receivables (1,629) (1,545)
3,938 2,378
Prepayments AT FRIA 1,862 1,015
Total trade and other receivables B 5 M EMEKRRIB4E%E 21,262 5,837
Trade receivables represent income receivables from B RWHRIBIERERESRE SR 8
provision of omni-channel payment services, software HRAZERE RMHEBHERE ERBEREE

development services, technical consultancy services, cloud SRS 2 FEUL TR IBUR A ©

services and SMS marketing services.

Trade receivables are due within 30 days from the date of B RKEIEEEEHHAREF30H R -
billing.
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25 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

186

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continueq)

AR S MR M 5E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

The following is an analysis of trade receivables by age,
presented based on the respective revenue recognition dates

and net of loss allowance:

(LB TET)

25 B REMBURIE (&

BUR T #2 iRt 8] BY & 5 PR WG IE R 247
DRERDEIEBARNGBEEERR
2%

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

TFHEIT TR

0 - 30 days 0ZE30H 14,515 2,420
31 - 60 days 31E60H 68 24
61 - 90 days 61E90H 49 -
Over 90 days #BiEo0H 830 -
15,462 2,444

Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts (see
above for ageing analysis) which are past due at the end of
the reporting period for which the Group has not recognised
an allowance for doubtful debts because there has not been
a significant change in credit quality and the balances are
still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances
nor does it have a legal right to offset against any amounts

owed by the Group to the counterparties.

Movements of the Group’s loss allowance of trade and other

receivables are as follows:

(a) Trade receivables

EXRBENEZBBREBRERRSHAR
EaAMAER S REIRKRBENTE
GREDPH2REX 'REDEEERL

WAMZEFHRBFTAEEMBFRIEME

Bt TEUAEEERYFHNE
Al B IFIR B SRR o

FERESRAMBWRMEBAZ BEREFEE
E2J LI

(a) BZEURIE

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHETT TFA&TT

Balance at 1 January 1B 1H 2 &% 78 -
Recognition of loss allowance FREBERE MBS

for the year 2,299 74

Effect of foreign currency EREREE
exchange differences 47 4
Balance at 31 December 128318 2 &8k 2,424 78
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continueq)

(b) Deposits and other receivables

iR S MBS HmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

25 B REMBURIE (&

(b) &R HthEUTRIA

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT T

Balance at 1 January P1B1HZ &8k 1,545 29

Amount written off as uncollectible iE A AW CIN £ 58 = (29)
Recognition of loss allowance FREERE MBS

for the year 39 1,462

Effect of foreign currency EREREE
exchange differences 45 83
Balance at 31 December 128318 2 &8k 1,629 1,545

26 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO RELATED

PARTIES AND LOAN FROM AN

INTERMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY

26 FEUNFE(IRAES RERHPEE
IRRBIEM

ZIEWFELREARESBIER 28R

The amounts due from/to related parties are unsecured,

interest-free and repayable on demand.

Loan from an intermediate holding company is unsecured,
interest-bearing at an effective interest rate 6.5% per annum

and repayable within one year.

27 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

BRBREE

27 REKRIBITEEER

RE—RARIERA DN ER
BRI 47 6 5% B A AR —E N EIE

FEIRIT R

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FEIT

Cash at banks and in hand BRI KRFHEIRE 48,961 57,467

Less: Restricted cash B ZREHIIRE (156) (2,819)
Cash and cash equivalents in the RiFeRenE2xNRER

consolidated statement of cash flow HEEEY 48,805 54,648

Bank balances carry interest at floating rates based on daily

bank deposit rates.

e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (T R)

28 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28 B REMEMRIE
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Trade payables B ENRIE 14,142 302
Accrued salaries and other benefits in kind FEst Bl R EthE Y275 1,008 1,222
Other payables and accruals HEMENRIERESER 4,381 4,280
Total trade and other payables B 5 R EMPE[ T IE 48 %8 19,531 5,804
The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables based NREMAR BEZRMARBENZERHEAN
on invoice date at the end of the reporting period: IRE DT -
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
0 - 30 days 0&30H 13,681 142
31 - 60 days 31260H 2 -
61— 90 days 61E90H 3 -
Over 90 days BiE9o0H 456 160
14,142 302
29 CONVERTIBLE BONDS 29 Ol ES

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FET
At 1 January B1B1H - 15,286
Interest expense* M EREZ - 1,674
Conversion during the year KEEHIR - (16,960)
At 31 December ®128318 - -

s Interest expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate of L3 FERZRERANZE1273%t ABBIHK -

12.73% to the liability component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

29 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued) 29 AR ES (&

In August 2010, the Company issued approximately
664,580,000 (adjusted for the share consolidation as effected
on 27 February 2012) zero-coupon HK dollar denominated
convertible bonds to Mr. Leung Ngai Man (“Mr. Leung”), a
former substantial shareholder, former chairman and former
executive director of the Company. The convertible bonds
have a maturity period of five years from the issue date and
can be convertible into one ordinary share of the Company
at HK$0.005 each for every HK$1.20 convertible bonds at
the holder’s option (adjusted for the share consolidation as
effected on 27 February 2012). Conversion may occur at any
time between 27 August 2010 and 26 August 2015.

The Company entered into a supplemental deed (the
“Supplemental Deed”) dated 24 August 2015 executed
between the Company and Mr. Leung, pursuant to which the
Company and Mr. Leung agreed to extend the maturity date
of the convertible bonds for five years from the date falling
on the fifth year to the date falling on the tenth year from
the date of issue of the convertible bonds. The Supplemental
Deed was approved by independent shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 3
November 2015.

The convertible bonds contain two components upon the
extension: liability and equity elements. The equity element
on recognition was presented in equity as part of the
“convertible bonds equity reserve”. The effective interest
rate of the liability component for the convertible bonds on
recognition is 12.73% per annum.

In July 2020, Mr. Leung exercised the option to convert the
convertible bonds (adjusted for the share consolidation at as
effected on 27 February 2012) into 15,013,333 shares at an
exercise price of HK$1.2 per share. The carrying amounts of
liability component and equity component are reduced by
approximately HK$16,960,000 and HK$3,935,000, respectively.
As a result of this exercise, all the convertible bonds were
converted during the year ended 31 December 2020.

Imputed interest expenses of approximately HK$1,674,000
has been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income in respect of the
convertible bonds during the year ended 31 December 2020.

22010588 » A ABEAA BRI EERRE
BIEERAMITESRER S E (TRE4E))
E21749664,580,00017 (& F2201242827H
SRR DEHMBE) BstESETHR
KRES -rBRESEZITHHENARR
T HFBENEERESM1.208 T B
BHEER0.005BTHNESRIRAERRE]
—RREEAE (2012928 27 B E M BIBR 1)
BHFFTAEE) - IFHB ARR2010F8H27HE
2015F8 B 26 H A A M FF B & T R o

KNATF2015FE8H24 MR EFT /T
2 ((HREE) B AR kBRE
BEBURRKRESNIPAHRBETIRRKRE
SETHBERAIFEHERAEFEMR T
FEBH BMAZBEEBIKRN2015F118
SHETHARBRERFEI AT L

B RESFNIERE B MDA : B8
REDEE -ERAKEDHE N EDERT
ETEI R E SR ) B9 — B0 {0 - MR
FRRESERHRNHNERMNERER
12.73%

12020478 R EITERIERETE
EER1.2BTHTHRBAS (BR2012
E2H27BEBMBRN A HFEE) B
%15,013,333MR B 19 o £ (B 361 R 18 3% 56
9 0 BR T 853 B3R L #916,960,00038 72 &
3,935,00098 7% o B F R IRAT > & E20204
12831 ALER FETRRESDRE
o

B E2020FE12831HIEEE > AR IRE
HWstERE41,674,0008 TER 4518
m R EMEmEmU A RS o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR M 5E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (T R)

DEFERRED TAX 30

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities balances
recognised and movements thereon during the current and
prior years:

UTFAREARBEEERDN T BEE
MBS EESREEE :

Convertible

bonds

Al ES

HK$'000

TR

At 1 January 2020 #2020F181H 2,489

Credit to profit or loss (note 13) s AB@ (M15E13) (268)

Credit directly to other comprehensive income BESTAEMEEERA (2,221)
At 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021 12020F12831H 202118 1H K&

and 31 December 2021 20214%12831H =

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had estimated
unused tax losses of approximately HK$22,613,000 (2020:
HK$16,149,000) arising from subsidiaries operating outside
Hong Kong which is available for setting off against future
taxable profits of that subsidiary is due to expire within five
years and estimated unused tax losses of approximately
HK$52,188,000 (2020: HK$51,790,000) available for offset
against future profits that may be carried forward indefinitely.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
estimated unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams.

RBEHR AEBRFRELEET BN
HMEKENHNBRABNGETREBRIES
$84922,613,0007 7T ( 20204 : 16,149,000
B AR ZWE A TN R IKRERR
wACPREERNER MAEBEBMGEIR
EARIERE 452,188,000 75 ( 20204 :
51,790,000 7T) » A EE m] M PR HA A 8 0
FRAEF] o AR R BETE ST R A EF AR >
TRERGTRBAREGBRDIELERE
BEo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR S MBS HmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

31 SHARE CAPITAL 31 =
Number of
ordinary Share
shares capital
ZiEKREE fig 2=
‘000 HK$'000
T TFET
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020, 7202018 1H ~ 20208128318 ~
1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021, 20211 B1H K&2021%128318 »
ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each F IR EE0.00578 758y & AR 20,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BRTRHER:
At 1 January 2020, ordinary shares 202051818 »
of HK$0.005 each SR EE0.0058 T B IR 4,671,035 23,355
Exercise of convertible bonds (note) TETBRRES YD) 15,013 75
At 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021 12020128318 ~2021F181H &
and 31 December 2021, ordinary shares 20219128318 » & KR mEE0.005
of HK$0.005 each BT EER 4,686,048 23,430

Note:

On 13 July 2020, the Company received a conversion notice from Mr. Leung to
exercise the conversion rights attached to the outstanding convertible bonds
in the principal amount of approximately HK$18,016,000. 15,013,333 shares,
representing approximately 0.321% of the issued shares of the Company as at
13 July 2020 and approximately 0.320% of the enlarged issued shares of the
Company immediately after the conversion, were allotted and issued to Mr.

MIsE -

Leung on 17 July 2020 at the conversion price of HK$1.2 per share.

hEARBIERARAR « 2021 FERS

1202078138 A AR RER R ENBRENE > H
AT RITRE A2 494318,016,0007 7T Y 7] #1 fR (& 5
FiT By BO 8B a4 © 15,013,333k AR 17 (18'E 12202047 5 13H
HWERB EBITRIDMN0.321% X B RLHRBIBANA
AEBETRNA0.320%) B5t2020%F75178 MR E
BRRM2BTRERETFREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR M 5E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

WARRANTS

On 23 November 2019, Zhong Tuo Limited (“Zhongtuo”), a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an a
cooperation agreement (the “Agreement”) with independent
third parties, Mr. Ye Cunshi (“Mr. Ye"), Ningbo Yunni Enterprise
Management Partnership (“Ningbo Yunni”) and Ningbo
Yun Ma Enterprise Management Partnership (“Yun Ma
Partnership”). Both Ningbo Yunni and Yun Ma Partnership are
controlled by Mr. Ye. Pursuant to the Agreement, each of the
parties agreed to jointly establish a new company Hangzhou
Zhongtuo to explore the business development, cooperation
and investment opportunities in the area of smart retail
business. On 27 February 2020, Hangzhou Zhongtuo was
established which is owned by Zhongtuo, Ningbo Yunni
and Yun Ma Partnership as to 51.0%, 14.7% and 34.3%,
respectively.

Pursuant to the Agreement, the Company has issued
700,655,257 warrants to Yun Ma Limited (a company owned
by Mr. Ye) at the issue price of HK$0.001 per warrant
as performance incentive in February 2020 for a total
consideration of approximately HK$666,000.

The warrants entitled the holder of each warrant to
conditionally subscribe for one warrant share of the
Company at an exercise price of HK$0.054 per share at any
time during a period of 36 months commencing from the
date of achieving certain conditions, which include that
Hangzhou Zhongtuo shall achieve an audited profit after tax
of RMB25,000,000 or above for the year ended 31 December
2020 (the “profit target”). The warrants shall lapse if the
conditions could not be achieved.

As at 23 March 2021, the warrants lapsed as Hangzhou
Zhongtuo could not meet the profit target.

(LB TET)

32

o B o

1220195118238 KRB Z2EME Q]
FIBR2E (TR BB IE=FEEFE
RETEREDREREELEEESRDE
¥ ((BREE)ANEFEHLEESIESED
¥ (TE56%)) sTuaFinR (MEE) =
BESRENEBIREREZES it
EHHRBEHEBRIL —KRIABNINRIA
MEREESEEBEINEBER &
YEFNIRE - 2020528278 > UM RIAAYIL 2
BRI BREBMEBASE D HME51.0%
14.7%#034.3%

RIR R ZEE2020F 2B A AR ETESN
BREFO.0NBTEEBERAD (HEL
EBEANAE) UREEL666,0008T# 1T
700,655,25717 5B A& 1 55 1F 23 AE UL D

BREBETENAREZFEABEE
F LS R M 2 HRE36ME B mAE M > XY
TEESR.0ABTA KR MDB AT
—IREDARIESE R0 BORER] - RS IR F B AT
MIBE2020F128318 L FENEEZ
MENELAEEIARE25008c8 U £
(TRIEER ~WMERIRMR BRES
g R o

B E2021%F38230 » SBREZERAMNMRIA
REEZEFFBEERMAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR S MBS HmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

33 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 33
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

CLETTEI™)

MEZHEENERHIR

TRFVNEEERELTHEENEREE
BRAETKIFRcEH -METHELENEG
BRREREELARKREERERKEN
FEENGERERERTOEARER
FNRERENER-

Loan
from an
intermediate
Convertible holding Lease
bonds company liabilities Total
KEFHEER
MRES  AENER HE&RE 1@t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FTHER T
At 1 January 2020 120201818 15,286 - 24,617 39,903
Interest expense on R EFNFESH
convertible bonds 1,674 - - 1,674
Exercise of convertible bonds TETRKRES (16,960) S S (16,960)
New leases HHE - - 1,101 1,107
Termination of leases RIFAE - - (20,765) (20,765)
Interest on lease liabilities HEEBZHE - - 765 765
Covid-19-related rent concession HEERREREES R - = (218) (218)
Cash flows Behs
- Capital element of -BNHEREZEARER
lease rentals paid - - (2,439) (2,439)
- Interest element of - HEREZF BEH
lease rentals paid - - (765) (765)
Effect of foreign currency exchange EREETE
differences - - 197 197
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 122020128318 &
20211818 - - 2,493 2,493
Interest expense on loan from an RE—ETEERARDNE
intermediate holding company FOFEZH - 52 - 52
New leases WHE - - 1,346 1,346
Interest on lease liabilities HEEBZHNE - - 118 118
Covid-19-related rent concession HAERFEEEES RS - - (33) (33)
Cash flows REene
— Capital element of -BENHEREZEALR
lease rentals paid - - (2,078) (2,078)
- Interest element of - HEREZF B EH
lease rentals paid - - (118) (118)
Proceeds from loan from an intermediate R E—EHBERATINE
holding company HHFmERIE = 4,800 = 4,800
Effect of foreign currency exchange EREBETE
differences - 94 20 114
At 31 December 2021 120214128318 - 4,946 1,748 6,694
PEREBEERERAT 2021 FERS 193
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MBI RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (T R)
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34 FEFRS
compensation of key management TEESEAESHM

personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follows:

FREEATZEEBHMBAENM =W
B

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Short-term benefits ZHAER 2,225 2,806
Post-employment benefits ®IFEAREN 29 36
2,254 2,842

Saved as disclosed above and elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, the Group did not have
any material related party transactions during the year ended
31 December 2021 and 2020.

bR EXRAGE M BHREEME P E
B REBREE20215F K2020912831
HLEFETEEMNEAMELRS

Further details of balances with related parties are disclosed BIRAE H RN E— P BN 26 i
in note 26. FEo
PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 35 ZRENEEMBATFE

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

The Group's principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2021 are
set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share
capital consisting solely of ordinary shares that are held
directly by the Group, and the proportion of ownership
interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group. The
country of incorporation or registration is also their principal
place of business.

Place of incorporation/  Particulars of

R2021F12B3MBAEEN T ERW B 2B W
TolxBEME ERAERAEBEZRT
BN ERAER TSR A AR EBFT
FRAEAR ML N EFMHIBERITE
WETTEEMBE

registration/ issued and fully paid Proportion of ownership
operations and kind of  share capital/ interest held by the
Name of subsidiary legal entity registered capital Company Principal activities
B e Ve BRTRBRRE/ ARRE
WEAR AR SRR L HMEREE FERREERL FTEER
Directly Indirectly
B itk
E-silkroad.net Corporation BVI, limited liability 1 ordinary share of 1 United 100% - Investment holding
company States dollar ("US$")
HERLHEE REEIET () NEER REER
BREMLH
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HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

35 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 35 XATINEEMWBABEE &

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continueq)
Place of incorporation/  Particulars of
registration/ issued and fully paid Proportion of ownership
operations and kind of  share capital/ interest held by the
Name of subsidiary legal entity registered capital Company Principal activities
B3 e:3 Ve BRTRBRRE/ FARRE
WEARAHE REBRETE ARERHE FEREZE AL TEBEE
Directly Indirectly
Hi% G
Easywin International Holdings Limited BVI, limited liability 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
company
IEREIRZERERAR HBREUHE RAEIZTNEER REER
BEREMELH
Done Best Global Investments Limited BVI, limited liability 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
company
FRRRREERAR HBEUHE RAEIZTNEER REER
BEREMELH
Ocean Keen Investment Holdings Limited BVI, limited liability 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
company
BERERRERAR HBEUHE RAEIZTNEER REER
BEREMELH
Pearl Sharp Limited BVI, limited liability 1 ordinary share of US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
company
BEAERAH HBEUHE RAEIZTNEER REER
BEREMELH
Glory Top Management Limited Hong Kong, limited Ordinary shares HK$1 100% - Investment holding
liability company
BREEERAH 55 EREAAT TETHEER REER
Surplus Trade Limited Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary shares HK$1 100% - Investment holding
company
REBERAH 55 EREAAT TETHEER REZER
Hui So Hung Table Tennis Sports Centre Limited ~ Hong Kong, limited Ordinary shares HK$5,000,000 - 60%  Provision of sports training
liability company Services
SRIEERBEROERAR 55 EREAAT 5,000,000 TR & B MR AR
Shine Win Inc. Limited Hong Kong, limited Ordinary shares HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
liability company
REEXERAF 55 BEREAAT TETHEER REZER

R AREERAERAT « 2021 EERS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (T R)

35 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

35 ZAFMEEMBLABFE (&

(Continuedq)
Place of incorporation/  Particulars of
registration/ issued and fully paid Proportion of ownership
operations and kind of  share capital/ interest held by the
Name of subsidiary legal entity registered capital Company Principal activities
B3 e: Ve BRTRBRRE/ FARRE
WEARAHE REBRET M ARERHE FEREZE AL TEBEE
Directly Indirectly
Hi% G
FEEHEREBRAT PRC, wholly-foreign-owned  HK$5,000,000 - 100%  Provision of technical services
(Shenzhen Gaorong Caizhi enterprise on the establishment of lottery
Technology Company Limited) sales points
TR HEBELE 5,000,000 70 REFZUFZHELNRMRE
NEAEERREERAR PRC, wholly-foreign-owned ~ RMB6,064,882 - 100%  Investment holding
(Hangzhou Safen Information enterprise
Technology Company Limited?)
TR HEBELE AR H6,064,83270 REER
A EEEREERAR PRC, wholly-foreign-owned  HK$15,000,000 - 100%  Provision of credit referral and
(Hangzhou Hongmai Information enterprise services including credit
Technology Limited?) facilitation services and post-
origination services
TR HEBELE 15,000,000 7 RUEENERES 8EEE
maRBERERRYE
MNHEEEERERAR PRC, limited RMBS5,671,212 - 100%  Provision of asset management,

(M &) *
(Hangzhou Weizi Assets
Management Limited?)

liability company

development and provision
of consultation on result
transfer on network technology,

("Hangzhou Weizi") computer software and
hardware and computer
network engineering

B EREMAAT AEH5,671,21270 REBEERNRY RUESK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

35 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 35 XATINEEMWBAREE (&)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continueq)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 202112831 1B A AN T EWEA S

December 2021 are as follows: BT
Place of incorporation/  Particulars of
registration/ issued and fully paid Proportion of ownership
operations and kind of ~ share capital/ interest held by the
Name of subsidiary legal entity registered capital Company Principal activities
B Ae: Ve BRTRBRRE/ ARRE
WEBARAHE BERBRET M HRERHE FEREEE AL TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B Gk
Zhong Tuo Limited BVI, limited 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
liability company
HRERZHEE RABIETNEER REER
BREMAH
Zhong Tuo Holdings (HK) Limited Hong Kong, limited Ordinary shares HK$100 = 100%  Investment holding
liability company
58 EREMLH 1008 EER REER
MM RIAEBREBRAT PRC, limited RMBA490,000 - 51%  Provision of smart retail services
(Hangzhou Zhongtuo Netcom liability company
Technology Limited)
FE EREMAT AR 490,0007 RUZZETERS
# English name for identification purpose only.
* The equity interests of Hangzhou Weizi is held by individual nominee on i MNHMENREDHBEARRARKREERR

behalf of the Group.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

HEREMESERREME LR (Wuhan Wuhao Property
Management Company Limited*) and & 215 %5 R B 484
FMBREME AR (MRBAE) (Wuhan Yuechang Feichi
Network Technology Company Limited®) (“Yuechang Feichi”)
were deregistered on 4 February 2021 and 19 April 2021,
respectively. Yuechang Feichi was held by individual nominee
on behalf of the Group.

Glory Ray Inc. Limited and Greatest Profit Investment Limited
were both deregistered on 3 September 2021.

hEARBIERARAR « 2021 FERS

Bo

ERFINERTWBAR  NEFRSY
FEBEENEERUEARTENNEL
BleBEERA FHNHEMNBATESLEA
BBERTR

HEMEMEEERREERAIRKER
LREEERMAERSEAS (MRGRE)
D RIR2021F284H 2021545198 #i12
BsEEE o

AEEEERATD MR ERREBRATYE
R2021E9F3H 518 ©
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AR S MR M 5E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

35 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

198

(a) Details of non-wholly-owned

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continueq)

subsidiaries that have material non-

controlling interests

Set out below is summarised financial information for
the subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that
are material to the Group. The amounts disclosed for
the subsidiary are before inter-company eliminations.

Summarised statement of financial position

(LB TET)

35 ARENEEME AR

#1E (&

(@) EAEEXRFERETNIFEEZE

NN SEE S

TR EEBEEANFERETH
MEBASNMBENRE -WEAF
P BN RS A EHIHAT R -

Hangzhou Zhongtuo

MR AEER MR
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEBT
Current assets RENEE 28,729 16,566
Current liabilities ?ﬁ@]ﬁ% 26,697 8,453
current net assets REEEFE 2,032 8,113
Non-current assets IEmEBEE 959 915
Non-current liabilities EREBER = 474
Non-current net assets EREEEZFE 959 441
Net assets BEEFE 2,991 8,554
Accumulated non-controlling interest S f5 IR fES 1,745 4,470

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2021 ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

35 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continueq)

(a) Details of non-wholly-owned

subsidiaries that have material non-

controlling interests (Continued)

CLETTEI™)

35 ZAFMEEMB AT FE B

(@) EAEEXRFERETNIFEEE
MBABIRNGER (F

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

Hangzhou Zhongtuo

2EWABER N SRR
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FHT
Revenue & 34,393 32,971
(Loss)/profit for the year TEE (5518) 5 F (5,703) 7,544
Other comprehensive income Hiz2mu A 140 463
Total comprehensive 2HE (Bx) WA 4EEE
(expense)/income (5,563) 8,007
(Loss)/profit allocated to DEEIFERER (B1B) A
non-controlling interest (2,794) 3,697

Summarised statement of cash flows

Hangzhou Zhongtuo

RERERER HM R
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Net cash (used in)/generated from ESEE) (FRA) FREIRES 358
operating activities (4,851) 11,873
Net cash used in investing activities & &ZEEFTAIR & P28 (33) (10)
Net cash generated from financing MEEHMEIRE S
activities 3,911 151
Net (decrease)/increase in RERRSEEY GRL)
cash and cash equivalents 18 SR 58 (973) 12,014
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (T R)

35 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 35 ZATINEFENMBATFRE (&

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

(b) Financial information of subsidiary in (b) REHBARGBARKRETEER
which the equity interest is held by FENHBATNMBER
individual nominee on behalf of the
Group
The summarised financial information below represents MTHBER B EIEA BB #HE Y
amounts before inter-company eliminations. B%R -

2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHEIT

Revenue & - 163
Loss for the year KEEEIE (4) (80)
Net assets BERE 13,573 13,750
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iR S MBS HmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

36 DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 36

On 9 November 2020, the Group entered into an agreement
with a non-controlling shareholder of Huancai Puda to
dispose of the Group’s 51% equity interest in Huancai Puda
for a consideration of RMB50,000 (equivalent to HKD$56,225).
Huancai Puda is engaged in the provision of management,
marketing and operating services for lottery system and
lottery halls in the PRC and such business represented a
major line of the Group’s business in the lottery segment. The
transaction was completed on 13 November 2020.

HE—FIEAR

R2020F 11 BB AEEHEBEEEZ
—BIEERERTIIBZE ULEARK
50,0007% (B E 56,2258 75) HEHERIB
FEEENSIRRE - BESETTEMNERM
FERGREEREREESE mHEERK
EERE ZEBRRAEBEXLEDBW

BEBF -ZRX5BER2020F11813H 5
;320

The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities at the disposal

date were as follows:

REER BEERGENREENT

2020
HK$'000
FAET
Property, plant and equipment L IEN YA ] 45
Other receivables HAthfE W =R I8 52
Cash and bank balances H& MIRTTHEER 290
Trade and other payables 85 RHEMEMRIE (4,253)
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder FEA — S FE PR BR BR 2 1B (253)
Net liabilities disposed of HEZBEFEE (4,119
Release of foreign currency translation HERBRIMNEINEHEB
reserve upon disposal (723)
Non-controlling interests R ER 2,491
Net liabilities disposed of attributable KANBBEBEANEGHHEZB8EFEE
to the owners of the Company (2,351)
Less: Consideration received A BURRE 56
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HERB AR ZWE (2,407)
Analysis of cash flows on disposal: HEZIREMEDHT !
Cash consideration HERE 56
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HERSKRIREEHEY (290)
Net cash outflow on disposal HEZREME 5 (234)
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37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR M 5E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (T R)

COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position (a) MR E
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment L EN =Y =
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZKE = =
= 1
Current assets RENEE
Other receivables Hh Wz 362 347
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary EUW—RBERERMEB AR 218 1 1
Bank balances IRITAEER 18,813 1,360
19,176 1,708
current liabilities REIEE
Other payables Hh g IE 2,498 3,383
Amounts due to subsidiaries NN EPNEIE 61,806 45,339
Amount due to ultimate holding ARG ERARZHIA
company 18,965 =
Amount due to an intermediate FET— R RIZER AR 2 I8
holding company - 2,059
83,269 50,781
Net current liabilities REBEFEE (64,093) (49,073)
Total assets less current liabilities #EERGHER (64,093) (49,072)
Net liabilities BEREHE (64,093) (49,072)
Capital and reserves BARRKEE
Share capital & A 23,430 23,430
Reserves HE (87,523) (72,502)
Total deficit B4t 4B 58 (64,093) (49,072)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEEMBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (U7t 7mR)

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 37. ERBENHBRARKRFEEES
AND RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE (4
COMPANY (Continued)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) =RBINHEEES
Convertible
Capital bonds
Share  redemption equity Warrant ~ Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
R ES
RipEER BrBRHE ERfE DREERE RHER by
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FART TAT FAT FET TR FART
Balance at 1 January 2020 H2020E1818 2 £k 3,443,597 1 3,935 = (3,531,095) (83,562)
Loss for the year FEERE . = = = 8712 (8712

Total comprehensive expense AEE2ERSAE
for the year - = = = 8,712) (8,712)

Issue of unlisted warrants {7k EERARESR

net of expense Nz - - - 666 - 666
Shares issued upon conversion B I R EHE
of convertible bonds BETHRS 23,041 - (3,935) - - 19,106

Balance at 31 December 2020 72020128318 &
and 1 January 2021 02151818 2 &8 3,466,638 1 - 666 (3,539,807) (72,502)

Loss for the year rEEHE = - -

(15,021) (15,021)

Total comprehensive expense AEE2ER %A

for the year - - - - (15,021) (15,021)
Lapse of warrant options DRERRN = = = (666) 666 -
Balance at 31 December 2021 2021128318 2 &5 3,466,638 1 - - (3,554,162) (87,523)
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFPRHEEFBE

For the year ended 31 December

HE12AMALEE
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FAET FTET
Results E4
Revenue W & 19,361 49,966 61,500 34,626 36,331
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE (518) /&7 (71,371) 12,937 (9,149) (15,489) (22,097)
Continuing operations FECEER - 15,906 (2,257) (13,486) (15,509)
Discontinued operation BRIEREER 5 (2,969) (6,898) (2,003) (6,588)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: THIA LR (548) /
B
Owners of the Company KRBEBA (48,293) 16,197 (5,680) (17,315) (19,195)
Non-controlling interests FEER R (23,078) (3,260) (3,469) 1,826 (2,902)
(71,371) 12,937 (9,149) (15,489) (22,097)
At 31 December
1®12A31H8
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FAT FTHET
Assets and liabilities BEEREARE
Total assets MEEE 70,500 107,654 131,844 66,395 90,941
Total liabilities FES = (63,124) (45,987) (81,509) (11,581) (50,582)
7,376 61,667 50,335 54,814 40,359
Equity attributable to owners ~ ANABHEA A
of the Company i 7,658 58,806 51,216 56,552 38,681
Non-controlling interests JEERER (282) 2,867 (881) (1,738) 1,678
7,376 61,667 50,335 54,814 40,359
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